
 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 

10.00 AM THURSDAY, 29TH APRIL, 2021 
 

REMOTE MEETING - MICROSOFT TEAMS 
 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 

member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 
725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 

found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

A G E N D A 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 

3. Animal Boarding Licence   

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

3 - 156 

4. Any other business deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 
 

 
COMPOSITION: 

 
Chairperson and/or Vice Chairperson of the Planning, 
Regulatory and Licensing Committee together with 1 or 
2 Members (as the case may be) drawn on a rota basis 
from the Members of the Planning, Regulatory and 
Licensing Committee 

  
 

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 

 

Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

LICENSING COMMITTEE 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Trwydded Lletya Anifeiliaid/ Animal Boarding 
Licence 
 

Enw / Name: Dogsden Daycare Ltd 
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Mr Julian Bones on behalf of Dogsden Daycare Ltd has made an application for the 

Grant of an Animal Boarding Licence with this Authority.  The premises were 
inspected by the Licensing Department and an authorised Veterinary Surgeon and 
were found to be incompatible with the conditions attached to commercial boarding 
establishments.  The Veterinary Report has concluded that a licence cannot be 
supported due to significant non-compliance. 

 
1.2 Therefore, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution and Scheme of Delegation 

the application submitted by Dogsden Daycare Ltd is being brought before the 
Licensing Sub-Committee to determine whether a licence should be granted or not. 

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 In determination of this matter, Councillors may take the following steps: 
 

 To grant the Animal Boarding Licence as applied subject to the standard conditions 
attached to such licence; 

 To grant the Animal Boarding Establishment Licence and waive some or all of the 
standard conditions attached to such licence; 

Date Written 19th April 2021 

Report Author Aneurin Hughes 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 29th April 2021 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



 

 

 To grant the Animal Boarding Licence and attach any conditions that it deems 
necessary for the type of establishment applied for; 

 To refuse to grant the Animal Boarding Licence giving reasons for doing so. 

 
 

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 This matter was initially scheduled to be heard by the Sub-Committee on the 1st April 

2020, but had to be deferred due to the national lockdown implemented by Central 
Government in view of the Coronavirus Pandemic. 

 
3.2 Mr Bones was advised, by email, of the cancellation of this Hearing on the 25th 

March 2020.  A further email was sent to Mr Bones on the 6th April 2020 advising 
that there was the opportunity to conduct the Hearing remotely.  Mr Bones 
responded on the same day advising that he would prefer a face-to-face Hearing.  
The Licensing Officer emailed Mr Bones on the 4th September 2020 to advise him 
that a decision had been made that face-to-face Hearings would not be re-
implemented in the immediate future, and requesting his availability for the 
remainder of September 2020 for the Hearing to be arranged.  A copy of this email 
chain is attached at Appendix A-1 to this Report. 

 
3.3 A further email was sent to Mr Bones on the 22nd September 2020 advising that it 

had been brought to the attention of the Licensing Department that work had been 
carried out at the premises to achieve compliance with the Veterinary Surgeon’s 
Report.  Mr Bones’ availability for a further Vet’s inspection was requested and 
payment of the Vet’s fee of £183.00.  Mr Bones responded on the same day advising 
he was taking the matter further, but not advising whether he wanted the premises 
re-inspected or not.  A further email was sent to Mr Bones advising that if he did not 
want a further inspection, the matter would be placed before Members for their 
consideration and determination.  A copy of this email chain is attached at Appendix 
A-2 to this Report. 

 
3.4 A request to adjourn the Hearing of 10th October 2020 was received from Mr Bones’ 

legal representative as they had just been instructed and required further time to 
conduct an independent vet inspection and provide the report from that inspection.  
A copy of this request is attached at Appendix A-3 to this Report. 

 
3.5 Members determined to adjourn the Hearing.  A copy of the notification sent to Mr 

Bones is attached at Appendix A-4 to this Report. 
 
3.6 Mr Julian Bones on behalf of Dogsden Daycare Ltd has made a written application 

for the Grant of an Animal Boarding Licence with this Authority.  The application was 
submitted on the 8th January 2020.  A copy of his application form is attached at 
Appendix A to this Report. 

 
3.7 In Wales, Animal Boarding Licences are controlled by the Animal Boarding 

Establishments Act 1963.  Members will hear about and be referenced to The Animal 
Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) Regulations (England) 2018.  
However, these Regulations have no legal standing in Wales and therefore have no 
bearing on the matter before you. 

Page 4



 

 

 
3.8 As part of the application procedure, all applicants must provide a completed 

application form, plans of premises, suitable Public Liability Insurance, payment of 
the required fee.  Once submitted a Vet’s inspection is arranged and the report from 
the Vet is used to assist in determining the application. 

 
3.9 An initial site visit was undertaken by the Licensing Department on the 7th January 

2020.  At this visit it was clear that building work was still being undertaken and that 
the premises were not ready for use in its current state.  Mr Bones was advised that 
he could submit his application form and supporting documentation and we would 
await confirmation of when the premises would be ready to arrange the inspection. 

 
3.10 Mr Bones was further advised that in their current format the pens/enclosures he had 

for the dogs did not look to be big enough in accordance with Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council’s Standard Conditions attached to an Animal Boarding Licence 
(Dogs).  A copy of these Conditions are attached at Appendix B to this Report.  He 
was also advised that an Officer had inspections booked with the authorised 
Veterinary Surgeon on the 14th February 2020, and that if the premises were ready 
by then they could be included for inspection on that day. 

 
3.11 On the 8th January 2020, Mr Bones submitted his application form (Appendix A).  At 

the time of submission no plans and no Public Liability Insurance were provided.  It 
was agreed with the Licensing Officer that the Insurance documents could be 
provided prior to the Grant of a licence, as the premises were not up and running as 
yet and were still in the construction process. 

 
3.12 The first inspection of the premises took place on the 14th January 2020, and it 

became evident upon entry to the premises that they were not ready to be licensed.   
 
3.13 At this inspection Mr Bones was advised that the pens/enclosures for the dogs were 

not in compliance and would therefore not be licensed – see Condition 4.2.1.  The 
isolation unit was in the main room next to pens/enclosures that other dogs would be 
using.  This was also not in compliance with the standard conditions – see Condition 
5.7.2. 

 
3.14 On the 4th February 2020 the Licensing Authority received a copy of the plans in 

relation to the premises.  The Licensing Officer emailed Mr Bones to seek 
clarification with regards a couple of issues identified on the plans. 

 
3.15 Amended plans were received by the Licensing Authority on the 21st February 2020.  

The Licensing Officer emailed Mr Bones confirmation that the inspection with the 
Veterinary Surgeon would take place at 1030hrs on the 24th February 2020. 

 
3.16 Following this inspection and discussions that took place, the Veterinary Report was 

received on Monday 2nd March 2020 advising: - 
 
 “The significant non-compliance noted above prevents me from supporting a licence 

for this facility.” 

 
 

Page 5



 

 

4. PREMISES HISTORY 
 
4.1 An initial enquiry came through to the Licensing Authority on the 4th November 2019 

in relation to Dog Day care Centres.  A site visit was initially arranged for 11th 
November 2019. 
 

4.2 The Licensing Officer emailed Mr Bones on the 6th November 2019 cancelling the 
site visit and included in the email were the relevant application form; the standard 
conditions attached to Boarding Licences and the English regulations with advice 
stating they do not apply in Wales.  A copy of this email is attached at Appendix C to 
this Report. 
 

4.3 On the 6th January 2020 the Licensing Authority received information that a Dog Day 
Care facility was advertising its services on Facebook within the Merthyr Tydfil 
Borough.  A Warning Letter was sent to Mr Bones with another application form and 
another copy of the standard conditions attached to a Boarding Licence for Dogs.  A 
copy of this letter is attached at Appendix D to this Report. 
 

4.4 Licensing Officers attended the premises on the 7th January 2020 to further 
investigate the possible unauthorised activity.  It was clearly evident that the 
premises were not ready for use at that point and advice was given to Mr Bones with 
regards the standard conditions and a further copy of them was given to him. 
 

4.5 It was agreed at this visit that Mr Bones could submit his application form for a 
Boarding Licence for Dogs, initially without the usual supporting documentation, in 
order for a Vets inspection to be booked.  He was advised that the next availability 
for the Vet was the 14th January 2020 and Mr Bones advised both officers that the 
premises would be ready for this date. 
 

4.6 Mr Bones submitted his application form (Appendix A) to the Licensing Authority on 
the 8th January 2020 with a BACS payment of £285.26 being made on the 9th 
January 2020, due to the payment machines not being able to take card payments 
any longer. 
 

4.7 The initial inspection of the premises took place on the 14th January 2020 by 
Licensing Officers and Mr Mike Jessop, the authorised Veterinary Surgeon.  The 
premises were nowhere near being ready for a licence to be issued as extensive 
work was still being carried on and the main floor area of the premises was covered 
in building equipment. 
 

4.8 The Veterinary Surgeon spoke with Mr Bones and enquired as to the research he 
had conducted prior to construction and whether he had sought advice from 
recognised professional bodies.  The pens/enclosures were too small to achieve 
compliance; the isolation unit was in the same room as where the other dogs would 
be; the inspection ceased at this point as it was clear that the premises could not 
achieve compliance. 
 

4.9 It was again emphasized to Mr Bones what the conditions state in relation to 
pen/enclosure sizes and that the isolation unit must be separate and physically 
located a minimum of 5 metres away from the main pens/enclosures. 

Page 6



 

 

 

4.10 Mr Bones attended the Civic Centre on the 15th January 2020 to discuss the 
inspection.  It was re-iterated to him that the premises would need to comply with the 
conditions that would be attached to a licence if granted.  It was also discussed 
about licensing the premises for less dogs than originally applied for, as an initial way 
forward and he would then look to expand over time. 
 

4.11 Mr Bones explained that he was an experienced businessman and had been 
involved in the licensed trade previously and therefore, knew what he needed to do 
in respect of conditions attached to licences. 
 

4.12 The Licensing Team Leader emailed Mr Bones on the 16th January 2020, detailing 
the Licensing Authority’s requirements should he proceed with his intended plan of 
reducing the numbers initially and then expanding.  A copy of this email is attached 
at Appendix E to this Report. 
 
 

4.13 The Licensing Authority received a photograph from Mr Bones on the 20th January 
2020 showing the work being carried out to amend the pen/enclosure sizes.  Mr 
Bones also emailed a copy of his Policies & Procedures and his Business Plan on 
the 23rd January 2020. 
 

4.14 Mr Bones requested an update on the 31st January as he needed “to get 
operational”.  A response was sent advising the Licensing Authority were still 
awaiting the amended plans and confirmation  that the works had been completed as 
advised in the Team Leaders email of 16th January 2020 (Appendix E).  A copy of 
this email is attached at Appendix F to this Report. 
 

4.15 On the 4th February 2020 the Licensing Authority received a copy of the plans in 
relation to the premises.  The Licensing Officer emailed Mr Bones to seek 
clarification with regards a couple of issues identified on the plans on the 5th 
February 2020.  A copy of this email is attached at Appendix G to this Report. 
 

4.16 The Licensing Officer emailed Mr Bones on the 6th February 2020 advising of the 
vet’s availability and requesting his preferred date for inspection.  Clarification was 
sought on a few matters, and advice given that any part of the premises (inside and 
out) where work was still being undertaken would not be inspected. 
 

4.17 Mr Bones confirmed that his date of preference for the inspection was the 24th 
February 2020. 
 

4.18 The Licensing Officer responded to Mr Bones on the 7th February and again asked 
for the clarification previously requested.  Mr Bones was advised that if the 
information was not provided, the inspection planned for 24th February 2020 would 
be re-arranged until such time as the information has been provided.  A copy of this 
email is attached at Appendix H to this Report. 
 
 
 

Page 7



 

 

4.19 On the 7th February 2020, information was sought from the Planning Department as 
to whether the proposed activity required a Change of Use consent or whether the 
works merging the two units into one required any specific planning permission or 
Building Control permission.  The Licensing Authority received a response on the 
10th February 2020, and a copy of this is attached at Appendix I to this Report. 
 

4.20 The Licensing Authority received the amended floor plans in response to the email of 
the 7th February 2020 on the 21st February 2020.  The additional information 
requested, however, was not provided.  Despite this, it was agreed to conduct the 
inspection. 
 

4.21 The Licensing Authority and Veterinary Surgeon attended the premises on the 24th 
February 2020 to conduct the inspection.  Whilst improvements had been made in 
some areas, the premises were still not compliant with the standard conditions.  The 
conduct of Mr Bones (argumentative, aggressive and dismissive) during the 
inspection was not acceptable and the Licensing Authority cut short the inspection. 
 

4.22 The Licensing Authority received an email from Mr Bones on the afternoon of the 
24th February 2020 stating that there are no professional bodies concerned with dog 
day care.  A copy of this email is attached at Appendix J to this Report. 
 

4.23 The Licensing Officer spent less than 10 minutes doing a quick search online and 
was able to find the following professional bodies which would be able to provide the 
required advice: -  
 

 Pet Industry Federation - www.petcare.org.uk 

 Association of Dog Boarders - www.associationofdogboarders.co.uk 

 Royal Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals – www.rspca.org.uk 
 

4.24 The Licensing Authority received the Vet’s Report following the inspection on the 2nd 
March 2020.  A copy of this report is attached at Appendix K to this Report. 
 

4.25 A copy of the Vet’s Report and the decision that the application would be required to 
be determined by the Licensing Sub-Committee was sent to Mr Bones on the 5th 
March 2020.  A copy of this email is attached at Appendix L to this Report. 
 

4.26 Since the initial Reports for the April and October 2020 Committee Hearings, further 
inspection reports have now been provided by Mr Bones’ Legal Representatives.  
The first inspection report provided was following an inspection by Mr V Rumbu of 
MobiVET Ltd, Bridgend.  A copy of this Report is attached at Appendix M to this 
Report. 
 

4.27 Members should note that this inspection was conducted and based on the 
conditions that are relevant to licences issued under The Animal Welfare (Licensing 
of Activities Involving Animals) Regulations (England) 2018 and not the actual 
conditions that are attached to Animal Boarding Licences issued by Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council.  This inspection would only be relevant for a premises 
situated in England and not for any potential boarding establishment in Wales. 
 

Page 8

http://www.petcare.org.uk/
http://www.associationofdogboarders.co.uk/
http://www.rspca.org.uk/


 

 

4.28 At the same time that Mr Rimbu’s report was provided to the Licensing Authority from 
Mr Bones’ legal representative, a further document was provided.  This document is 
a Section 9 Witness Statement given by Mr Bones dated 23rd October 2020.  In this 
statement Mr Bones seems to confirm that he has been providing a doggy day care 
centre in Merthyr Tydfil without the appropriate authorisation.  A copy of this 
statement is attached at Appendix N to this Report. 
 

4.29 The Council’s Authorised Veterinary Surgeon has provided a response to the reports 
of Mr Rimbu and Mr Bones’ statement.  Mr Jessops comments are attached at 
Appendix O to this Report. 
 

4.30 A further report has been provided from Mr David Martin, Brownlow Veterinary 
Group, Ellesmere, Shropshire.  A copy of this Report is attached at Appendix P to 
this Report. 
 

4.31 Members should note that no inspection of the premises were conducted for the 
basis of this report.  This report is based purely on the inspection reports of Mr Mike 
Jessop and Mr Vlad Rimbu.  Again, reference is made to the Regulations and the 
standard conditions that are attached to licences issued in England that is irrelevant 
in Wales. 
 

4.32 The Council’s Authorised Veterinary Surgeon has provided a response to the report 
of Mr Martin.  Mr Jessops comments are attached at Appendix Q to this Report 
 

 

5. POLICY 
 
5.1 In considering this application, the Council must have regard to the relevant 

legislation, its own standard conditions of licence for an Animal Boarding Licence 
(Dogs).  Members are also to be mindful of the Model Licence Conditions and 
Guidance for Dog Boarding Establishments issued by the Chartered Institute of 
Environmental Health in May 2016. 

 
 

6. LEGISLATION 
 
6.1 The relevant legislation is the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963.  The 

relevant sections of this Act are: - 
 
 6.1.1 Section 1(1) – No person shall keep a boarding establishment for animals in 

Wales except under the authority of a licence granted in accordance with the 
provisions of this Act. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



 

 

6.1.2 Section 1(3) – In determining whether to grant a licence for the keeping of a 
boarding establishment for animals by any person at any premises, a local authority 
shall in particular (but without prejudice to their discretion to withhold a licence on 
other grounds) have regard to the need for securing –  

 
(a) That animals will at all times be kept in accommodation suitable as 

respects constructions, size of quarters, number of occupants, 
exercising facilities, temperature, lighting, ventilation and cleanliness; 

(b) That animals will be adequately supplied with food, drink and bedding 
material, adequately exercised, and (so far as necessary) visited at 
suitable intervals; 

(c) That all reasonable precautions will be taken to prevent and control the 
spread among animals of infectious or contagious diseases, including 
the provision of adequate isolation facilities; 

(d) That appropriate steps will be taken for the protection of the animals in 
case of fire or other emergency; 

(e) That a register be kept containing a description of any animals received 
into the establishment, date of arrival and departure, and the name and 
address of the owner, such register to be available for inspection at all 
times by an officer of the local authority, veterinary surgeon or 
veterinary practitioner authorised under section 2(1) of this Act; 

 
and shall specify such conditions in the licence, if granted by them, as appear to the 
local authority necessary or expedient in the particular case for securing all objects 
specified in paragraphs (a) to (e) of this subsection. 

  
6.1.3 Section 2(1) – A local authority may authorise in writing any of its officers or 
any veterinary surgeon or veterinary practitioner to inspect (subject to compliance 
with such precaution as the authority may specify to prevent the spread among 
animals of infectious or contagious diseases) any premises in their area as respects 
which a licence granted in accordance with the provisions of this Act is for the time 
being in force, and any person authorised under this section may, on producing his 
authority if so required, enter any such premises at all reasonable times and inspect 
the and any animals found thereon or any thing therein, for the purpose of 
ascertaining whether an offence has been or is being committed against this Act. 

 
6.1.4 Section 5(1) – References in this Act to the keeping by any person of a 
boarding establishment for animals shall, subject to the following provisions of this 
section, be construed as references to the carrying on by him at premises of any 
nature (including a private dwelling) of a business of providing accommodation for 
other people’s animals: 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 10



 

 

Provided that – 
 
(a) A person shall not be deemed to keep a boarding establishment for 

animals by reason only of his providing accommodation for other 
people’s animals in connection with a business of which the provision of 
such accommodation is not the main activity; and 
 

(b) Nothing in this Act shall apply to the keeping of an animal at any 
premises in pursuance of a requirement imposed under, or having effect 
by virtue of, the Animal Health Act 1981. 

 
 
6.2 The Animal Welfare Act 2006 states at Section 9: - 
 

(1) A person commits an offence if he does not take such steps as are 
reasonable in all circumstances to ensure that the needs of an animal for 
which he is responsible are met to the extent required by good practice.” 

 
(2) For the purposes of this Act, an animal’s needs shall be taken to include- 

(a) Its need for a suitable environment, 
(b) Its need for a suitable diet, 
(c) Its need to exhibit normal behaviour pattern, 
(d) Any need it has to be housed with, or apart from, other animals, and 
(e) Its need to be protected from pain, suffering, injury and disease. 

 
(3) The circumstances to which it is relevant to have regard when applying 

subsection (1) include, in particular- 
(a) Any lawful purpose for which the animal is kept, and 
(b) Any lawful activity undertaken in relation to the animal. 

 
 
6.3 The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) Regulations 

(England) 2018 states at Section 1(2): - 
 
 (2)  The following provisions of these Regulations apply in England only— 

 
(a) regulations 2 to 24, 
(b) regulations 27 to 29, and 
(c) Schedules 1 to 8. 

 
Regulations 25 and 26 refer to Repeals, Revocations and Consequential 
Amendments that were relevant in Wales.  All other Regulations and Schedules, 
which deal with Animal Boarding Establishments, amongst other animal licensing 
matters, apply in England only. 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 11



 

 

7. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
7.1 None 
 
 

8. EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
8.1 It has been identified that an Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) is not required for 

the purpose of this Report.  Please contact the author for details of this decision. 
 
 
 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

CLLR TONY ROGERS 
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR HOUSING & 

PUBLIC PROTECTION 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

NO 

 

Page 12



Page 13

hughea1
Text Box
APPENDIX A



Page 14



Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 17

hughea1_1
Text Box
APPENDIX A-1

hughea1_2
Text Box



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23

hughea1_3
Text Box
APPENDIX A-2

hughea1_4
Text Box



Page 24



Page 25



Page 26



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Aled Owen <aowen@hcrlaw.com>
Sent: 10 October 2020 10:37
To: Hughes, Aneurin; Cathy Pearson
Subject: Our cleint Julian Bones Public protection committe. hearing Animal boarding

***WARNING THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL***  
***External attachment warning, although this email has been scanned for threats, 
please take extra care before opening attachments from unrecognised senders.***  

We write in relation to the above client.  
 
We have been instructed as the applicant/appellant considers on reflection that whilst initially he was able to 
deal with such matters, these issues have become technical, complicated and legal. He needs legal and 
expert licensing representation.  
 
On that basis we have been instructed and have accordingly instructed our own Veterinary surgeon Mr 
David Martin who is an expert witness for the RSPCA to give evidence. This it is submitted will be of 
benefit to the Committee and also provide context as to how Mr Bones will advance his case.  
 
We are though in any event in difficulties in preparing these matters in the limited time. The writer is 
currently himself in a lockdown area and in order to asscertain the issues attendance at the  site is essential. 
We will therefore in the absence of our expert report being prepared and our ability to take full instructions 
curtailed then in how we can present this case and would request a short adjournment.  
 
We would also signal our objection to any hearing conducted over social media. We would confrimthat 
current licencsing matters are heard in Court as legsl proceedings are exempt. We do not consider the 
position to be any different to a quasi judicial hearing such as this licencsing matter.  
 
It is essential that our client provides evidence in person for the Committee to consider the credibilty of the 
individual in person. If it is not done in this manner then our client is at a signif8cant disadvantage. We also 
consdier that in order to cross examine Mr Jessop effectively we need firstly our own evidence from our 
expert and to be able to cross examine in person.  
 
We would therefore request an adjournment and relisting of the hearing for us to prepare this case. We 
would request that this be a live in person hearing with socially distanced precautions. 
 
There is no urgency which would mean the case should be heard next week. There are pressing reasons that 
this matter should be adjourned consisstent with principles of natural justice. There is no direct impact of 
adjourning the case to any perosn and as this is done over cvp or zoom? the effect of adjourning is less.  
 
Applying the principles regarding adjourning the case the interest of the appellant in getting the 
matter considered properly and the best presentation with, and the interest of the 
public that the matter is  adjudicated upon the balance of the application lies in our 
submission in the favour of the appellant.  
 
 
It is our intent to proceed with this appeal with a professioanl presentation of our 
client’s case to narrow the issues,  to seek consensus and agreement. 
 
 

Page 27

hughea1_5
Text Box
APPENDIX A-3



2

 This will be in the interests of all parties and ensure a thoughtful appraisal of the 
facts based on the regulation. Our client realises now that these issues require 
guidance and serious consideration. These are never simple issues. The application of 
regulation to specific business sectors require forensic analysis. 
 
 
We would respectfully request an adjournment of the hearing on the basis outlined.  
 
 
Thank you for your assistance and attention.  
 
 
Yours faithfully 
 
 
Aled R Owen 
 
 
Harrison Clark Rickerbys  
 
 
Sent from my iPad 
 
Aled Owen 
Partner 
Licensing & Regulatory Team 
 
For and on behalf of Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited 
 

 
 
T: 0330 1072 966 | M: 07837 109 517 | E: aowen@hcrlaw.com 
 
Harrison Clark Rickerbys inc Shawcross, Overross House, Ross Park, Ross-
On-Wye, Herefordshire, HR9 7US, United Kingdom 
 
Service of Documents: Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited 
does not accept service of documents or proceedings by 
email unless consent has been given. 
   

Birmingham | Cambridge | Cardiff | Cheltenham | Hereford | London 
| Thames Valley | Worcester | Wye Valley 

  

www.hcrlaw.com   

  
Please note: 
We are committed to delivering the advice and services you need during Covid-19, and whilst all our offices are now open for 
appointments by arrangement, we are also able to advise you by phone, email or video link such as Zoom or FaceTime. We have 
prepared a range of resources and articles for you and your business, all available on our website at Covid-19 Hub. If you plan to visit 
one of our offices please read the following guidance before arriving: Covid-19 Visitor Guidance 
 
Crime and Fraud Alert: Please be aware that we do not send notification of changes to our bank details by email. 
Fraudsters have been impersonating law firms and some individuals and organisations have been tricked into forwarding 
money to them. If you receive an email that appears to come from us providing different bank details to the ones we 
supplied to you or indicating a change in our bank details, please contact our Finance Director, Adam Collett, immediately 
on  01905 744879  and alert the lawyer dealing with your matter. Do not reply to the email or act on any information 
contained in it. We cannot accept responsibility if you transfer money into an incorrect account.  
 

Warning: Copyright Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited. Where the content of this e-mail and/or attachment includes materials 
prepared by Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited the use of those materials is subject exclusively to the conditions of engagement 
between the practice and its client. Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited do not accept service of documents or proceedings by email 
unless consent has been given. This communication is confidential and may contain legally privileged information. By the use of 
e-mail over the internet Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited is not waiving either confidentiality of, or legal privilege in, the content 
of the e-mail and of any attachments. Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited are committed to protecting and respecting your privacy. 

Page 28



3

Click here to access our Privacy policy. If you have received this e-mail in error please contact Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited 
on telephone number 01905 612001 or e-mail gdpr@hcrlaw.com. Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited will communicate with you by 
e-mail, however, the practice cannot guarantee the confidentiality, reliability or speed of these communications, or of any 
attached documents. If you wish to send to the practice any urgent, critical or encrypted e-mail communication please notify the 
addressee first by telephone on 01905 612001. The preferred format for receiving word-processed documents is Microsoft Word. 
Regulatory information: Harrison Clark Rickerbys, Harrison Clark Rickerbys inc Shawcross, Harrison Clark Rickerbys inc Simon 
Jackson, Harrison Clark Rickerbys inc Gordon Lutton, Harrison Clark Rickerbys inc Sprecher Grier, Harrison Clark Rickerbys inc 
Houlden Sweeney, Safe from harm, wills at work and Finance Generator are all trading names of Harrison Clark Rickerbys 
Limited. Harrison Clark Rickerbys Limited is a limited company incorporated in England under 7033248 and practising English 
Law. A list of directors is open to inspection at the registered office which is at 5 Deansway, Worcester, WR1 2JG. All directors 
are solicitors or barristers. The term "Partner" is used for directors and also senior members of staff who may be either lawyers 
of England and Wales or professionals other than lawyers. The firm is authorised and regulated by the Solicitors Regulation 
Authority (SRA number 520892). A copy of the Authority's rules is available at 
http://www.sra.org.uk/solicitors/handbook/code/content.page Address: 5 Deansway, Worcester, WR1 2JG. Telephone: 01905 
612001 Email: lawyers@hcrlaw.com VAT registration number: GB 979 9180 43  

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Hughes, Aneurin
Sent: 12 October 2020 17:20
To: 'julesbones2'; 'dogsdendaycare1'
Subject: Animal Boarding Establishment Licence - Sub-Committee Hearing 14th October 

2020 [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Dear Mr Bones, 
 
Further to a request received from your legal representative, Mr Aled Owen, I can confirm that the hearing 
scheduled for Wednesday 14th October 2020 has now been adjourned to a future date yet to be 
determined.  This date is dependent on when your representatives can get their Vet to visit the premises, 
as I believe he has limited availability for the next couple of months.  They will then be submitting a report 
within 3 weeks of that inspection. 
 
After I have received the report from your legal representatives I will be able to re-schedule the 
Hearing.  Again, I would advise that the Hearing is probably going to be held remotely, via Microsoft 
Teams, as we do not have any date in the near future of the Civic Centre re-opening and the regulations 
concerning Committee Hearings were amended earlier in the pandemic to allow for remote hearings to be 
acceptable and to ensure no-one is disadvantaged. 
 
I would also advise that until this application has been resolved your premises remain unlicensed for dog 
day care facilities and therefore this should not be provided.  If it is found that you have provided dog day 
care facilities at your premises whilst you are unlicensed, enforcement action may be taken against you 
through the Courts.  This could also affect the outcome of your application hearing. 
 
Should you have any further enquiries in relation to your hearing please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
Many thanks, 
 
Cofion/Regards 
 
Aneurin 
 
Aneurin Hughes 
Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Canolfan Ddinesig / Civic Centre 
Stryd y Castell / Castle Street 
Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
  
Ffôn / Tel: 01685 725000 
E-bost / E-mail: aneurin.hughes@merthyr.gov.uk 
 

Page 31

hughea1_6
Text Box
APPENDIX A-4



This page is intentionally left blank



 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ANIMAL BOARDING ESTABLISHMENTS ACT 1963 
 

STANDARD CONDITIONS SUBJECT TO WHICH THE  
ANIMAL BOARDING LICENCE (DOGS) IS GRANTED 

 
1.1 Unless otherwise stated, these conditions shall apply to all buildings and areas to which 

dogs have access and/or which are used in association with the boarding of dogs.  Use of 
the term 'kennel' relates to combined sleeping and individual exercise areas. 
 

LICENCE DISPLAY & INSURANCE 
 
2.1 A copy of the licence and its conditions must be suitably displayed to the public in a 

prominent position in, on or about the boarding establishment. 
 

2.2 There must be appropriate insurance for public liability at the animal boarding 
establishment. The current Insurance Certificate for Public Liability will be made available at 
the premises for inspection by an authorised officer or appointed council veterinary 
practitioner. 
 

CONSTRUCTION 
 
3.1 GENERAL 

 
3.1.1 The establishment must, at all times, be laid out and operated in accordance with an 

approved plan, to be attached to the licence.  Before carrying out any alterations, plans 
must be submitted to and approved by the licensing office of the local authority. 
 

3.1.2 Where wood has been used in existing construction it must be smooth and treated to 
render it impervious.  Wood, floors, partitions, door frames or doors in the dog kennelling 
area.  There must be no projections liable to cause injury. 
 

3.1.3 Fencing materials must be secure and safe. 
 

3.1.4 Sleeping areas of kennels must be so insulated as to prevent extremes of temperature. 
 

3.1.5 The construction must be such that security of the dog is ensured. 
 

3.1.6 All exterior wood must be properly treated against wood rot.  Only products which are not 
toxic to dogs may be used. 
 

3.1.7 All internal surfaces used in the construction of walls, floors, partitions, doors and door 
frames to be durable, smooth and impervious.  There must be no projections or rough 
edges liable to cause injury. 
 

3.2 WALLS 
 

3.2.1 Walls with which dogs may come into contact must be of smooth impervious materials, 
capable of being easily cleansed.  Where concrete or other building blocks or bricks are used 
in such walls, they must be sealed so as to be smooth and impervious, and resealed as 
necessary. 
 

Page 33

hughea1_7
Text Box
APPENDIX B



3.2.2 Junctions between vertical and horizontal sections should be coved. If impractical in existing 
premises, all joints must be sealed. 
 

3.2.3 Partition walls between kennels must be of solid construction to a minimum height of 1.2m 
(4ft). 
 

3.2.4 In new construction, in exercise runs the lower section of partitions in adjoining runs must 
be of solid construction. 
 

3.3 FLOORS 
 

3.3.1 Floors of all buildings individual exercise areas and kennels, must be of smooth, impervious 
materials, capable of being easily cleansed and in new kennels, this must incorporate a 
damp proof membrane. 
 

3.3.2 All floors of kennels and individual exercise areas must be constructed and maintained in 
such a condition as to prevent ponding of liquids. 
 

3.3.3 In new construction floors must be laid to a minimum fall of 1 in 80 leading to a shallow 
drainage channel or effectively covered deep drainage channel. 
 

3.3.4 Communal exercise areas must be suitably drained but need not comply with conditions 
3.3.1 and 3.3.2. 
 

3.5 CEILINGS 
 

3.5.1 Ceilings must be capable of being easily cleansed and disinfected. 
 

3.6 DOORS 
 

3.6.1 Kennel doors must be strong enough to resist impact and scratching and must be fitted to 
be capable of being effectively secured. 
 

3.6.2 Where metal bars and frames are used, this must be of suitable gauge (approximately 10-
14) with spacing adequate to prevent dogs escaping or becoming entrapped.  Where metal 
edging is used, this must not present a risk of injury to the dog. 
 

3.6.3 Door openings must be constructed such that the passage of water/waste is not impeded, 
or allowed to gather due to inaccessibility. 
 

3.7 WINDOWS 
 

3.7.1 All windows which pose a security risk must be escape proof at all times. 
 

3.8 DRAINAGE 
 

3.8.1 The establishment must be connected to mains drainage or an approved, localised sewage 
disposal system. 
 

3.9 LIGHTING 
 

3.9.1 During daylight hours light must be provided to exercise and sleeping areas so that all parts 
are clearly visible. Where practicable this must be natural light. 
 

Page 34



3.9.2 Adequate supplementary lighting must be provided throughout the establishment. 
 
3.10 

 
VENTILATION 
 

3.10.1 Ventilation must be provided to all interior areas without the creation of excessive, localised 
draughts in the bedding area. 
 

3.11 MAINTENANCE 
 

3.11.1 Maintenance and repair of the whole establishment must be carried out regularly. 
 

NUMBER OF ANIMALS 
 
4.1 NUMBER OF DOGS PERMITTED 

 
4.1.1 The maximum number of dogs to be kept at any one time is x (TO BE DETERMINED BY THE 

LOCAL AUTHORITY). 
 

4.1.2 Each dog must be provided with a separate kennel except that dogs from the same house-
hold may share a kennel of adequate size with the written consent of the dogs' owner. 
 

4.1.3 Holding kennels may be provided for temporarily kennelling a dog for not more than 24 
hours. 
 

4.1.4 Holding kennels, if provided, must comply with conditions as required for main kennels.  
Holding kennels must be a minimum area of 2.3 sq.m (25 sq.ft.) 
 

4.1.5 No animals other than dogs are to be boarded within the licensed facilities without the 
written approval of the local authority. 
 

4.1.6 Where stray dogs are accepted by the kennels they must be kept in a separate area away 
from boarded dogs. 
 

4.2 UNIT SIZE, LAYOUT AND EXERCISE FACILITIES 
 

4.2.1 For new kennels each kennel must be provided with a sleeping area of at lease 1.9 sq.m (20 
sq.ft.). 
 

4.2.2 Suitable bedding equipment must be provided which  allows the dog to be comfortable and 
which is capable of being easily and adequately cleaned and sanitised.  Such equipment 
must be sited out of draughts.  All bedding material must be maintained in a clean, parasite 
free and dry condition. 
 

4.2.3 For new kennels each kennel must be provided with an exercise area of at least 2.46 sq.m 
(26 sq.ft) (for dogs up to 24 inches high at the shoulder) or 36 sq.ft. for larger dogs, which is 
separate from the bedding area and exclusive to that kennel, for free use by the dog at all 
times except at night. 
 

4.2.4 Kennels must have a minimum height of 1.8m (6ft) to facilitate adequate access by kennel 
staff for cleaning. 
 

4.2.5 Kennels and exercise areas must open onto secure corridors or other secure areas so that 
dogs are not able to escape from the premises. 
 

Page 35



4.2.6 Exercise areas must not be used as bedding areas. 
 

MANAGEMENT 
 
5.1 TRAINING 

 
5.1.1 A written training policy must be provided. Systematic training of staff must be 

demonstrated to have been carried out. 
 

5.2 TEMPERATURE IN KENNELS 
 

5.2.1 Heating facilities must be available in the KENNEL and used according to the requirements 
of the individual dog. 
 

5.2.2 There must be some part of the dogs sleeping area where the dog is able to enjoy a 
temperature of at least 10°(50°F) 
 

5.2.3 In isolation kennels, there should be a means of maintaining the temperature at a level 
suitable for the conditions of the dog and dependent on veterinary advice. 
 

5.3 CLEANLINESS 
 

5.3.1 All kennels, corridors, common areas, kitchens etc. must be kept clean and free from 
accumulations of dirt and dust and must be kept in such a manner as to be conducive to 
maintenance of disease control and dog comfort. 
 

5.3.2 Each occupied kennel must be cleansed daily. All excreta and soiled material must be 
removed from all areas used by dogs at least daily and more often if necessary. 
 

5.3.3 All bedding areas must be kept clean and dry. 
 

5.3.4 Each kennel must be thoroughly cleansed and disinfected and dried upon vacation.  All 
fittings and bedding must also thoroughly cleansed and disinfected at that time. 
 

5.3.5 Facilities must be provided for the proper reception, storage and disposal of all waste. 
Particular care should be taken to segregate clinical waste arising from the treatment and 
handling of dogs with infectious diseases. The final disposal route for all such waste must be 
incineration. 
 

5.3.6 Measures must be taken to minimise the risks from rodents, insects and other pests within 
the establishment. 
 

5.4 FOOD AND WATER SUPPLIES 
 

5.4.1 All dogs must be adequately supplied with suitable food.  Wholesome water must be 
available at all times and changed daily. 
 

5.4.2 Eating and drinking vessels must be capable of being easily cleansed and disinfected to 
prevent cross contamination.  They must be maintained in a clean condition. 
 

5.4.3 Eating vessels must be cleansed after each meal. 
 

5.4.4 Drinking vessels must be cleansed at least once a day. 
 

Page 36



5.5 KITCHEN FACILITIES 
 

5.5.1 Exclusive facilities, hygienically constructed and maintained, must be provided for the 
storage and preparation of food for the dogs. 
 

5.5.2 Where fresh and cooked meats are stored, refrigeration facilities must be provided, and 
potential food contamination must be avoided. 
 

5.5.3 A sink with hot and cold water must be provided for the washing of food equipment and 
eating and drinking vessels. A separate wash-hand basin with hot and cold water must also 
be provided for staff use. 
 

5.5.4 Containers must be provided for the storage of foods and shall be so constructed and kept 
in such good order, repair and condition as to be proof against insects and other pests. 
 

5.6 DISEASE CONTROL AND VACCINATION 
 

5.6.1 Adequate precautions must be taken to prevent and control the spread of infectious and 
contagious disease and parasites amongst the dogs, staff and visitors. 
 

5.6.2 Proof must be provided that dogs boarded or resident have current vaccinations against 
Canine Distemper, Infectious Canine Hepatitis (Canine adenovirus), Leptospirosis (L.canicola 
and L.icterohaemorrhagiae) and Canine Parvovirus and other relevant diseases.  The course 
of vaccination must have been completed at least four weeks before the first date of 
boarding or in accordance with manufacturer's instructions.  A record that this proof has 
been supplied must be kept on site throughout the period that the dog is boarded. 
 

5.6.3 Advice from a veterinary surgeon must be sought in case of signs of disease, injury or illness. 
Where any dog is sick or injured any instructions for its treatment which have been given by 
a veterinary surgeon must be strictly followed. 
 

5.6.4 A well stocked first-aid kit suitable for use on dogs must be available and accessible on site. 
 

5.6.5 A suitable range of muzzles of varying sizes and a suitable dog catching device must be kept 
on site. 
 

5.7 ISOLATION 
 

5.7.1 Isolation facilities must be provided. 
 

5.7.2 In existing facilities these isolation facilities must be in compliance with the other boarding 
requirements but must be separate and physically isolated from the main kennels. This 
must be a minimum 5m (15ft.). (See also temperature control.) 
 

5.7.3 Adequate facilities to prevent the spread of infectious disease between the isolation kennel 
and other kennels, must be provided. 
 

5.7.4 Hands must be washed after leaving the isolation facilities before visiting the other kennels. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 
5.8 REGISTER 

 
5.8.1 A register A Register must be kept of all dogs boarded. The information kept must include the 

following: 

 date of arrival 

 name of dog, any identification system such as microchip, number or tattoo 

 description, breed, age and gender of dog 

 name, address and telephone number of owner or keeper 

 name, address and telephone number of contact person whilst boarded 

 name, address and telephone number of dog's veterinary surgeon 

 anticipated and actual date of departure 

 health, welfare and nutrition requirements. 
 

5.8.2 The register must be kept readily available for a minimum of 24 months and kept in such a 
manner as to allow an authorised officer easy access to such information. 
 

5.8.3 Where records are computerised, a back-up copy must be kept. The register must also be 
available to key members of staff of the establishment at all times. 
 

5.9 IDENTIFICATION OF KENNELS 
 

5.9.1 Each kennel must be clearly marked (eg numbered), and a system in place which ensures 
that relevant information about the dog in that kennel is readily available. 
 

5.10 SUPERVISION 
 

5.10.1 A fit and proper person must always be present to exercise supervision and deal with 
emergencies whenever dogs are boarded at the premises. 
 

5.10.2 Dogs must be visited at regular intervals, as necessary for their health, safety and welfare. 
 

5.11 FIRE PRECAUTIONS 
 

5.11.1 Appropriate steps must be taken for the protection of the dogs in case of fire or other 
emergencies. 
 

5.11.2 A proper emergency evacuation plan and fire warning procedure must be drawn up and 
posted on the premises. This must include instructions to where dogs are to be evacuated in 
the event of a fire or other emergency. 
 

5.11.3 Fire fighting equipment must be provided in accordance with advice given by the Fire 
Prevention Officer. 
 

5.11.4 All electrical installations and appliances must be maintained in a safe condition. There must 
be a residual current circuit breaker system on each block of kennels. 
 

5.11.5 Heating appliances must not be sited in a location or manner where they may present a risk 
of fire, or risk to dogs. 
 

5.11.6 Precautions must be taken to prevent any accumulation which may present a risk of fire. 
 

5.11.7 There must be adequate means of raising an alarm in the event of fire or other emergency. 
 

Page 38



Page 39

hughea1_8
Text Box
APPENDIX C



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41

hughea1_9
Text Box
APPENDIX D



Page 42



Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Baber, Joanne
Sent: 16 January 2020 12:00
To: julesbones2@gmail.com
Cc: Hughes, Aneurin
Subject: Dogs Den
Attachments: Animal Boarding Conditions - Dogs.doc

Importance: High

Good morning Julian, 
 
Further to your discussion with Aneurin yesterday, I again attach a copy of this Authority’s conditions in relation to 
boarding establishments.  You are advised to read each condition thoroughly to ensure that you are able to meet all 
of them prior to the veterinary inspection. 
 
I understand from Aneurin that your intention is to licence a lower number of dogs to start with, and then apply to 
vary the licence to add more dogs when you have built more ‘sleeping areas’.  Please note that to vary the licence to 
increase the number of dogs, a veterinary inspection will be required and you will be liable for the cost of that 
inspection. 
 
In relation to the current application, you will need to submit amended plans to the Licensing Department reflecting 
the new layout and sizes.  When the premises is ready for inspection, please let us know and we will make the 
arrangements for the veterinary inspection.  
 
Cofion / Regards, 
  

Jo 
  
Joanne Baber 
Arweinydd Tîm Trwyddedu / Licensing Team Leader 
  
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Canolfan Ddinesig / Civic Centre 
Stryd y Castell / Castle Street 
Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
  
Ffôn / Tel: 01685 725000 
E-bost / E-mail: joanne.baber@merthyr.gov.uk 
  
 

Page 45

hughea1_10
Text Box
APPENDIX E



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Hughes, Aneurin
Sent: 31 January 2020 15:04
To: 'julesbones2'
Cc: Baber, Joanne
Subject: RE: dogsden [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]
Attachments: Dogs Den

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Hi Julian, 
 
Thanks for your email.  I have been waiting for the amended plans and confirmation of works completion to 
be submitted as per Joanne’s email of 16th January (copy attached).  Once these have been received I can 
arrange for a re-inspection with the Vet, subject to his availability.  I would also advise that both my and 
Joanne’s availability over the next several weeks is limited. 
 
Many thanks, 
 
Cofion/Regards 
 
Aneurin 
 
Aneurin Hughes 
Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 
 

From: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  
Sent: 31 January 2020 14:28 
To: Hughes, Aneurin <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk> 
Subject: dogsden 
 
 
Hi  
One week later and still waiting you to return... ? Did you say you would be on holidays... I need to get 
operational  
please advise  
julian bones 
 
 
 
Sent from my Samsung Galaxy smartphone. 
 

Page 47

hughea1_11
Text Box
APPENDIX F



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Hughes, Aneurin
Sent: 05 February 2020 16:55
To: 'julesbones2'
Cc: Baber, Joanne
Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Hi Julian, 
 
Thanks for the plans, after an initial viewing of them there may be an issue with the isolation unit.  In our 
conditions, at 5.7.2, any isolation unit has to be separate and physically isolated from the main kennels by 
a minimum of 5 metres (15 foot).  Looking at your plans the unit is next door to Pen 13 and looks like it is 
within the minimum distance of Pens 10, 11 & 12.  As this is not in compliance with the conditions it may be 
that the above pens would not be licensed for use. 
 
I have emailed our Vet for his availability and as soon as I get this I will arrange the inspection with you.   
 
Many thanks, 
 
Cofion/Regards 
 
Aneurin 
 
Aneurin Hughes 
Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 
 

From: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  
Sent: 04 February 2020 19:47 
To: Hughes, Aneurin <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk> 
Subject: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf 
 

***WARNING THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL***  
***External attachment warning, although this email has been scanned for threats, 
please take extra care before opening attachments from unrecognised senders.***  

All other requirements  
awaiting your inspections  
julian bones 
 
 
 
 
Sent from my Samsung Galaxy smartphone. 
 

Page 49

hughea1_12
Text Box
APPENDIX G



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Hughes, Aneurin
Sent: 07 February 2020 15:06
To: 'julesbones2'
Cc: Baber, Joanne
Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Hi Julian, 
 
Further to your email below, I would advise that you must submit an amended plan detailing the 
pens/enclosures and internal/external areas only that are completed and ready for licensing, as these will 
be the only areas that will be inspected on the 24th February.  Any pens/enclosures and internal/external 
areas not completed need to be removed from the plan. 
 
Again, I request that you provide the following information: - 
 

 Can you please advise of the sizes of each pen/enclosure. 
 What impact will the ongoing building work have in respect of the dogs at the premises, with 

particular emphasis on the open areas that they will have access to? 
 As and when further pens/enclosures are completed a further inspection will be required prior to 

them being added to your licence and being used.  If the pens/enclosures are being done in 
different stages then more than one inspection will be required.  This will incur additional costs to 
yourself.  Can you confirm your future plans and timings for finishing the building works. 

 The isolation unit will have be ready for the inspection and compliant with the details previously 
provided.  Please confirm this. 

 
Should this information not be provided, the inspection may have to be re-arranged until such time as it is. 
 
Many thanks, 
 
Cofion/Regards 
 
Aneurin 
 
Aneurin Hughes 
Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 
 

From: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  
Sent: 07 February 2020 12:30 
To: Hughes, Aneurin <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 

***WARNING THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL***  
***External attachment warning, although this email has been scanned for threats, 
please take extra care before opening attachments from unrecognised senders.***  

Hi Aneurin 
x5 enclosures completed 10 days ago 
 
 
 
Sent from my Samsung Galaxy smartphone. 

Page 51

hughea1_13
Text Box
APPENDIX H



2

 
 
-------- Original message -------- 
From: "Hughes, Aneurin" <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk>  
Date: 07/02/2020 12:18 (GMT+00:00)  
To: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  
Cc: "Baber, Joanne" <Joanne.Baber@merthyr.gov.uk>  
Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]  
 

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Hi Julian, 

  

Further to your email below, I will notify the Vet that the 24th is your preferred date. 

  

Can you also please respond to the queries raised in yesterday’s email (as highlighted below).  Should the 
pens/enclosures and all areas that are to be covered by the licence not be ready for inspection on the 24th 
then the inspection will not be able to take place. 

  

I look forward to your response. 

  

Many thanks, 

  

Cofion/Regards 

  

Aneurin 

  

Aneurin Hughes 

Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 

  

From: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  
Sent: 07 February 2020 10:27 
To: Hughes, Aneurin <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

  

Page 52



3

***WARNING THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL***  
***External attachment warning, although this email has been scanned for threats, 
please take extra care before opening attachments from unrecognised senders.***  

I am sure you didnt want this sent to you ? 

24th is good  

  

  

  

Sent from my Samsung Galaxy smartphone. 

  

  

-------- Original message -------- 

From: "Hughes, Aneurin" <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk>  

Date: 06/02/2020 15:32 (GMT+00:00)  

To: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  

Cc: "Baber, Joanne" <Joanne.Baber@merthyr.gov.uk>  

Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]  

  

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Hi Julian, 

  

Further to our emails yesterday I have now received the Vet’s availability.  His next availability is on the 24th 
February, 2nd or 5th March.  Both myself and Joanne are also available on those dates at the current time. 

  

A couple of items needs clarification before the inspection: -  

  

         Can you please advise of the sizes of each pen/enclosure. 

         From the plans, which pens/enclosures are ready for inspection as these will be the only ones that 
can be licensed?  An amended plan may be required.   

Page 53



4

         What impact will the ongoing building work have in respect of the dogs at the premises, with 
particular emphasis on the open areas that they will have access to? 

         As and when further pens/enclosures are completed a further inspection will be required prior to 
them being added to your licence and being used.  If the pens/enclosures are being done in 
different stages then more than one inspection will be required.  This will incur additional costs to 
yourself.  Can you confirm your future plans and timings for finishing the building works. 

         The isolation unit will have be ready for the inspection and compliant with the details I provided 
yesterday. 

  

I would be grateful if you could provide the above information at the earliest opportunity and confirm which 
date would be best for the inspection and the best time for you.  The inspection will only consider 
pens/enclosures and areas that have been completed.  Any part of the premises and/or area (inside or out) 
where work is still being undertaken will not be inspected as it cannot be included on the licence 

  

Many thanks, 

  

Cofion/Regards 

  

Aneurin 

  

Aneurin Hughes 

Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 

  

From: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  
Sent: 05 February 2020 17:07 
To: Hughes, Aneurin <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 

  

sorry post script  

could put kennels outside, but only to ask as further option.. which can be built at a further date 

  

  

  

Page 54



5

Sent from my Samsung Galaxy smartphone. 

  

  

-------- Original message -------- 

From: "Hughes, Aneurin" <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk>  

Date: 05/02/2020 16:54 (GMT+00:00)  

To: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  

Cc: "Baber, Joanne" <Joanne.Baber@merthyr.gov.uk>  

Subject: RE: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]  

  

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Hi Julian, 

  

Thanks for the plans, after an initial viewing of them there may be an issue with the isolation unit.  In our 
conditions, at 5.7.2, any isolation unit has to be separate and physically isolated from the main kennels by 
a minimum of 5 metres (15 foot).  Looking at your plans the unit is next door to Pen 13 and looks like it is 
within the minimum distance of Pens 10, 11 & 12.  As this is not in compliance with the conditions it may be 
that the above pens would not be licensed for use. 

  

I have emailed our Vet for his availability and as soon as I get this I will arrange the inspection with you.   

  

Many thanks, 

  

Cofion/Regards 

  

Aneurin 

  

Aneurin Hughes 

Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 

  
Page 55



6

From: julesbones2 <julesbones2@gmail.com>  
Sent: 04 February 2020 19:47 
To: Hughes, Aneurin <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk> 
Subject: DogsDen FloorPlan.pdf 

  

***WARNING THIS IS AN EXTERNAL EMAIL***  
***External attachment warning, although this email has been scanned for threats, 
please take extra care before opening attachments from unrecognised senders.***  

All other requirements  

awaiting your inspections  

julian bones 

  

  

  

  

Sent from my Samsung Galaxy smartphone. 

  

Croesawn ohebu yn Gymraeg a fydd hyn ddim yn arwain at oedi. 
 
Mae'r e-bost hwn ac unrhyw ffeiliau a drosglwyddir gydag ef yn gyfrinachol ac wedi'u bwriadu ar gyfer pwy bynnag y cyfeirir ef ato neu atynt. 
Mae cynnwys yr e-bost hwn cynrychioli barn y sawl a enwir uchod, felly nid ydyw'n dilyn ei fod yn cynrychioli barn Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Merthyr Tudful. 
 
Darllenwch ein hysbysiadau preifatrwydd i ddarganfod mwy am sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth bersonol. 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful 
Canolfan Dinesig 
Stryd Y Castell 
Merthyr Tudful 
CF47 8AN 
 
Teleffon: 01685 725000 
 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and this will not lead to a delay. 
 
This e-mail and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are 
addressed. The contents of this e-mail represent the views of the individual(s) named above and do not necessarily represent the views of 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
Please read our privacy notices to find out more about how we use your personal information. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
 
Telephone: 01685 725000 

Page 56



7

 

 
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk 

Croesawn ohebu yn Gymraeg a fydd hyn ddim yn arwain at oedi. 
 
Mae'r e-bost hwn ac unrhyw ffeiliau a drosglwyddir gydag ef yn gyfrinachol ac wedi'u bwriadu ar gyfer pwy bynnag y cyfeirir ef ato neu atynt. 
Mae cynnwys yr e-bost hwn cynrychioli barn y sawl a enwir uchod, felly nid ydyw'n dilyn ei fod yn cynrychioli barn Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Merthyr Tudful. 
 
Darllenwch ein hysbysiadau preifatrwydd i ddarganfod mwy am sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth bersonol. 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful 
Canolfan Dinesig 
Stryd Y Castell 
Merthyr Tudful 
CF47 8AN 
 
Teleffon: 01685 725000 
 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and this will not lead to a delay. 
 
This e-mail and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are 
addressed. The contents of this e-mail represent the views of the individual(s) named above and do not necessarily represent the views of 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
Please read our privacy notices to find out more about how we use your personal information. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
 
Telephone: 01685 725000 
 

 
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk 

Croesawn ohebu yn Gymraeg a fydd hyn ddim yn arwain at oedi. 
 
Mae'r e-bost hwn ac unrhyw ffeiliau a drosglwyddir gydag ef yn gyfrinachol ac wedi'u bwriadu ar gyfer pwy bynnag y cyfeirir ef ato neu atynt. 
Mae cynnwys yr e-bost hwn cynrychioli barn y sawl a enwir uchod, felly nid ydyw'n dilyn ei fod yn cynrychioli barn Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Merthyr Tudful. 
 
Darllenwch ein hysbysiadau preifatrwydd i ddarganfod mwy am sut rydym yn defnyddio eich gwybodaeth bersonol. 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful 
Canolfan Dinesig 
Stryd Y Castell 
Merthyr Tudful 
CF47 8AN 
 
Teleffon: 01685 725000 
 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh and this will not lead to a delay. 

Page 57



8

 
This e-mail and any files transmitted with it are confidential and intended solely for the use of the individual or entity to whom they are 
addressed. The contents of this e-mail represent the views of the individual(s) named above and do not necessarily represent the views of 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council. 
 
Please read our privacy notices to find out more about how we use your personal information. 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Civic Centre 
Castle Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
 
Telephone: 01685 725000 
 

 
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk 

Page 58



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Cross, David
Sent: 10 February 2020 15:12
To: Hughes, Aneurin
Subject: RE: Unit 14 D & E, Pant Industrial Estate, Pant [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]

Hi Aneurin, 
 
I have checked our records and we currently have an application submitted for the change of use of the property to 
a dog day care facility. At present the application is not valid as it is missing documents required. Once the 
application is valid, then we can proceed with the consultation and determination of the application. At this stage, 
no review of whether the proposal will be acceptable or not has been undertaken. 
 
It is also highly likely that they will need building regulation permission as well. 
 
Hope this helps 
 
Kind regards 
 

David Cross  
Prif Swyddog Cynllunio / Principal Planning Officer 
BSc (Cynllunio), Ma (Dylunio Trefol), MRTPI / BSc (Planning), Ma (Urban Design), MRTPI 
Ffôn / Tel: 01685 724632 
E-bost / Email:  david.cross@merthyr.gov.uk  
 

Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Uned 5, Parc Fusness Triongl / Unit 5, Triangle Business Park 
Pentrebach, Merthyr Tudful / Pentrebach, Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4TQ 
 

 
 

From: Hughes, Aneurin <Aneurin.Hughes@merthyr.gov.uk>  
Sent: 07 February 2020 15:21 
To: Cross, David <David.Cross@merthyr.gov.uk> 
Subject: Unit 14 D & E, Pant Industrial Estate, Pant [NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED] 
 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Hi David, 
 
I wonder if you can help or point me in the right direction. 
 
I have received an application for a Dog Day Care Unit at the above address.  I have checked the Rating 
List and found it is listed as 2 separate units with RV’s of £8,600 (Unit D) and £9,800 (Unit E).  The 
occupier of the Unit is Dogsden Day Care Ltd (Co No 12384239).  The Director is Mr Julian Bones and he 
has been in the merged Unit since at least early November 2019. 
 
Would he have needed Planning permission or Building Control permission to merge the 2 units?  If so, 
can you advise if he has got the appropriate permissions in place.  Also, as he is using the premises as a 
Dog Day Care Centre would this require a change of use? 
 
Any help/advice is greatly appreciated. 
 
Many thanks, 
 
Cofion/Regards 

Page 59

hughea1_14
Text Box
APPENDIX I



2

 
Aneurin 
 
Aneurin Hughes 
Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Canolfan Ddinesig / Civic Centre 
Stryd y Castell / Castle Street 
Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
  
Ffôn / Tel: 01685 725000 
E-bost / E-mail: aneurin.hughes@merthyr.gov.uk 
 

Page 60



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: dogsdendaycare1 <dogsdendaycare1@gmail.com>
Sent: 24 February 2020 15:06
To: Hughes, Aneurin
Subject: inspection

As their are no professional body in dog day care suggest ask a different question infuture as that is 
irrelevant... The only bodies out there are societies clubs and groups of like minded businesses operators..  
be warned if you ask to join as you will see my post... Fb dogdaycare owners and staff..   
They have given my advise with mostly all here, from using pet friendly disinfectant to terms and 
conditions, eta. 
The fuse box which has been removed from Hydrotherapy room is actually nothing to do with the day care 
section as it is a different unit.. and there are two fuse boxes .. one for d and the other for e... 
I have followed your requirements to the letter ...... 
I feel insulted when asked the same question more than 3 times.... I am not thick ..You must understand I 
have done home work and researched this business and do not expcet to be spoken to or treated like an idiot, 
ever.. 
I have asked Declan sammon to become involved...  
julian bones 
 
 
 
Sent from my Samsung Galaxy smartphone. 
 

Page 61

hughea1_15
Text Box
APPENDIX J



This page is intentionally left blank



 
	

    Mike Jessop BVetMed MRCVS 
  Veterinary Expert 
  PO Box 575 
  Swansea 
  SA8 9AW 

 
 
Report of Inspection visit to DogsDen Ltd, Unit D & E 14, Pant Industrial Estate, CF48 2SR owned by Mr. J. 
Bones. Carried out on 24th February 2020 at the request of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council under 
the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963. 
 
Dated: Sunday, 1 March 2020  Signed:  
 
      

M.K. Jessop 
 
 
This report is based on a visual inspection of the kennel site made on 24th February 2020. To review the 
premises for a first annual license for 2020 
 
Previous areas of concern: 
 
1. Premises. 

1.1. The facilities make use of two standard industrial units that have been fitted out to provide the 
day-care facilities. 

1.1.1. The construction is thin walled and with a non-insulated roof. Whilst not a problem for 
general construction this will cause difficulties in maintaining a compliant temperature and 
ensuring good ventilation. 

1.1.2. The area was divided into a reception space, a large play area, cubicles for holding the 
individual dogs and an out door area. Additionally, there was a space available for isolation. 

1.1.3. There was some painted fibreboard panelling along the back wall. The low position exposed 
it to floor washing and dog urine. Such areas should be clad and sealed. 

1.2. The play area was of sufficient space for the applied number of dogs (5). 
1.3. The individual pens were of sufficient size, at 3.5m2, and compliant with the boarding conditions 

(MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL, ANIMAL BOARDING 
ESTABLISHMENTS ACT 1963, STANDARD CONDITIONS SUBJECT TO WHICH THE 
ANIMAL BOARDING LICENCE (DOGS) IS GRANTED) section 4.1.4. that gives a minimum of 
2.5m2. 

1.3.1. The construction of these pens was of concern. The framework was standard wooden 
pallets that had been clad in uPVC. Where this covered the underlying pallet, it provided good 
impervious surfacing that could be easily cleaned. Unfortunately, the covering did not extend to 
the hinge area of the door and it was here that ingress of cleaning water, dog urine and other 
fluids could be absorbed into the wood. 

1.3.2. The door of the pen was constructed of feather-board that had been gloss painted. The 
material is not smooth by its design. The use of an impervious paint is reasonable provided 
that it will withstand damage. There was evidence of significant scratching by a contained dog 
that had broken through the paint layer to expose the underlying absorbent material. 
Additionally, the cut edges of the board , where it hinged and where it ran against the floor, had 
not been sealed. Both would allow easy absorption of fluids (especially floor cleansing fluids 
along the lower edge) into the door structure. 

1.3.3. It was advised that heavier doors were not possible because the pallet frame was not robust 
enough to support their weight. This leaves concerns about the suitability of the building 
materials. 

1.3.4. The use of completely non-visual containment will not fulfil the need (under the animal 
welfare act 2006) for the dog to be housed with, or apart from other dogs. The dogs need to be 
able to express their need to choose to either see or not see other boarded dogs. The pen 
should provide an individual hide area but also allow the dog to see the surrounding area. I.e. 
a choice to hide or not. 

Page 63

hughea1_16
Text Box
APPENDIX K



	 	 	

1.3.5. The outdoor exercise area was sufficient for the proposed 5 dogs. There was still work to be 
done to endure a safe and even base to the area. There needs to be enrichment of the area to 
allow play and activities at various levels. One side was secured with chain-link fencing at a 
height of 1.2m that was too low for effective containment. I would expect 1.8m as a minimum 
or a sloped containment at the top of the fence should it be lower than 1.8m. The opposite end 
containment was a mixture of untreated feather-board and wooden pallet and again set at a 
height of 1.2m. The outside area was not safe to use for free exercising and was not yet ready 
for such use. 

1.4. The isolation area was just completing construction. It was of sufficient size, at 2.6m2 for the 
temporary holding of dogs, i.e. occupants should not be held for longer than 24 hours. (section 
4.1.4 of the MTCBC guidance. 

1.4.1. The construction was uPVC frame but the panels were painted feather board. The use of 
wood, especially feather board is unacceptable in an isolation area due to the difficulty to 
effectively clean the uneven surface. 

1.4.2. The location was not compliant with section 5.7.2 but there was a separate access and there 
was a physical means of closing the area from the other dog activities occurring on-site. The 
proximity of the facility could be compliant provided there was a detailed and robust barrier 
nursing protocol drawn up and signed off by the registered veterinary surgeon. 

1.4.3. There was no hot and cold running water next to the isolation facility and therefore section 
5.7.4 of the guidance would be a non-compliance. 

1.5. Facility management was inspected but this was limited because there had been no daycare 
admissions prior to the license application procedure. 

1.5.1. Booking and admission consent forms were available and satisfactory. 
1.5.2. A First Aid kit was available. 
1.5.3. There was a fire management plan in place 
1.5.4. The electrical installations needed certification for safety. 

1.6. Biosecurity 
1.6.1. There was a plan to inspect all vaccination records for daycare dogs. 
1.6.2. The concern was the communal entrance for the daycare dogs and the exercise area was 

also the access point for the dog grooming services and the hydrotherapy services. If that 
arrangement is to persist, all dogs entering that area must be checked for current vaccination 
protection and there should be a system in place to check for parasitic control for both internal 
parasites (gut worms etc) and external parasites (fleas, ticks etc). 

1.6.3. Cleaning protocols were not sufficiently robust to ensure compliance. Mr. Bones did not 
appear to understand the correct use of disinfectant and had no written protocol for use of the 
product shown. To achieve effective control of virus protection the chosen disinfectant would 
need to be used at full strength. The chosen disinfectant must be safe for use with dogs and 
be effective against dog pathogens. There should be greater involvement with the registered 
veterinary surgeon to ensure that there is a complaint cleaning protocol. 

1.7. Environmental management 
1.7.1. The large open area will be difficult to effectively manage for temperature control. On a wet 

but not particularly cold day, dog bed temperatures were recorded at 10.5oC. That was with 
heating in place.  

1.7.2. There needs to be evidence that the heating systems can consistently deliver a minimum 
temperature of 10oC. In cold weather, there will be difficulty keeping the sleeping areas warm. 
On hot days there is a risk of temperatures above the required 26oC. 

1.7.3. There needs to be effective temperature monitoring and recording of maximum and 
minimum daytime temperatures. 

 
Conclusion 
 
At the time of inspection, this facility was not of a standard that was compliant with the MTCBC guidance. 
My advice would be to seek support and guidance from Pet Industry Federation or The Association of Dog 
Boarders. Both membership organisations will be able to provide effective advice. 
The significant non-compliance noted above prevents me from supporting a licence for this facility. 
 
Declaration of Interest 
None noted  
 

Page 64



1

Hughes, Aneurin

From: Hughes, Aneurin
Sent: 05 March 2020 12:39
To: 'julesbones2'
Cc: Baber, Joanne
Subject: Application for Animal Boarding Establishment Licence - Dogsden Daycare Ltd 

[NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED]
Attachments: Vet Report DogsDen Ltd Feb 2020.pdf

Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 
Good Afternoon Julian, 
 
Further to the above application and the inspection of the premises by the Licensing Department and the 
authorised vet on the 24th February 2020, I can advise that I am now in receipt of the Vet’s report – a copy 
is attached for your information. 
 
As the Vet has stated that he cannot support the application, the matter will now have to be determined by 
Members of the Licensing Committee.  I will be drafting a Report for them shortly.  I have not had a 
confirmed date for the Hearing as yet but as soon as I know I will inform you. 
 
The meeting will take place at the Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil and you will be invited to 
attend and address the Committee.  You may be assisted or represented by any person whether or not that 
person is legally qualified, and you will receive a copy of the report and any supporting documents in 
advance of the Hearing. 
 
I trust this clarifies the matter, but, should you have any further enquiries please do not hesitate to contact 
me. 
 
Many thanks, 
 
Cofion/Regards 
 
Aneurin 
 
Aneurin Hughes 
Swyddog Trwyddedu / Licensing Officer 
 
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Canolfan Ddinesig / Civic Centre 
Stryd y Castell / Castle Street 
Merthyr Tudful / Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8AN 
  
Ffôn / Tel: 01685 725000 
E-bost / E-mail: aneurin.hughes@merthyr.gov.uk 
 

Page 65

hughea1_17
Text Box
APPENDIX L



This page is intentionally left blank



Mr Vlad Rimbu MRCVS  
MobiVET Ltd  
30, Tal Coed,  

Coity,  
Bridgend, 

CF35 6QA 
 

Mr Julian Bones  
Dogsden Ltd  
Unit D-E, 14 
Pant Industrial Estate,  
Merthyr Tydfil  
CF48 2SR  
 
This document has been created within conjunction with; 
The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals) Regulations 2018. 
Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs DEFRA 
 
This document outlines the criteria written in conjunction with Providing Day Care for Dogs 
Only at the named address.  
 

Conditions Met  Not Met  Advisories  

1.0 License Display  
● 1.1 A copy of the license must be 

clearly and prominently displayed on 
any premises used for the licensed 
activity.  

● 1.2 The name of the licence holder 
followed by the number of the licence 
holder’s licence must be clearly and 
prominently displayed on any website 
used in respect of the licensable 
activity  

  Although currently 
N/A following a 
conversation 
regarding this 
condition; The 
proposed license 
holder is fully aware 
of the obligations 
surrounding correct 
display of license 
documents keeping 
in conjunction with 
the license 
requirements. 

2.0 Records 
● 2.1 The licence holder must ensure 

that at any time all the records that the 
licence holder is required to keep as a 
condition of the licence are available 
for inspection by an inspector in a 
visible and legible form or, where any 
such records are stored in electronic 
form, in a form from which they can 
readily be produced in a visible and 
legible form.  

● 2.2 The licence holder must keep all 
such records for at least three years 

  Although currently 
N/A following a 
conversation 
regarding this 
condition; The 
proposed license 
holder is fully aware 
of the obligations 
surrounding correct 
and legitimate record 
keeping in 
conjunction with the 
license 

Page 67

hughea1_18
Text Box
APPENDIX M



beginning with the date on which the 
record was created. 

requirements.  

3.0 Use, Number and Type of Animal 
● 3.1 No animals or types of animal 

other than those animals and types of 
animal specified in the licence may be 
used in relation to the relevant 
licensable activity. 

● 3.2 The number of animals kept for 
the activity at any time must not 
exceed the maximum that is 
reasonable taking into account the 
facilities and staffing on any premises 
used for the licensable activity. 

  Although currently 
N/A following a 
conversation 
regarding this 
condition; The 
proposed license 
holder is fully aware 
of the obligations 
surrounding correct 
and legitimate 
functions in 
conjunction with the 
license.  

4.0 Staffing 
● 4.1 Sufficient numbers of people who 

are competent for the purpose must 
be available to provide a level of care 
that ensures that the welfare needs of 
all the animals are met. 

● 4.2 The licence holder or a designated 
manager and any staff employed to 
care for the animals must have 
competence to identify the normal 
behaviour of the species for which 
they are caring and to recognise signs 
of and take appropriate measures to 
mitigate or prevent, pain, suffering, 
injury, disease or abnormal behaviour. 

● 4.3 The licence holder must provide 
and ensure the implementation of a 
written training policy for all staff. 

 
Met 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 

  
The proposed 
licensee has 
undertaken relevant 
training courses to 
conjunction with the 
requirements of the 
license.  
The proposed 
licensee has also 
displayed an up to 
date policy and 
training procedures 
document for all staff 
members.  

5.0 Suitable Environment  
● 5.1 All areas, equipment and 

appliances to which the animals have 
access must present minimal risks of 
injury, illness and escape. They must 
be constructed in materials that are 
robust, safe and durable, in good 
repair and well maintained. 

● 5.2 Animals must be kept at all times 
in an environment suitable to their 
species and condition (including 
health status and age) with respect 
to— (a) their behavioural needs, (b) its 
situation, space, air quality, 
cleanliness and temperature, (c) the 
water quality (where relevant), (d) 
noise levels, (e) light levels, (f) 
ventilation. 

 
On 
condition of 
advisory  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
On 
condition of 
advisory  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
Advised the 
proposed licensee to 
fit a durable and 
wipeable surface 
over the interior of 
the internal kennel 
door to provide 
protection against 
wear and tear from 
scratching/chewing. 
Advised proposed 
licensee to fill any 
indentations on the 
internal floors to 
provide smooth 
surfaces.  
Advised the 

Page 68



● 5.3 Staff must ensure that the animals 
are kept clean and comfortable 

● 5.4 Where appropriate for the species, 
a toileting area and opportunities for 
toileting must be provided. 

● 5.6 The animals must be transported 
and handled in a manner (including for 
example in relation to housing, 
temperature, ventilation and 
frequency) that protects them from 
pain, suffering, injury and disease 

● 5.7 All the animals must be easily 
accessible to staff and for inspection. 
There must be sufficient light for the 
staff to work effectively and observe 
the animals.  

● 5.8 All resources must be provided in 
such a way (for example, as regards 
frequency, location, access points) 
that minimises competitive behaviour 
or the dominance of individual 
animals. 

● 5.9 The animals must not be left 
unattended in any situation or for any 
period likely to cause them distress. 

 
Met 
 
Met 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
Met 
 

proposed licensee to 
mount all electric 
heaters onto a 
higher area (wall) to 
prevent direct 
contact with animals. 
Advised the 
proposed licensee to 
dismantle current 
‘small enclosures’ (to 
the left of the 
entrance and to 
rebuild larger 
enclosures suitable 
for small breeds 
only. 

6.0 Suitable Diet 
● 6.1 The animals must be provided with 

a suitable diet in terms of quality, 
quantity and frequency. Any new 
feeds must be introduced gradually to 
allow the animals to adjust to them.  

● 6.2 Feed and (where appropriate) 
water intake must be monitored, and 
any problems recorded and 
addressed.  

● 6.3 Feed and drinking water provided 
to the animals must be unspoilt and 
free from contamination.  

● 6.4 Feed and drinking receptacles 
must be capable of being cleaned and 
disinfected, or disposable.  

● 6.5 Constant access to fresh, clean 
drinking water must be provided in a 
suitable receptacle for the species that 
require it.  

● 6.6 Where feed is prepared at the 
premises, there must be hygienic 
facilities for its preparation including a 
working surface, hot and cold running 
water and storage  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 

 Although currently 
N/A due to business 
closure. The 
proposed licensee is 
fully aware of the 
current requirements 
proposed and has 
displayed 
knowledge, facilities 
and equipment to 
uphold the 
requirements of the 
license.  

7.0 Monitoring of Behaviour and Training of 
Animals 

 
  

  
 

Page 69



● 7.1 Active and effective environmental 
enrichment must be provided to the 
animals in inside and any outside 
environments.  

● 7.2 For species whose welfare 
depends partly on exercise, 
opportunities to exercise which benefit 
the animals’ physical and mental 
health must be provided, unless 
advice from a veterinarian suggests 
otherwise. 

● 7.3 The animals’ behaviour and any 
changes of behaviour must be 
monitored. Advice must be sought, as 
appropriate and without delay, from a 
veterinarian or, in the case of fish, any 
person competent to give such advice 
if adverse or unusual behaviour is 
detected.  

● 7.4 Where used, training methods or 
equipment must not cause pain, 
suffering, injury or fear.  

● 7.5 All immature animals must be 
given suitable and adequate 
opportunities to – (a) learn how to 
interact with people, their own species 
and other animals where such 
interaction benefits their welfare, and 
(b) become habituated to noises, 
objects and activities in their 
environment.  

On 
Conditions 
of 
advisories  
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
 
MET 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
Met 

Advised proposed 
licensee to provide a 
‘window’ type facility 
to the internal 
enclosures to allow 
the visual 
enrichment for the 
animal. 

8.0 Animal Handling and Interactions 
● 8.1 All people responsible for the care 

of the animals must be competent in 
the appropriate handling of each 
animal to protect it from pain, 
suffering, injury or disease. 

● 8.2 The animals must be kept 
separately or in suitable compatible 
social groups appropriate to the 
species and individual animals. No 
animals from a social species may be 
isolated or separated from others of 
their species for any longer than is 
necessary.  

● 8.3 The animals must have at least 
daily opportunities to interact with 
people where such interaction benefits 
their welfare. 

 
Met  
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 

  

9.0 Protection from Pain, Suffering, Injury and 
Disease  

● 9.1 Written procedures must— (a) be 

 
 
Met  

  
 
Policy and 

Page 70



in place and implemented covering— 
(i) feeding regimes, (ii) cleaning 
regimes, 16 (iii) transportation, (iv) the 
prevention of, and control of the 
spread of, disease, (v) monitoring and 
ensuring the health and welfare of all 
the animals, (vi) the death or escape 
of an animal (including the storage of 
carcasses); (b) be in place covering 
the care of the animals following the 
suspension or revocation of the 
licence or during and following an 
emergency. 

● 9.2 All people responsible for the care 
of the animals must be made fully 
aware of these procedures.  

● 9.3 Appropriate isolation, in separate 
self-contained facilities, must be 
available for the care of sick, injured or 
potentially infectious animals. 

● 9.4 All reasonable precautions must 
be taken to prevent and control the 
spread among animals and people of 
infectious disease, pathogens and 
parasites. 

● 9.5 All excreta and soiled bedding for 
disposal must be stored and disposed 
of in a hygienic manner and in 
accordance with any relevant 
legislation.  

●  9.6 Sick or injured animals must 
receive prompt attention from a 
veterinarian or, in the case of fish, an 
appropriately competent person and 
the advice of that veterinarian or, in 
the case of fish, that competent 
person must be followed 

● 9.7 Where necessary, animals must 
receive preventative treatment by an 
appropriately competent person.  

● 9.8 The licence holder must register 
with a veterinarian with an appropriate 
level of experience in the health and 
welfare requirements of any animals 
specified in the licence and the 
contact details of that veterinarian 
must be readily available to all staff on 
the premises used for the licensable 
activity.  

● 9.10 Medicines other than prescribed 
medicines must be stored, used and 
disposed of in accordance with the 
instructions of the manufacturer or 
veterinarian  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 
 
 
 
 

procedures 
documents readily 
available.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



● 9.11 Cleaning products must be 
suitable, safe and effective against 
pathogens that pose a risk to the 
animals. They must be used, stored 
and disposed of in accordance with 
the manufacturer’s instructions and 
used in a way which prevents distress 
or suffering of the animals. 

● 9.12 No person may euthanase an 
animal except a veterinarian or a 
person who has been authorised by a 
veterinarian as competent for such 
purpose or— (a) in the case of fish, a 
person who is competent for such 
purpose; 19 (b) in the case of horses, 
a person who is competent, and who 
holds a licence or certificate, for such 
purpose. 

● 9.13 All animals must be checked at 
least once daily or more regularly as 
necessary to check for any signs of 
pain, suffering, injury, disease or 
abnormal behaviour. Vulnerable 
animals must be checked more 
frequently. Any signs of pain, 
suffering, injury, disease or abnormal 
behaviour must be recorded and the 
advice and further advice (if 
necessary) of a veterinarian (or in the 
case of fish, of an appropriately 
competent person) must be sought 
and followed 

Met  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 

Advised of COSHH 
Cupboard. 

10.0 Emergencies  
● 10.1 A written emergency plan, 

acceptable to the local authority, must 
be in place, known and available to all 
the people on the premises used for 
the licensable activity, and followed 
where necessary to ensure 
appropriate steps are taken to protect 
all the people and animals on the 
premises in case of fire or in case of 
breakdowns for essential heating, 
ventilation and aeration or filtration 
systems or other emergencies.  

● 10.2 The plan must include details of 
the emergency measures to be taken 
for the extrication of the animals 
should the premises become 
uninhabitable and an emergency 
telephone list that includes the fire 
service and police.  

● 10.3 External doors and gates must 

 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met  
 
 
 
Met 
 
Met 

  
Documents and 
policies readily 
available when 
requested. 

Page 72



be lockable.  
● 10.4 A designated key holder with 

access to all animal areas must at all 
times be within reasonable travel 
distance of the premises and available 
to attend in an emergency.  

Specific Conditions     

20.0 No Overnight Stay  Met   Acknowledged and 
understood in 
conjunction of the 
license 
requirements.  

21.0 Suitable Environment  
● 21.1 Each dog must be provided 

with— (a) a clean, comfortable and 
warm area where it can rest and 
sleep, and (b) another secure area in 
which water is provided and in which 
there is shelter.  

● 21.2 Each dog must have access to 
areas where it can— (a) interact safely 
with other dogs, toys and people, and 
(b) urinate and defecate.  

● 21.3 There must be an area where 
any dog can avoid seeing other dogs 
and people if it so chooses. 

 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
Met  
 
 
 
On 
condition 
of 
advisory  

  
During our visit on 
cold days,in which 
the facilities are not 
operating and no 
heating facilities on. 
Internal temperature 
was 13.2 degrees 
celsius.  
 
 
Advised a ‘window’ 
type area to be 
installed into internal 
enclosures to allow 
visual stimulation 
and the option to not 
see other animals. 

22.0 Suitable Diet 
● 22.1 Any dog that requires specific 

feed due to a medical condition must 
be fed in isolation  

 
Met 

  
Facilities available to 
incorporate this 
requirement.  

23.0 Monitoring of Behaviour and Training  
● 23.1 All dogs must be screened before 

being admitted to the premises to 
ensure that they are not afraid, 
anxious or stressed in the presence of 
other dogs or people and do not pose 
a danger to other dogs or staff.  

● 23.2 Any equipment used that is likely 
to be in contact with the dogs or any 
toys provided must not pose a risk of 
pain, suffering, disease or distress to 
the dog and must be correctly used. 

 
Met  
 
 
 
 
 
Met 

  
Proposed licensee 
has full 
understanding of 
behavioural 
screening and 
documentation.  

24.0 Housing Apart from Other Dogs  
● 24.1 Unneutered bitches must be 

Met 
 

 Proposed license 
understands 

Page 73



prevented from mating.  
●  24.2 Dogs which need to be isolated 

from other dogs must be provided with 
alternative forms of mental stimulation. 

 
Met  

requirements of 
license in subject to 
females dogs in 
season and their 
welfare.  
 
Isolation area has a 
vast range of toys 
and stimulation.  

25.0 Records  
● 25.1 A register must be kept of all the 

dogs at the premises which must 
include— (a) the dates of each dog’s 
arrival and departure; (b) each dog’s 
name, age, sex, neuter status, 
microchip number and a description of 
it or its breed; (c) the number of any 
dogs from the same household; (d) a 
record of which dogs (if any) are from 
the same household; (e) the name, 
postal address, telephone number and 
email address of the owner of each 
dog and emergency contact details; (f) 
in relation to each dog, the name, 
postal address, telephone number and 
email address of a local contact in an 
emergency; (g) the name and contact 
details of the dog’s normal 
veterinarian and details of any 
insurance relating to the dog; (h) 
details of each dog’s relevant medical 
and behavioural history, including 
details of any treatment administered 
against parasites and restrictions on 
exercise; (i) details of the dog’s diet 
and related requirements: (j) consent 
forms; (k) a record of the date or dates 
of each dog’s most recent vaccination, 
worming and flea treatments; (l) 
details of any medical treatment each 
dog is receiving 

● 25.2 When outside the premises, each 
dog must wear an identity tag which 
includes the licence holder’s name 
and contact details 

 
Met 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Met 

  
Relevant registration 
system in place.  

26.0 Protection from Pain, Suffering, Injury 
and Disease. 

● 26.1 The dogs must be supervised at 
all times.  

● 26.2 A preventative healthcare plan 
agreed with the veterinarian with 
whom the licence holder has 

 
 
Met 
 
Met 
 
 

  
 
 
 
Registration in place 
and agreement of 
the provision of 

Page 74



registered under paragraph 9(8) of 
Schedule 2 must be implemented.  

● 26.3 Any journeys in a vehicle must be 
planned to minimise the time dogs 
spend in the vehicle. 

 

 
 
Met 

veterinary 
healthcare.  

 
 
Conclusion 
 
In my professional opinion the above premises, when met in conjunction with the advisories 
made in the comments section of the above table does provide a suitable foundation for the 
function of a Dog Day Care Facility, for the amount of; 
 

5 Large Breed Dogs (1 Per Large Enclosure) and 3 Small to Medium Breed Dogs (1 Per 
Small Enclosure) at one time. 

Or 
10 Medium Breed Dogs (2 Per Large Enclosure) and 3 Small Size Dogs (1 Per Small 

Enclosure) at one time.  
 

It has been agreed that the proposed license holder will make the correct adjustments in 
conjunction with these advisories over the next 21 days. These advisories include; 

- The 4 smaller indoor enclosures (on the left of the entrance) to be replaced with 3 
larger enclosures suitable for small/medium breeds. 

- Internal floor surfaces which have indentations to be filled and smoothed to prevent 
injury.  

- The internal enclosure doors to be fitted with a durable and wipeable surface to 
prevent scratching and chewing damages. 

- Small window type facilities to be installed into the internal enclosures to allow visual 
stimulation and the freedom of choice to see or not to see other animals.  

- Internal electrical/storage heaters to be mounted onto a higher surface i.e wall. To 
prevent injury to the animal. 

 
If these advisories are met, I believe this facility will be fit for licensing for the purpose of Dog 
Day Care for 8 - 13 Animals at any one time. 
 
 
 
Date; 
 
Signed; 
 
Stamp; 
 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 7 
 

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

Witness Statement 
(CJ Act 1967, s.9 MC Act 1980, ss.5A(3)(A) and 5B, MC Rules 1981, r.70) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I, Julian Bones of Dogsden, Doggy Day Care and Spa Ltd, Unit D & E, 14 Pant Industrial Estate, 

Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2SR Telephone Number:  07415478450 

WILL SAY AS FOLLOWS: 

1. I confirm that I currently run a doggy day care centre in Merythy Tydfil where I look after 

dogs while their owners are at work when their neighbours cannot look after them during 

the day.  My centre provides a dog friendly indoor and outdoor environment where dogs 

can play, exercise and socialise under the supervision of staff. 

 

2. Most dog day care centre feature a secure outdoor space for dogs to play and many 

centres are located close to countryside that is suitable for walking the dogs.  Mine is no 

different in that regard and I make sure that dogs are catered for in all their needs in terms 

of their physical and mental health, socialisation and a combination of quiet and busy 

areas.  The dog centre also provides the services of groomers, hydropool, reki and coffee 

bar located in the industrial unit and grounds. 

 

3. In terms of my background, I am 55 years of age and have worked in the service industry 

for a number of years.  I have worked in various sectors throughout the course of my 

working life and have always been a dog owner and currently have three bearded collies.  

I have attended training programmes and use this education to communicate and 

understand animals and dogs.  I have a dogs  first aid certificate and intend to complete a 

dog behaviour course.  I have a signficiant network of people and personnel to help me 

with my work and I have completed a variety of policies and procedures insofar as these 

matters are concerned. 

First Statement of Julian Bones 

Age:  Over 18  

Occupation:  

This statement (consisting of  Pages each signed by me) is true to the best of my knowledge and belief and I 
make it knowing that, if it is tendered in evidence, I shall be liable to prosecution if I have wilfully stated in it 
anything which I know to be false or do not believe to be true.     

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

 

 

Dated the _________ Day of ________________________ 2013 

 

Signature ___________________________________________ 

 Tick if witness evidence if visually recorded ⃞ (supply witness details on rear) 

Page 77

hughea1_19
Text Box
APPENDIX N



Page 2 of 7 
 

 
 

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

4. Before I started this centre I looked at various other sites around the area to decide which 

site was best for the work that I needed to do and considered what standards I needed to 

be maintaining and what was the best of industry practice.   

 

5. I was offered a suitable site near Merthyr Tydfil and the application was made to the local 

authority in January 2020.  In terms of the application these isues were always difficult to 

advance particularly in that there were specific issues as to whether this doggy day care 

was in fact within the scope of the animal boarding kennel regulations.  I have considered, 

and having taken advice and engaged with the local authority that there was in fact such 

an obligation and an application was placed forward on that basis. 

 

6. In terms of the application I did my best to engage with the local authority however was 

disappointed to see the response eventually received from the local authority that they 

were not recommending the granting of my licence for reasons outlined in the report 

prepared by Mr Mike Jessop. 

 

7. In terms of Mr Jessop’s report I was disappointed because effectively Mr Jessop seems 

to have prepared the report in March 2020 based on his visit on 24th February which is 

disproportionate to the circumstances and simply wrong.   

 

8. I accept fully that the local authority are entitled to add their rules and consider additional 

requirements but the question is are those requirements suitable or proportionate in the 

circumstances.  There is no concern or call upon the local Government representative to 

suggest that there is a need for further regulation in terms of the Merthyr Tydfil area and 

quite simply as this is the first venture of this nature it would suggest that the application 

of such standard in these circumstances which may very well be well intentioned are 

disproportionate.  I have raised the question as to who prepared these regulations which 

are different to those provided by National Government and insofar as that is concenred I 

have not been given a response.  It has been suggested to me that in fact that the person 

who wrote the guidelines is the person who inspected, Mr Mike Jessop and why they have 

been applied in such a way is a matter which needs to be considered and in my respectful 

submission, reviewed. 

 

9. In terms of the sequence of events arising which came to the conclusion it did, I had a 

number of contacts with an Areurin Hughes of Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council about the 

Page 78



Page 3 of 7 
 

 
 

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

proposal of a dog day care and spar.  He was unclear as to whetehr this was something 

which was within the terms of the regulation and although I had just taken possession and 

started works and was quite busy at the time I suggested he come and view what I was 

doing and give me the required guidelines if there was such a need for a licence.  We 

agreed to meet on the 11th December 2019.  Two days later I was called and told that they 

were not going to visit to give me advice so I downloaded the relevant guidelines from 

November 2018, the licence application etc.  We had started work on the property since 

December 2019 and we looked over the documents which seemed to be at odds with 

DEFRA guidelines and Merthyr Tydfil so we followed the National Government as that  

seemed to be appropriate.  On 6th January 2020 I received a text from Mr Hughes saying 

he was intending to visit the premises but no-one was there at that day.  I called him the 

following day and asked him to visit at any time but please call ahead as I may not be there, 

no reply was received. 

10. On 9th January 2020 Mr Hughes and Mrs Barber came out as a complaint had been made 

saying we were operational and trading without a licence.  They walked onto the building 

site and made comment about the enclosures being a little small.  I provided them with the 

specifications following the DEFRA guidelines and that all matters then in order.  I was told 

that the next inspection would be by Mike Jessop on the 11th January, the following 

Tuesday and I indicated that was a tall order because we were not ready.  At this stage I 

contacted Nerys Thomas from Calanaha, dog trainer, who was hiring the main room from 

6.00pm to 9.00pm three days a week.  I believe the complaint came from that group about 

us being operational when we were not.  On 11th January 2020, the day of inspection, I 

was not prepared and the builders were still working while we were there.  I felt the tone 

of Mr Jessop was belightling and he tried to make me feel small.  Mr Hughes did not make 

any comment but it was witnessed by my builders Mr Nass and Mr Miller.   

 

11. I was asked if I had done my research in this business and had I asked for professional 

advice.  I looked at Mr Hughes who looked away replying yes of course.  I had done a lot 

of research and I had put £47,500 into a project which was a serious amount of money.  I 

knew also from looking at other sites that we had far more that what other sites had.  I had 

contacted other day care centres, including the ones at Blackwood, Bridgend, Facebook 

societies, dog day care owners, commercial doggy day care group, Doggy First Aid South 

Wales, dog walkers, dog day care home board and support group and various other 

publications.  I was told after the inspection that clearly did not know the department of 

Page 79



Page 4 of 7 
 

 
 

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

environmental food and rural affairs report that the enclosure size was not sufficient and 

he read my health and safety policy given to Mr Hughes previously. 

 

12. On 14th January Mr Hughes advised that I had been refused a licence as the enclosures 

were too small according to Mr Jessop.  I stated I was told that if they came out and told 

me the statements at the time and applied to Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council then I would 

have been able to follow them but I had followed the DEFRA guidance which was the 

national guidance and I should have been advised.  I was told that I had failed on the point 

of the enclosures. 

 

13. Following this, on 6th February, I received an email saying there was an inspection 

available again once I had changed things round on 24th February and the meeting did not 

go well.  I was belittled by Mrs Barber who asked the same questions again after Mr 

Jessop, Mr Jessop made comments about the nature of the building etc and quite simply 

at that time I felt that his attitude was disruptive as opposed to constructive and whilst I 

indicated my intention and the way I looked at things then he was quite different in the way 

he applied his mind.   

 

14. All operations on the site finished on 22nd March due to Covid and I then carried out work 

to make sure things were done and I answered the report in the way they put to me.  I did 

so not because of any view that it was improving things but just as a way of being 

transparent and open with the regulator despite me having concerns about how these 

matters would have been applied, what guidance had been given to the local authority in 

this process and who had compiled these documents.  I considered simply that they had 

been ill-thought out and the lack of scrutiny in my view was clearly a cause for concern.  It 

was not clear to me who had seen this documentation in local government and whether 

this had been sanctioned by any official. 

 

15. The second report then received covered some of the same issues as expressed before 

and again was applied disproportionately.   

 

Second Visit of Mike Jessop 

 

16. In terms of his second visit I would indicate as follows:- 

 

Page 80



Page 5 of 7 
 

 
 

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

1.1.1   

The material is standard, robust and industrial material is used for properties and 

……………….uk wide.  They are breeze block and brick corrugated roof.  I would confirm this 

on the basis of photograph 4 which I exhibit as JB/1.  These provide evidence with regard at 

photos at Birmingham Arena, Crufts, Waggy Tails Bridgend, Dog Father Blackwood and 

Ginger Tikes Blackwood. 

 

1.1.2   

The isolation originally placed in the main roof however I moved this to another part of the 

property.  There is a separate entrance and exit there. 

 

1.1.4   

Construction and enclosures were made using fresh sturdy pallets of solid construction 

covered in plastic cladding.  Due to size correction from smaller enclosures which neither nor 

4 other councils indicated as being suitable as size requirements as minimum requirement per 

dog is allowed on premises.  I have had to change this and demonstrate this by photographs 

13, 12 and 11 which I exhibited as JB/2.  In terms of the material not being impervious, I would 

question this issue.  I would state that they are to high industry standard, manufactured 

technology which can be left outside and remains impervious and does not deteriorate in 

water. 

 

1.3.1   

The board comes already sealed.  In fact as a practical experiment I left 2 sheets outside for 

six months and they remains sold, straight and impervious.  The boards are undercoated and 

painted in gloss.  At the time of inspection the paint was still soft hence scrapes.  Also I would 

point out that in similar establishments within Wales sizes vary and are on occasions more 

flimsy than ours.  I exhibit this in photographs 3 – 6 JB/3. 

 

1.3.2. – 1.3.3   

I would confirm that I followed the size outlines for the kennels as described by Merthyr Tydifl 

Borough Council but I would point out they are different and significantly different to those 

provided by DEFRA and four other councils as I have stated. 

 

1.3.4   

C5 minimum requirements 21.3 DEFRA regulations, attachment 16 exhibited JB/4. 

Page 81



Page 6 of 7 
 

 
 

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

 

1.3.5   

See photos 18 and 19, JB/5.  Outside play areas 18 x 27 feet squared. 

 

1.4.1 plus 1.4.3   

See attachment 1 

 

1.4.4   

As for washbasin at the time of inspection which is next to the grooming A room.  This follows 

on from the same standards as inspected in the guidelines.   

 

17. I was asked if I did my research into the business and asked for professional advice.  As I 

stated above I felt that this was done to barrack and to dismiss me as being an incompetent 

person.  I felt frustrated in the way they dealt with me in those circumstances and the reasons 

why they put these things forward is to either devalue the good work I have done or dismiss 

me in that regard.  I would state insofar as these matters are concerned that I have tried to 

engage with the local authority who have questioned the proportionality of some of these 

decisions. 

 

18. As a result of that I have instructed Mr David Martin, veterinary surgeon, who does 

significant work in both educating and dealing with matters ……………...to come and 

provide me with a full detail of all these matters.  I also confirmed that at this time I have 

lost £350 per day as a result of the Covid pandemic and also the refusal of the local 

authority to deal with these matters in a way which I consider consistent or reasonable.  In 

terms of these matters I feel an indication of how dismissive the local authority has been 

because after the health and safety policy at some cost and expense and time and work 

they have not actually read it at all and when I showed it at some level and hoped it would 

demonstrate some satisfaction to show what I had done to engage with them, the 

document was not even read. 

 

19. I have been disappointed in that regard because the whole purpose of a regulator is not 

to simply enforce it is also to engage transparently and provide constructive advice. 

 

20. I confirm I am of clean character and would be willing to attend court if necessary. 

  

Page 82



Page 7 of 7 
 

 
 

Signature __________________________ Julian Bones   Dated 23/10/2020 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

First Statement of Julian Bones     Dated 23/10/2020 

 

These are the Exhibits marked JB/1, JB/2, JB/3, JB/4, JB/5, JB/6 referred to. 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



28th January 2021 
Opinion of Mike Jessop BVetMed FRCVS on the 3 documents supplied to support Mr. Bones appeal against 
the refusal to grant a licence to his Dog Day-Care facility, Dogsden. 
 
 

Opinion on the report of V. Rimbu MRCVS. 

 

1. D. Martin was instructed to prepare an expert report but that has not been submitted. An 

inspection report from veterinarian V. Rimbu was carried out at an unidentified date. His inspection 

is not recorded in Mr. Bones’ statement. 

1.1. He was not formally authorised as a MTCBC Local Authority inspector under 2. (1) of the Animal 

Boarding Act 1963. Therefore, the report cannot be used by MTCBC to grant a licence 

1.2. He has inspected the premises according to a reduced criteria as laid out in The Animal Welfare 

(Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)(England) Regulations 2018. Therefore his inspection is 

deficient under the English regulations and obviously, not applicable for Wales. 

1.3. He has not referred to the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 or the MTCBC Conditions 

for Dog Boarding that are the required conditions for Mr. Bones establishment. 

2. In section 5.0 it is noted that the internal kennel doors are not fitted with durable or wipeable 

surfaces. This is exactly the findings of my report 1.3.2. In addition, V. Rimbu had concerns about 

the impervious floor surfaces. An area that had not been noted on my previous inspections. 

3. In Section 5.0 it is noted that the positioning of the electric heaters was too low and posed a risk to 

the animals. Such heating was not present on my inspection of 24th February 2020. 

4. In Section 5.0 it is noted that the “small enclosures (to the left of the entrance)” were dismantled 

rebuilt to a larger specification. There is no detail, in the report, about the current size or advice 

about a proposed size. My inspection of 24th February 2020 raised no concern about kennel sizes 

(these being rectified from the previous visit) for the proposed pens to be used under the licence 

conditions – these being 5 pens on the back wall. On my visit of 24th February 2020 there were 

some small pens adjacent to the reception area but not planned for use and therefore not 

inspected. It is evident that the number and size of pens has been changed since my inspection and 

Mr. Bones appears to be applying for a greater number of dogs for boarding. 

5. In Section 7.1 advises the use of a window facility in the enclosures. This is in agreement with my 

concerns in my report of 24th February 2020 1.3.4 about non-visual containment. This is further 

highlighted in section 21.3. 

6. V. Rimbu applied 5 conditions that prevented him from advising this as a facility fit for licensing. The 

issue of impervious surfaces, size of enclosures and visual enrichment are issues previously raised 

with Mr. Bones and vigorously denied by Mr. Bones leading to this protracted route to licence. 

Page 85

hughea1_20
Text Box
APPENDIX O



7. Of serious concern are the deficiencies in V. Rimbu’s  inspection. He has failed the facility for 

licence. 

8. Firstly, applying the guidance and conditions of The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving 

Animals)(England) Regulations 2018, he has ignored the associated guidance sections. The current 

gold standard inspection template is from the City of London: 

8.1. Section 4.1 should:  

8.1.1. Detail he number of staff. V. Rimbu’s report doesn’t. 

8.1.2. Detail the qualifications and numbers of staff and whether full or part-time. No details 

appear in V. Rimbu’s report. 

8.1.3. Ensure that each dog has 6m2 available to them. V. Rimbu’s report makes no reference to 

any special parameters for indoor play area, outdoor area, internal holding pens or 

isolation facilities. 

8.1.4. Contain a floor plan showing how the facility will be used during the day with reference to 

numbers of dogs indoors, outdoors or penned. V. Rimbu made no reference to such a plan. 

8.1.5. Detail the proposed or actual types of dogs (breed, age, needs) to be day-cared. 

8.1.6. Detail the ratio of staff to dogs as proposed or actual. 

8.2. In section 4.2, V. Rimbu stated that “relevant” training courses have been undertaken but does 

not indicate what they were. OFQAL regulated level 2 qualifications in a relevant subject (or clear 

evidence of knowledge and experience) are the required level. 

8.3. Section 5.1 There is no reported detail of the areas, equipment and appliances. I raised concerns 

about the ability to heat the large and apparently poorly insulated structure. V. Rimbu raised the 

issue of impervious surface of the pen doors and the flooring. I raised concerns about the 

isolation area and the fibreboard panelling along the back wall. Additionally, the cut edges of the 

fibreboard cladding the kennels and doors was pervious to fluid ingress. 

8.3.1. Guidance suggests that the following should be addressed: No sharp edges; impervious 

surfaces; two secure barrier system for each entrance/exit; secure fencing; escape-proof 

windows; strong doors resistant to impact, scratching and chewing (note this was a raised 

concern in my report of 24th February but not addressed in V. Rimbu’s report); no gaps; 

compliant mesh if used; suitable drainage of exercise areas; no pooling of water; artificial 

turf in good repair. V. Rimbu’s report is deficient in description of the compliance areas 

required. 

8.3.2. V. Rimbu advises fitting durable and wipeable surface to the internal kennel door. That still 

leaves the external surface accessible to the dogs in the main area of the facility. 

8.4. Section 5.2 there should be a detailed review of the environmental conditions. V. Rimbu 

addressed an obvious risk from heaters placed too low but did not detail issues about the Page 86



general environment. There was no advice on how the required 10oC to 26oC was maintained 

through the year. Both effective heating and cooling systems need to be available and proven to 

be effective with adequate temperature monitoring. 

8.4.1. Sleeping areas must provide at least twice the area required for a dog to lie flat. V. Rimbu’s 

report does not list the size for the pen or sleeping areas and therefore does not appear to 

have ensured compliance with that requirement. 

8.5. Section 5.6 requires transportation compliance. The Dogsden faceboook site offers taxi service 

and therefore an expectation that animal transport complies with regulations. V. Rimbu’s 

report did not mention inspection of the transport vehicle(s), transport safety or transport logs. 

8.6. Section 9.3 was recorded as being compliant in V. Rimbu’s report. I had serious concerns about 

the location, use and construction of the isolation area. I would be pleased if Mr. Bones has 

now addressed those concerns but V. Rimbu’s report provided no detail that such 

improvement had occurred. 

8.7. I was also concerned about the communal entrances for grooming, physiotherapy and day-

care. There was no detail in V. Rimbu’s report about this communal thoroughfare.  

8.8. Section 9.11 requires correct use of cleaning products. There was no detail in V. Rimbu’s report 

to address my concerns at the inspection of 24th February 2020. 

8.9. Section 24.2. It is unclear from V. Rimbu’s report whether he means the Isolation area is well 

stocked with toys and stimulation. The specific condition referred to dogs isolated from others 

in their individual pens and not the specific isolation area.  

9. The report failed the facilities until the 5 listed conditions were met. I have concerns about the level 

of detail to which the premises were inspected and they appear to have been carried out on a 

superficial conditions level without reference to the more detail guidance. 

10. There was no reference to the size recommendations used by V. Rimbu in his assessment and 

therefore how he arrives at the proposed allocations of kennel space to the recommended numbers 

of dogs. 

10.1. He made no reference to the conditions when suggesting the allocation of 2 medium size breeds 

of dog to a large enclosure. These should only be dogs from the same household and consented, 

by the owner for sharing. If allocating 2 dogs to an enclosure, there was no provision for the dogs 

to comply with section 8.2. My knowledge of the enclosure is that they do not provide separate 

hide areas or enough space for the containment of 2 dogs. I measured them at 3.4m2 which is 

sufficient space for one dog only. 

11. The report was non-compliant with the Wales regulations, based on the 1963 Boarding Act and the 

associated conditions required by MTCBC. 

Page 87



 

Opinion on the Statement of Mr. Bones 

1. Paragraph 1 seems to confess to running an unlicenced day care centre! 

2. Paragraph 3 does not contain any details of particular dog behaviour or dog management 

experience or qualification. 

3. Paragraph 7 seems very odd. Yes, I did prepare the report based on the visit on 24th February 2020 

it reflected the findings on that date. 

4. Paragraph 8 is a bit confused but suggests that I wrote the MTCBC conditions. I accept that some of 

my suggestions (given in May 2010) may have been incorporated into the MTCBC conditions but I 

certainly did not write the conditions. It is perhaps pertinent to point out that I also advised several 

other Welsh and English Local Authorities on specific items within their conditions for various 

animal licence activities. I also advised Welsh Government on Dog Breeding Licencing, DEFRA on the 

English Animal Establishments Regulations, Dutch Government on their pet trading regulations and 

European Commission on their Dog and Cat Breeding Guidance. I have written a peer reviewed and 

published scientific article on animal licencing. Beyond that I have never written a Local Authority 

Animal Establishment Licence Conditions document. 

5. In paragraph 9 Mr. Bones appears aggrieved that MTCBC did not offer a consultancy service for the 

development of a Doggy Day care facility. It would not be reasonable for a LA to offer bespoke 

advice to a commercial business and then act as inspector of the premises. Consultancy advice 

should be commercially obtained or taken from membership of organisations such as Pet Industry 

Federation or the Association of Dog Boarders. His registered veterinary surgeon may have been 

able to offer advice on meeting licence conditions. 

6. In Paragraph 9 Mr. Bones confuses the very different licencing regimes of England – coordinated by 

English Local Authorities under guidelines issued by DEFRA. The English regulation is The Animal 

Welfare (Licensing of Activities Involving Animals)(England) Regulations 2018 written and placed on 

statute by DEFRA. The Welsh Regulation that is applicable to Merthyr Tydfil is the older UK 

legislation of the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 - that is now rescinded in England but 

still applicable to Wales. Based on the 1963 Act, and in compliance with section 1(3), MTCBC have 

produced a list of conditions applicable to animal boarding. Those conditions must comply with 

section 1(3)(a)-(e) and can specify conditions as necessary and expedient in securing the objects 

specified in (a)-(e). 

6.1. Mr. Bones seems intent on following English regulations in Wales. The deficient report of V. 

Rimbu suggests that he is non-compliant with the English Conditions. 

Page 88



6.2. I note that V. Rimbu, in his report made no reference to disproportionate application of 

conditions by MTCBC and in fact found 5 areas of concern. 

7. Paragraph 10. On the visit of 11th January 2020, I visited the premised with LA Officers A. Hughes 

and J. Baber. Mr. Bones had constructed dog enclosures measured at 1m2 and had used 

adapted wooden pallets and uPVC cladding. The facilities were not in a position for licencing 

with no outdoor security, no isolation facilities and inadequate dog pens. Mr. Bones did not have 

any guidelines available and I advised that he sought professional help with meeting the licence 

conditions. I offered professional advice in a professional manner and did not produce a report 

nor did I charge a fee. 

8. In paragraph 11, Mr. Bones gives a list of prior reference advice and materials. None of that was 

evident at the inspection of 11th January and the non-compliant kennel sizes suggested that Mr. 

bones had not used the MTCBC conditions that clearly state holding kennel minimum sizes 

should be 1.9m2. It is also of note that the DEFRA guidelines for the 2018 regulations do not 

contain a specific size recommendation but state “ The sleeping/rest area must provide the dog 

with at least twice the area required for the dog to lie flat.”. The prior 2016 Chartered institute 

for Environmental Health model guidance stated 1.9m2 per dog that should be doubled if 2 dogs 

occupy. Mr. Bones had his Bearded Collies present on that day and one was placed in the 

enclosure, clearly demonstrating that it could not stand or lie down without touching the sides 

of the enclosure. 

9. In paragraph 12, Mr. Bones is incorrect in stating that DEFRA guidelines allow 1m2 kennels. 

10. Paragraph 13. The inspection of 24th February did not go well because Mr. Bones became 

exasperated and then angry about the problems identified at the inspection. Specifically, over 

the use of feather boarding that had been damaged by an occupying dog, the poor construction 

that exposed wood to fluid ingress and by the mixed entrance thoroughfare. I was concerned 

about the suitability of the building and the ability to effectively heat it in winter and cool it in 

summer.  I was also concerned about the suitability of the disinfectant in use. It is acknowledged 

that Mr. Bones had changed the layout of the dog enclosures planned for licenced us and 

enlarged them substantially. 

11. In paragraph 14 Mr. Bones fairly raised concerns about the conditions and regulations. MTCBC is 

still using the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 and the MTCBC Conditions for Dog 

Boarding for application to Doggy Dog Care. It is recognised that there is a difference between 

commercial boarding for a duration of days or weeks and commercial boarding for day-care. 

However, the fundamentals still apply. The conditions are adaptable to both situations and Mr. 

Bones needs to understand the fundamental issues and apply them to his establishment. 

Page 89



12. Paragraph 15. There was no second report. My report dated 1st March 2020 in relation to the 

visit of 24th February 2020 (6 days earlier) is the only report I have written on this facility. I did 

give a verbal report on the concerns (mainly sizing of enclosures and lack of preparedness) of 

the visit of 11th January 2020.  

13. In reference to paragraph 16  

13.1. 1.1.1, If Mr. Bones can confirm that the property is insulated and can provide evidence that the 

heating system will maintain temperatures between 10 and 16 in both summer and winter, I 

would support compliance on this issue. 

13.2. 1.1.2. If there is a complaint isolation area, I would support compliance on this issue. 

13.3. 1.1.4 Mr Bones has used standard wooden pallets that have been over clad with uPVC. If there is 

sufficient protection for the cut ends at the door hinging, the base of the doors and sealant 

between wall and floor, I would consider this to be compliant. Further the feather board doors 

need cladding as also advised by V. Rimbu. 

13.4. 1.3.1 the use of feather board painted or otherwise is not compliant with condition 3.1.7 that 

states all internal surfaces must be durable, smooth and impervious. Also 3.6.1 that states kennel 

doors must be strong enough to resist impact and scratching. Mr. Bones acknowledges the 

damages caused to one of the doors by a scratching dog. 

13.5. 1.3.2 – 1.3.3. I acknowledge that Mr. Bones did change the size of the kennels planned for 

licenced use. The 5 kennels inspected were size compliant with MTCBC conditions but failed on 

other requirements.  

14. In reference to paragraph 17, if Mr. Bones had followed the conditions outlined in the MTCBC 

Conditions and preferably taken advice and support from one of the professional associations as 

advised in my report of 1st March 2020, the facility would now be fully licenced and, Covid 

restrictions aside, fully operational. 

Opinion on the email of A. Owens 

This is not a new kind of business in Merthyr Tydfil. Doggy Day Care has been available in licenced boarding 

establishments for many years. Mr. Bones was inspected against standard county wide conditions and 

found wanting. Further, the business of Home Boarding is widely established and also inspected under the 

1963 Act. It is perfectly possible to use existing conditions for variations on the traditional boarding model. 

The experts did not confirm the premises are to standard. For clarification, I was engaged as a MTCBC 

Licencing Inspector on a temporary basis for the purposes of the inspections on 11th January and 24th 

February 2020.  

Page 90



V. Rimbu appears to have been asked to complete a second opinion veterinary inspection of Dogsden on 

date unknown.  

There is mention of D. Martin instructed as an expert but there is no report or findings by him.  

There is no evidence of any legal instruction of expert evidence. 

Therefore, it is not correct to state that the experts confirm anything because I have seen no evidence of 

expert instruction. 

V. Rimbu’s report was significantly deficient: 

1. V. Rimbu used the wrong regulatory conditions but still found 5 significant non-compliances. 

2. Using the MTCBC Conditions I found: 

3. 3.1.2 Non-Compliant because the feather board was not smooth and where cut, was pervious. 

4. 3.1.3 Non-Compliant because the outdoor fencing was inadequate 

5. 3.1.4 Concerns about potential non-compliance due to the open and apparently non-insulated 

structure of the industrial unit. 

6. 3.1.6 Non-Compliant. Exterior wood used for containment was inadequate and untreated. 

7. 3.1.7 Non-Compliant for the kennel doors and cut ends, back wall and isolation due to the use of 

wood 

8. 3.2.2 potential non-compliance fir sealing of walls and floor junctions. 

9. 3.3.1 Not noted at my inspection but noted by V. Rimbu as Non-Compliant for impervious flooring. 

10. 3.6.1 Non-Compliant for scratch resistant doors 

11. 5.2.2 Concerns at the ability to maintain temperatures above 10 in winter. The Animal Welfare Act 

would also require maintenance below 26. 

12. 5.3.1 Non Compliance due to exposed wood construction. 

13. Concerns also about the understanding and use of disinfectants. 

14. 5.7.1 Isolation Facilities were Non-Compliant at my visit of 24th February. There were not mentioned 

in V. Rimbu’s report. 

15. 5.11.4 Non-Compliant for a lack of Electrical Safety Certification. 

16. Additional concerns from my inspection were: 

17. The non – visual kennels 

18. The general standard of the outdoor facility 

19. The shared entrance allowing dogs for the various businesses or physiotherapy, hydrotherapy, 

dental hygiene and grooming was a significant biosecurity risk. 

20. Note that drainage was not inspected by myself and ignored by V. Rimbu. There should be a trade 

waste contract in place and approval from Welsh water if effluent enters the foul sewer system. 

Page 91



21. Kennel construction must be complaint with the Animal Welfare Act and V. Rimbu was in 

agreement that the enclosures were Non-Compliant with the need for visualisation from the 

kennel. 

The issue in the way these matters were considered and administered was wholly appropriate by MTCBC 

with a lot of time invested in advising Mr. Bones on the correct course of action to obtain compliance with 

the conditions. 

The use of the appeals process and the mis application of the English regulations by Mr. Bones and his 

consultant has led to a significant cost on inaccurate and inappropriate advice. 

The issue of proportionality and correct application of regulatory rules appears to be a primary fault of Mr. 

Bones’ legal and expert opinion. MTCBC simply applied their standard condition criteria to Dogsden and 

highlighted the non-compliances. 

Mr. Bones has not yet provided evidence of full compliance. His veterinary inspector confirmed several 

identified non-compliance issues were still present on the date of his own veterinary inspection that is 

undated and unsigned. The inspection report fails to record the date of inspection. 

The issues identified in my report of 24th February 2020 are not limited and contain significant concerns 

about biosecurity, hygiene and dog health and welfare. 

Mr. Owens cites the Hope & Glory case. My report is clear in the area of deficiency, the non-compliances 

have not been shown to be resolved and M. Bones’ own veterinary inspection highlighted continued non-

compliance. 

 

 

Page 92



 

 

 

VETERINARY REPORT 
An independent expert veterinary report regarding a license application for Doggy 

Day Care by Dogsden Daycare Ltd. 

 
  

NOVEMBER 23, 2020 
DAVID MARTIN BVSC MRCVS 

Brownlow Vet Group, Ellesmere Business Park, Ellesmere, Shropshire SY12 0EW 

Page 93

hughea1_21
Text Box
APPENDIX P



 

1 

 

 

EXPERT WITNESS REPORT  
 

 

 

Contents 
1.0  Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 2 

1.2 My Instructions in this Case .......................................................................................... 2 

1.3 Summary of the Case .................................................................................................... 2 

1.4 Summary of My Conclusions in this Case ................................................................. 3 

2.0  Chronology of the Case. ................................................................................................... 3 

3.0  Veterinary Interpretation of the Facts of the Case. ................................................... 5 

4.0 Professional Opinions and Conclusions .................................................................... 29 

 

  

Page 94



 

2 

 

 

1.0  Introduction 
 

1.1 The Writer 
 

1.1.1 I am David Martin. I am a qualified Veterinary Surgeon. I graduated from the University 

of Liverpool as a Bachelor of Veterinary Science with honours and I have held membership 

of the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons since that time. On qualification I was 

employed as an associate of the Brownlow Veterinary Group and since January 2004 I have 

been a partner. In 2013 the practice converted to a Limited Company and I became a 

Director of the practice. In 2016 the practice was sold to Independent Vet Care and I 

became a Clinical Director of the practice. In 2018 I was asked to support other practices 

within Independent Vet Care with respect to Animal Welfare.  

 

1.1.2 The Brownlow Veterinary Group provides veterinary services to the full range of pets, farm 

animals and equines through three centres.  

 

1.1.3 I regularly undertake expert witness instructions in all of the major domestic and 

agricultural animals both for prosecution and defence in the fields of animal welfare and 

veterinary science.  

 

 

 

 

1.2 My Instructions in this Case  

 

1.2.1 I am instructed to consider the papers supplied to me including the veterinary reports of 

inspections conducted at the property and to prepare a report as to whether the facilities 

provided by Dogsden Day Care Ltd are suitable to be granted a licence for that purpose.  

 

1.3 Summary of the Case 
 

1.3.1 Mr Julian Bones trading as Dogsden Daycare Ltd has previously applied for a licence to 

run his business in Merthyr Tydfil which has so far been rejected based on a veterinary 

recommendation by Mr Mike Jessop.  

 

1.3.2 A further veterinary report is now available following a second independent veterinary 

inspection and I have been instructed to review both reports as well as the model conditions 

for licensing issued by Methyr Tydfil Council and to provide an expert opinion as to 

whether Mr Bones’ business is suitable for licensing.  

 

 

Page 95



 

3 

 

  

1.4 Summary of My Conclusions in this Case  
 

1.4.1 It is my expert opinion that the model conditions issued by Merthyr Tydfil Council do not 

specifically address the business model that is now common in the UK and which Mr Bones 

seeks to operate namely that of providing day care to clients dogs with the only licence 

category available for Mr Bones to apply for being that of a full Boarding Kennels Licence. 

This is now uncommon with most Councils in the UK now providing a specific licence for 

this type of business based on criteria established and published by DEFRA. 

  

 

1.5 Sources of information used in the formation of this report.  
 

1.5.1 A timeline of events prepared by Mr Julian Bones   

 

1.5.2 An inspection report completed by Mr Mike Jessop Veterinary Surgeon on the 1st of March 

 2020.   

 

1.5.3 An inspection report completed by Mr Vlad Rimbu on the 13th of October 2020  

 

1.5.4 A copy of the Standard Conditions for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council in respect 

of the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963  

 

1.5.5 A copy of the licensing conditions and guidance for Day care of dogs in respect of 

Monmouthshire County Council.  

 

1.5.6 Licence Conditions for Commercial Day Care / Creche Facilities for Dogs from the Shared 

Regulatory Authority (Bridgend, Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan).  

 

1.5.7 Day care dog boarding kennels licence condition for the City and Council of Swansea.  

 

 

 

2.0  Chronology of the Case. 
 
2.0.1 Mr Julian Bones made an application to be licensed as a Doggy Daycare business on the 

8th of January having had correspondence with the Council Officers who had drawn to his 

attention that although there were specific regulations and licensing pertaining to Doggy 

Day Care in England that there were not similar regulations in Wales and hence Mr Bones 

would have to apply for a Boarding Licence and conform with the model conditions for 

that licence.  

 

 

2.0.2 As part of that application the Council instructed a veterinary surgeon Mr Mike Jessop to 

Page 96



 

4 

 

attend Dogsden Daycare and conduct an inspection which was performed on the 14th of 

January when the site was still having extensive work conducted and hence it was not 

possible to conduct the inspection properly. At that time Mr Jessop informed Mr Bones 

that the size of the enclosures were too small to achieve compliance and that as the isolation 

room was in the same room as the other dogs that this would again rule out compliance so 

the inspection was stopped with advice being given that the isolation unit must be separated 

and 5m away from the main pens/enclosures.  

  

2.0.3 On the 15th of January a meeting was held with Mr Jones at which it was suggested that he 

could apply for a licence permitting less dogs to be housed and then expand it over time if 

that was successful. Discussions continued with Mr Jones through January and February 

2020 and a second inspection was arranged for the 24th of February 2020 by Mr Mike 

Jessop   

 

2.0.4 At that time Mr Jones had applied for a licence for 5 dogs and the pens that were present 

conformed in size to the required pen sizes for use by dogs housed for boarding as per the 

Council model conditions. Mr Jessop however raised concerns in respect of the covering 

of the doors around the hinge area as to whether it would permit the ingress of water into 

the underlying wood. There were also concerns with regard to the sealing that had been 

applied to the doors as to whether it was suitably robust.  

 

2.0.4 Mr Jessop also expressed concerns with regard to the height of the fencing around the 

outdoor exercise area and whether the proposed isolation area was adequately constructed 

to permit cleansing and disinfection. I note that the sizing of the isolation area was accepted 

on the grounds that it would not hold residents for longer than 24 hours as per 4.1.4 of the 

model conditions. He also noted that there was no hot and cold water next to the isolation 

facility.  

 

2.0.5 The rest of Mr Jessop’s report is made up of observations as oppose to specific criticisms, 

but he advised refusal of the request to licence the premises due to the reported significant 

non-compliances. The Council licensing committee then met on the 14th of October 2020 

to consider the application by Mr Bones. It appears there were considerable delays due to 

Covid restrictions and much correspondence exchanged during that time with regard to 

those delays which does not benefit this report to rehearse  

 

2.0.6  Following some further works being conducted Mr Jones requested and commissioned a 

further inspection of the business by Mr Vlad Rimbu who reported on the 13th of October 

2020. He conducted his inspection against the criteria advised by DEFRA specifically for 

Doggy Daycare as set out in The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities involving 

Animals) Regulations 2018 which apply in England as oppose to the model conditions 

provided by Merthyr Tydfil County Council which are set out in the Animal Boarding 

Establishments Act 1963.  

 

2.0.7 Mr Rimbu found that the business was suitable for licensing provided some minor changes 

were successfully completed prior to the licence being granted and he recommended that 

the business should be licensed for between 8-13 animals at any one time.  

Page 97



 

5 

 

 

 

 

 
 
3.0  Veterinary Interpretation of the Facts of the Case. 
 

 

3.0.1 Having considered both the reports of Mr Jessop and Mr Rimbu and compared the contents 

of both it is apparent that they have conducted their inspections using different criteria. Mr 

Jessop has inspected using as a basis for his inspection the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council 

Model Conditions based on the Boarding of Animals Act 1963 but in some areas of his 

assessment has gone far beyond the requirements set out in the Model Conditions published 

by the Council.  

 

3.0.2 Mr Rimbu has conducted his inspection based on the DEFRA guidance published in respect 

of The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities involving Animals) (England) Regulations 

2018. These regulations are not in force in Wales and have not been adopted by the Welsh 

Government as this is an area of devolved responsibility.  

 

3.0.3 The Council when considering licensing Mr Bones will need to consider the results of both 

inspections and whilst there may be a view that the second inspection report can be ignored 

as it was based on the wrong inspection criteria in actual fact there are considerable 

similarities between the two and that areas of discrepancy can be divided broadly into two 

categories.  

 

3.0.4 The first discrepancies are explained by the scope and purpose of the inspections having  

altered in recent years where as previously the main purpose of the inspection has to be to 

ensure that biosecurity is fully maintained at all times in inspected and licensed premises 

housing animals with little regard to the impact that has had on the animals housed within 

them. For instance dogs were not routinely permitted to have access to grass as it was 

deemed not possible to properly cleanse and disinfect it and hence dogs were only kept on 

hard surfaces primarily concrete which could be easily and effectively disinfected. The new 

approach is to consider and protect the welfare of the dog particularly its behavioural needs 

and whilst there remains a focus on biosecurity there is also now an equal focus on the 

needs of the dog. Unfortunately, the MTCBC model conditions are based on the old style 

of inspection whereas the English approach is based on the new style of welfare based 

inspection.  

 

3.0.5 The second major difference between the two sets of inspection criteria is that the Boarding 

of Dogs licence is designed to be applied for by businesses that are running traditional 

boarding kennels whereas the English Regulations are divided into a set of general 

regulations applicable to all animal related licensable activities and then individual sections 

specifically applicable to the business type being licensed and there is a different set of 

criteria for a boarding establishment as to the criteria for a Doggy day care facility.  

Page 98



 

6 

 

 

3.0.6 It may be that the readers of this report have not had experience of doggy day care and the 

best analogy that they will have knowledge and experience of is to compare the doggy day 

care model with that of a children’s creche or nursery where parents/owners are able to 

safely leave their child/dog for the day whilst they are at work knowing that the child/dog 

will be cared for, kept safe, entertained and given opportunities for social interaction with 

members of their peer group for the duration of the day as well as the adult staff caring for 

the child/dog.  

 

3.0.7 Therefore to assist the Council in considering the position of both of these inspections I 

have set out in detail below each condition within the Model Conditions of the Council and 

put beside it the equivalent condition contained within the English Regulations for 

comparison. As the reader will determine many of the conditions are all but identical in 

their scope and requirement but that there are some obvious significant discrepancies and 

these fall into two major categories.  

 

MTCBC  Conditions DEFRA Conditions Compliance 

A copy of the licence and 
its conditions must be 
suitably displayed to the 
public in a prominent 
position in, on or about the 
boarding establishment. 

There must be appropriate 
insurance for public 
liability at the animal 
boarding establishment. 
The current Insurance 
Certificate for Public 
Liability will be made 
available at the premises 
for inspection by an 
authorised officer or 
appointed council 
veterinary practitioner. 

 

A copy of the license 
must be clearly and 
prominently displayed on 
any premises used for the 
licensed activity. 

The name of the licence 

holder followed by the 

number of the licence 

holder's licence must be 

clearly and prominently 

displayed on any website 

used in respect of the 

licensable activity 

Although currently N/A 

following a conversation 

regarding this condition; 

The proposed license holder 

is fully aware of the 

obligations surrounding 

correct display of license 

documents keeping in 

conjunction with the license 

requirements. 

 

 

3.0.8 As can be seen the requirements for the display of the licence are not applicable until such 

time that the licence is granted but Mr Bones is fully aware of his duties and the 

requirements of this section. It is notable that Mr Bones would be under no duty to display 

a copy of his licence number on any website under the Councils model conditions no doubt 

due to the fact they were written prior to the internet being in such wide spread usage.  

 

 

Page 99



 

7 

 

MTCBC  conditions DEFRA conditions  Compliance  
GENERAL 

The establishment must, 
at all times, be laid out and 
operated in accordance 
with an approved plan, to 
be attached to the licence. 
Before carrying out any 
alterations, plans must be 
submitted to and approved 
by the licensing office of 
the local authority, 

Where wood has been 
used in existing 
construction it must be 
smooth and treated to 
render it impervious. 
Wood, floors, partitions, 
doorframes or doors in the 
dog kennelling area. 
There must be no 
projections liable to cause 
injury.  

 

Fencing materials must be 
secure and safe. 

Sleeping areas of kennels 
must be so insulated as to 
prevent extremes of 
temperature. 

The construction must be 
such that security of the 
dog is ensured. 

All exterior wood must be 
properly treated against 
wood rot. Only products 
which are not toxic to 
dogs may be used. 

All internal surfaces used 
in the construction of 
walls, floors, partitions, 
doors and door frames to 

SUITABLE 

ENVIRONMENT 

 

All areas, equipment and 

appliances to which the 

animals have access must 

present minimal risks of 

injury, illness and escape. 

They must be constructed jn 

materials that are robust, 

safe and durable, in good 

repair and well maintained. 

 

Animals must be kept at all 

times in an environment 

suitable to their species and 

condition (including health 

status and age) with respect 

to— (a) their behavioural 

needs, (b) its situation, 

space, air quality, 

cleanliness and temperature, 

(c) the water quality (where 

relevant), (d) noise levels, 

(e) light levels, (f) 

ventilation. 

 

Staff must ensure that the 

animals are kept clean and 

comfortable 

 

Where appropriate for the 

species, a toileting area and 

opportunities for toileting 

must be provided. 

 

The animals must be 

transported and handled in a 

manner (including for 

example in relation to 

housing, temperature, 

ventilation and frequency) 

that protects them from pain, 

suffering, injury and disease  

 

 

 

Advised the proposed 

licensee to fit a durable and 

wipeable surface over the 

interior of the internal 

kennel door to provide 

protection against wear and 

tear from 

scratching/chewing.  

 

Advised proposed licensee 

to fill any indentations on 

the internal floors to provide 

smooth surfaces. 

 

Advised the proposed 

licensee to mount all electric 

heaters onto a higher area 

(wall) to prevent direct 

contact with animals.  

 

Advised the proposed 

licensee to dismantle current 

'small enclosures' (to the left 

of the entrance and to 

rebuild larger enclosures 

suitable for small breeds 

Page 100



 

8 

 

be durable, smooth and 
impervious. There must 
be no projections or rough 
edges liable to cause 
injury. 

 

All the animals must be 

easily accessible to staff and 

for inspection. There must 

be sufficient light for the 

staff to work effectively and 

observe the animals. 

 

All resources must be 

provided in such a way (for 

example, as regards 

frequency, location, access 

points) that minimises 

competitive behaviour or the 

dominance of individual 

animals. 

 

The animals must not be left 

unattended in any situation 

or for any period likely to 

cause them distress. 

WALLS 

 
Walls with which dogs 
may come into contact 
must be of smooth 
impervious materials, 
capable of being easily 
cleansed. Where concrete 
or other building blocks or 
bricks are used in such 
walls, they must be sealed 
so as to be smooth and 
impervious, and resealed as 
necessary. 

Junctions between vertical 
and horizontal sections 
should be coved. If 
impractical in existing 
premises, all joints must be 
sealed. 

Partition walls between 
kennels must be of solid 
construction to a minimum 
height of 1.2m (4ft). 

In new construction, in 

  

Page 101



 

9 

 

exercise runs the lower 
section of partitions in 
adjoining runs must be of 
solid construction. 

FLOORS  

 

Floors of all buildings, 

individual exercise areas, 

and kennels, must be of 

smooth, impervious 

materials, capable of being 

easily cleansed and in new 

kennels, this must 

incorporate a damp proof 

membrane. 

 

All floors of kennels and 

individual exercise areas 

must be constructed and 

maintained in such a 

condition as to prevent 

ponding of liquids. 

 

In new construction floors 

must be laid to a minimum 

fall of 1 in leading to a 

shallow drainage channel or 

effectively covered deep 

drainage channel. 

 

Communal exercise areas 

must be suitably drained but 

need not comply with 

conditions set out at point 1 

and 2 of the floor section.  

CEILINGS  

 

Ceilings must be capable of 

being easily cleansed and 

disinfected. 

  

DOORS  

 

Kennel doors must be strong 

enough to resist impact and 

scratching and must be fitted 

to be capable of being 

  

Page 102



 

10 

 

effectively secured. 

 

 Where metal bars and 

frames are used, this must be 

of suitable gauge 

(approximately IO-14) with 

spacing adequate to prevent 

dogs escaping or becoming 

entrapped. Where metal 

edging is used, this must not 

present a risk of injury to the 

dog. 

 

Door openings must be 

constructed such that the 

passage of water/waste is 

not impeded, or allowed to 

gather due to inaccessibility. 

 

WINDOWS 

 

All windows which pose a 

security risk must be escape 

proof at all times. 

 

  

DRAINAGE  
 

The establishment must be 
connected to mains drainage 
or an approved, localised 
sewage disposal system. 

  

LIGHTING  

 
During daylight hours light 
must be provided to exercise 
and sleeping areas so that all 
parts are clearly visible. 
Where practicable this must 
be natural light. 

Adequate supplementary 
lighting must be provided 
throughout the 
establishment. 

  

Page 103



 

11 

 

VENTILATION  

 
Ventilation must be provided 
to all interior areas without 
the creation of excessive, 
localised draughts in the 
bedding area. 

  

MAINTENANCE  

 
Maintenance and repair of 
the whole establishment 
must be carried out 
regularly. 

 

  

 

3.0.9 It is immediately obvious that the model conditions focus in great depths on the 

construction methods and materials required within the boarding kennels. Whilst 

undoubtedly this was an innovative and effective way of improving the standards of 

boarding establishments in 1963 with the implementation of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 

in both England and Wales and the creation of the duty of care offence under Section 9 

requiring reasonable steps to be taken to provide a suitable environment for the dogs kept 

at the establishment the potential to simplify the inspection regime whilst maintaining the 

same high standards as previously individually directed became available to licensing 

bodies. For this reason the modern inspection standards adopted by most Councils in Wales 

no longer focus in great detail on the methods of construction but instead focus on the 

welfare and needs of the dogs particularly their behavioural needs whilst within the kennels 

and this is clearly demonstrated within the points for inspection identified within the 

DEFRA regulations which whilst requiring a properly constructed and safe environment 

also deal with the behavioural needs of the dogs and there interactions with and within the 

environment in which they are housed.  

 

MTCBC  Conditions  DEFRA conditions  Compliance  

NUMBER OF ANIMALS 

PERMITTED  

 

The maximum number of 

dogs to be kept at any one 

time is x (TO BE 

DETERMINED BY THE 

LOCAL AUTHORITY). 

 

Each dog must be provided 

with a separate kennel 

except that dogs from the 

same household may share a 

USE, NUMBER AND 

TYPE OF ANIMALS  

 

No animals or types of 

animal other than those 

animals and types of animal 

specified in the licence may 

be used in relation to the 

relevant licensable activity. 

 

The number of animals kept 

for the activity at any time 

must not exceed the 

 

 

 

Although currently N/A 

following a conversation 

regarding this condition; 

The proposed license holder 

is fully aware of the 

obligations surrounding 

correct and legitimate 

functions in conjunction 

with the license. 

Page 104



 

12 

 

kennel of adequate size with 

the written consent of the 

dogs' owner. 

 

Holding kennels may be 

provided for temporarily 

kennelling a dog for not 

more than 24 hours. 

 

Holding kennels, if 

provided, must comply with 

conditions as required for 

main kennels. Holding 

kennels must be a minimum 

area of 2.3 sq.m (25 sq.ft.) 

 

No animals other than dogs 

are to be boarded within the 

licensed facilities without 

the written approval of the 

local authority. 

 

Where stray dogs are 

accepted by the kennels they 

must be kept in a separate 

area away from boarded 

dogs. 

maximum that is reasonable 

taking into account the 

facilities and staffing on any 

premises used for the 

licensable activity. 

 

3.0.10 The differences between these two sections of the inspection requirements are stark and 

this is due to the clear difference between a boarding kennels where dogs are admitted, 

housed and cared for over a number of days and nights continuously. They are housed 

individually or in family groups and all of their needs are met with the exception of exercise 

within that single kennel unit. Doggy day care works in a completely different manner in 

that the aim is to keep all the dogs in a single pack effectively with access to communal 

space and resources to allow the dogs to interact. Whilst dogs have access to individual 

space when they require it to sleep or to have some quiet time away from the pack this is 

only used for part of the time in which the dog is in day care and at the end of the day the 

dogs all return home to their normal household and there is no over-night stays permitted. 

As a result the environmental requirements particularly in relation to space requirements 

in doggy day care are completely different from that required in boarding kennels as the 

important space provision is the communal areas in which the dog will spend the vast 

majority of their time.  

 

3.0.11 I note that even within the MTCBC  model conditions they refer to the use of holding 

kennels which have a smaller size requirement than the main kennels and that the holding 

kennels can only be used for a maximum of 24 hours. It would therefore seem entirely 

Page 105



 

13 

 

permissible for all the “holding kennels” within the doggy day care unit to only need to be 

a maximum of 2.3 sq meters as the business is closed overnight and would not be keeping 

dogs overnight for clients.  

 

3.0.12 However, when using a set kennel size it takes no account of the size of the dog that you 

place in the kennel. So, for instance a Yorkshire Terrier placed in a pen of 2.3sq meters 

will have much more space available to them than a Great Dane placed in the same sized 

pen. Under the legislation as drafted there would be nothing to prevent a Great Dane being 

kept in a pen that was too small for it as long as that pen was more than 2.3sq meters and 

the dog was not kept in there for more than 24 hours. For this reason a much better 

stipulation on sizing of the individual pens would be that they must be sufficiently sized 

for the individual dog who is placed in them to be able to stand, turn around, stretch and 

lie down flat in a natural position, with sufficient space for the door to open fully. This then 

ensures that the pen size is adequate for the needs of the dog no matter what size of dog is 

provided with day care and gives Mr Bones the opportunity to install and provide a range 

of different sized pens to accommodate the range of dog breeds and sizes that he is wishing 

to offer day care to.  

 

 

3.0.13 This could be expressly written into the Conditions of the licence and a requirement for Mr 

Bones to have a procedure in place to deal with any dogs that were not collected at the end 

of the business day. For this reason the ongoing confusion over sizing of the individual 

pens which has been a major point of contention between Mr Bones and the Council 

Officers which appears to result from a misreading of the Council’s own model conditions,  

a failure to understand the details of Mr Bones business model which is now commonplace 

across the UK, along with a rigid determination to make Mr Bones business fit within a 

legislative framework that was written 57 years ago and does not reflect modern day 

methods of keeping dogs would therefore be resolved amicably and in the best interests of 

the dogs. 

 

3.0.14 There has been it seems no consideration of the fact that the provisions made by Mr Bones 

met the spacing requirements of the MTCBC model conditions if the officers took into 

account the business model of Mr Bones. By using the conditions section of the licence the 

Council has the ability to ensure that Mr Bones is unable to amend his business model 

without seeking approval from the Council for such an amendment namely that Mr Bones 

would not be able to start providing overnight care without applying for an amendment of 

his licence at which point the requirement for increased pen sizes would apply and require 

Mr Bones to modify his premises. However, the advice given to Mr Bones by Council 

Officers that his pens were too small back in January 2020 was clearly incorrect under the 

terms of the Council’s own model conditions. 

 

3.0.15 In terms of the number of individual pens that Mr Bones should be required to have due to 

the model of doggy day care he does not require one pen per dog kept in day care as the 

methodology of the model means that a single pen can be used to house more than one dog 

in a day as they are not going to be in continuous use provided that a scrupulous disinfection 

routine exists for cleaning and disinfecting a pen between dogs.  

Page 106



 

14 

 

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Unit Size, Layout and 

Exercise Facilities 

 

For new kennels each kennel 

must be provided with a 

sleeping area of at least 1.9 

sq.m (20 sq-ft.). 

 

Suitable bedding equipment 

must be provided which 

allows the dogto be 

comfortable and which is 

capable of being easily and 

adequately cleaned and 

sanitised. Such equipment 

must be sited out of 

draughts. All bedding 

material must be maintained 

in a clean, parasite free and 

dry condition 

 

For new kennels each kennel 

must be provided with an 

exercise area of at least 2.46 

sq.m (26 sq.ft) (for dogs up 

to 24 inches high at the 

shoulder) or 36 sq.ft. for 

larger dogs, which is 

separate from the bedding 

area and exclusive to that 

kennel, for free use by the 

dog at all times except at 

night. 

 

Kennels must have a 

minimum height of 1.8m 

(6ft) to facilitate adequate 

access by kennel staff for 

cleaning. 

 

Kennels and exercise areas 

must open onto secure 

corridors or other secure 

areas so that dogs are not 

SUITABLE 

ENVIRONMENT  

 

 

Each dog must be provided 

with— (a) a clean, 

comfortable and warm area 

where it can rest and sleep, 

and (b) another secure area 

in which water is provided 

and in which there is shelter. 

 

Each dog must have access 

to areas where it can— (a) 

interact safely with other 

dogs, toys and people, and 

(b) urinate and defecate. 

 

There must be an area where 

any dog can avoid seeing 

other dogs and people if it so 

chooses. 

 

 

 

During our visit on cold 

days, in which the facilities 

are not operating and no 

heating facilities on. Internal 

temperature was 13.2 

degrees celsius. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Advised a 'window' type 

area to be installed into 

internal enclosures to allow 

visual stimulation and the 

option to not see other 

animals. 

Page 107



 

15 

 

able to escape from the 

premises. 

 

Exercise areas must not be 

used as bedding areas. 

 

 

3.0.16 This section again highlights the significant difference between the current approach to 

inspecting Day care facilities and the inspection of boarding kennels due to the major 

differences in the models of the two business types. This is most apparent in the ability of 

dogs to interact with other dogs out of their family group. Such interaction is not 

permissible in a boarding kennel situation  but it is the key selling point for the day care 

model in that dogs are not kept penned in kennels all day but are allowed freedom to 

exercise, play and interact with other well socialised dogs and hence the layout and design 

of the two facilities is completely different.  

 

3.0.17 I also note with Mr Jessop’s inspection report that he states that the use of non-visual 

containment will not fulfil the needs of the dogs under Section 9 of the Animal Welfare 

Act the need for the dog to be housed with, or apart from other dogs and that he states that 

the dog needs to be able to choose whether or not to see other boarded dogs. Mr Jessop 

seems to be recognising the need to be compliant with Section 9 of the Animal Welfare 

Act but it is not referred to at all within the Merthyr Tydfil model conditions no doubt 

because they were written many years prior to the AWA being placed on the statute book. 

However Mr Jessop in making this comment also demonstrates that he has failed to 

understand the business model of Doggy Day care provision and that the only reason that 

the dogs would be housed within a pen would be to give them an opportunity for a rest or 

to sleep and that the dogs are not permanently housed within the pens. Therefore there is 

no need for the pens to offer a choice to the dogs as to whether they can see other dogs or 

not as these pens are specifically designed for the dogs to be away from other dogs and to 

meet their need to be able to spend time away from other dogs.  

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA Conditions  Compliance  

Training  

 

A written training policy 

must be provided. 

Systematic training of staff 

must be demonstrated to 

have been carried out. 

 

Supervision 

 

A fit and proper person must 

always be present to 

exercise supervision and 

deal with emergencies 

Staffing 

 

 Sufficient numbers of 

people who are competent 

for the purpose must be 

available to provide a level 

of care that ensures that the 

welfare needs of alt the 

animals are met. 

 

The licence holder or a 

designated manager and any 

staff employed to care for 

the animals must have 

 

 

The proposed licensee has 

undertaken relevant training 

courses to conjunction with 

the requirements of the 

license. The proposed 

licensee has also displayed 

an up to date policy and 

training procedures 

document for al' staff 

members 

Page 108



 

16 

 

whenever dogs are boarded 

at the premises. 

 

Dogs must be visited at 

regular intervals, as 

necessary for their health, 

safety and welfare. 

competence to identify the 

normal behaviour of the 

species for which they are 

caring and to recognise signs 

of and take appropriate 

measures to mitigate or 

prevent, pain, suffering, 

injury, disease or abnormal 

behaviour. 

 

The licence holder must 

provide and ensure the 

implementation of a written 

training policy for all staff 

  

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance 

Temperature in Kennels  

 

Heating facilities must be 

available in the KENNEL 

and used according to the 

requirements of the 

individual dog. 

 

There must be some part of 

the dogs sleeping area where 

the dog is able to enjoy a 

temperature of at least 10 

degrees Celsius (50'F) 

 

In isolation kennels, there 

should be a means of 

maintaining the temperature 

at a level suitable for the 

conditions of the dog and 

dependent on veterinary 

advice. 

 

 

Already dealt with at 

previous section.  

 

 

 

3.0.18 As can be seen the DEFRA guidance does not specify minimum and maximum 

temperatures but a minimum temperature is contained within the MTCBC  model 

conditions. I note from Mr Jessop’s inspection that he imposes a greater requirement than 

that imposed by the MTCBC  model conditions as Mr Jessop seems to be stating a 

requirement for all internal areas to have a temperature of greater than 10 degrees Celsius 

yet the Model Conditions clearly state that some part of the sleeping area must be at least 

10 degrees Celsius. Mr Jessop also introduces a maximum temperature of 26 degrees 

Page 109



 

17 

 

Celsius and this is not a requirement or stipulation within the MTCBC  model conditions. 

Mr Jessop also then goes onto  speculates with no evidence to support his speculation that 

it would be challenging for Mr Bones to maintain the establishment below Mr Jessops own 

imposed maximum temperature.  

 

3.0.19 Mr Jessop also adds a requirement that it is necessary to record maximum and minimum 

temperatures during the daytime within the establishment. This is not a requirement under 

the 1963 Act and nor is it required in the MTCBC  model conditions. It would therefore 

seem that Mr Jessop is imposing a higher standard than that set down by the Council when 

considering whether a licence should be granted particularly as there is no maximum 

temperature set down there can be no need to record the daily maximum temperature within 

the establishment.  

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Cleanliness 

 

All kennels, corridors, 

common areas, kitchens etc. 

must be kept clean and free 

from accumulations of dirt 

and dust and must be kept in 

such a manner as to be 

conducive to maintenance of 

disease control and dog 

comfort. 

 

Each occupied kennel must 

be cleansed daily. All 

excreta and soiled material 

must be removed from all 

areas used by dogs at least 

daily and more often if 

necessary. 

 

All bedding areas must be 

kept clean and dry. 

 

Each kennel must be 

thoroughly cleansed and 

disinfected and dried upon 

vacation. All fittings and 

bedding must also 

thoroughly cleansed and 

disinfected at that time. 

 

Facilities must be provided 

Suitable Environment  

 

Animals must be kept at all 

times in an environment 

suitable to their species and 

condition (including health 

status and age) with respect 

to— (a) their behavioural 

needs, (b) its situation, 

space, air quality, 

cleanliness and temperature, 

(c) the water quality (where 

relevant), (d) noise levels, 

(e) light levels, (f) 

ventilation. 

 
Staff must ensure that the 
animals are kept clean and 
comfortable 
 
Where appropriate for the 
species, a toileting area and 
opportunities for toileting 
must be provided. 
 
Written procedures must— 
(a) be in place and 
implemented covering— (i) 
feeding regimes, (ii) 
cleaning regimes, 16 (iii) 
transportation, (iv) the 
prevention of, and control of 
the spread of, disease, (v) 
monitoring and ensuring the 

 

 

Policy and procedures 

documents readily available. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 110



 

18 

 

for the proper reception, 

storage and disposal of all 

waste. Particular care should 

be taken to segregate clinical 

waste arising from the 

treatment and handling of 

dogs with infectious 

diseases. The final disposal 

route for all such waste must 

be incineration. 

 

Measures must be taken to 

minimise the risks from 

rodents, insects and other 

pests within the 

establishment. 

health and welfare of all the 
animals, (vi) the death or 
escape of an animal 
(including the storage of 
carcasses); (b) be in place 
covering the care of the 
animals following the 
suspension or revocation of 
the licence or during and 
following an emergency. 
 
 All people responsible for 
the care of the animals must 
be made fully aware of these 
procedures. 
 
All excreta and soiled 
bedding for disposal must be 
stored and disposed of in a 
hygienic manner and in 
accordance with any 
relevant legislation. 
 
Cleaning products must be 
suitable, safe, and effective 
against pathogens that pose 
a risk to the animals. They 
must be used, stored, and 
disposed of in accordance 
with the manufacturer's 
instructions and used in a 
way which prevents distress 
or suffering of the animals. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Advised of COSHH 

Cupboard. 

 

3.0.20 The reader should be aware that in complying this table the author has taken paragraphs 

from a number of sections within the DEFRA materials as there is no specific section 

dealing with this rather it is an integral part of the whole document. I note that Mr Jessops 

quotes the section regarding the safety of cleaning products from the DEFRA code virtually 

verbatim in his inspection report but this is not a requirement under the Model Conditions 

although clearly common sense states that only a product that is safe for animals would be 

used to clean and disinfect an establishment such as this one.   

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Food and Water Supplies  

 

All dogs must be adequately 

supplied with suitable food. 

Wholesome water must be 

available at all times and 

changed daily. 

Suitable Diet  

 

The animals must be 

provided with a suitable diet 

in terms of quality, quantity 

and frequency. Any new 

feeds must be introduced 

 

 

Although currently N/A due 

to business closure. The 

proposed licensee is fully 

aware of the current 

requirements proposed and 

Page 111



 

19 

 

 

Eating and drinking vessels 

must be capable of being 

easily cleansed and 

disinfected to prevent cross 

contamination. They must 

be maintained in a clean 

condition. 

 

Eating vessels must be 

cleansed after each meal. 

 

Drinking vessels must be 

cleansed at least once a day. 

 

gradually to allow the 

animals to adjust to them. 

 

Feed and (where 

appropriate) water intake 

must be monitored, and any 

problems recorded and 

addressed. 

 

Feed and drinking water 

provided to the animals must 

be unspoilt and free from 

contamination. 

 

Feed and drinking 

receptacles must be capable 

of being cleaned and 

disinfected, or disposable. 

 

Constant access to fresh, 

clean drinking water must be 

provided in a suitable 

receptacle for the species 

that require it. 

 

Any dog that requires 

specific feed due to a 

medical condition must be 

fed in isolation 

 

has displayed knowledge, 

facilities and equipment to 

uphold the requirements of 

the license. 

 

 

3.0.21 The comparative sections within the MTCBC  model conditions and the DEFRA 

conditions are very similar in many ways but the focus of the MTCBC  conditions is 

clearly on biosecurity with repeated reference to the cleansing and disinfection of the 

containers used to provide the feed and water to the dogs but no reference to ensuring that 

the dogs actually consuming sufficient food and water or monitoring to ensure that they do 

so. This reflects the change from a focus purely on biosecurity and cleanliness to one that 

whilst acknowledging the importance of those areas also focuses on the welfare and 

behaviour of the dog itself.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



 

20 

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Kitchen Facilities  

 

Exclusive facilities, 

hygienically constructed and 

maintained, must be 

provided for the storage and 

preparation of food for the 

dogs.  

 

Where fresh and cooked 

meats are stored, 

refrigeration facilities must 

be provided, and potential 

food contamination must be 

avoided. 

 

A sink with hot and cold 

water must be provided for 

the washing of food 

equipment and eating and 

drinking vessels. A separate 

wash-hand basin with hot 

and cold water must also be 

provided for staff use. 

Containers must be provided 

for the storage of foods and 

shall be so constructed and 

kept in such good order, 

repair and condition as to be 

proof against insects and 

other pests. 

Suitable Diet  

 

Where feed is prepared at 

the premises, there must be 

hygienic facilities for its 

preparation including a 

working surface, hot and 

cold running water and 

storage 

 

 

 

 

 

3.0.22 It is interesting that the Model Conditions based on legislation that is significantly old has 

more rigorous requirements for the provision of separate hand washing facilities from the 

facilities used to wash the bowls and equipment used for preparation of the feed for the 

dogs. This is likely to reflect the changing methods of feeding dogs although with the recent 

rise in the feeding of raw diets there would need to be specific conditions inserted in the 

licence to either explicitly ban the feeding of raw feed within the establishment or to require 

specific SOP’s to be in place for the feeding of this feed source to prevent potential 

contamination.  

 

 

 

 

Page 113



 

21 

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Disease Control and 

Vaccination  

 

Adequate precautions must 

be taken to prevent and 

control the spread of 

infectious and contagious 

disease and parasites 

amongst the dogs, staff and 

visitors. 

 

Proof must be provided that 

dogs boarded or resident 

have current vaccinations 

against Canine Distemper, 

Infectious Canine Hepatitis 

(Canine adenovirus), 

Leptospirosis (L.canicola 

and L.icterohaemorrhagiae) 

and Canine Parvovirus and 

other relevant diseases. The 

course of vaccination must 

have been completed at least 

four weeks before the first 

date of boarding or in 

accordance with 

manufacturer's instructions. 

A record that this proof has 

been supplied must be kept 

on site throughout the period 

that the dog is boarded. 

 

Advice from a veterinary 

surgeon must be sought in 

case of signs of disease, 

injury or illness. Where any 

dog is sick or injured any 

instructions for its treatment 

which have been given by a 

veterinary surgeon must be 

strictly followed. 

 

A well stocked first-aid kit 

suitable for use on dogs 

must be available and 

 

 

 
All reasonable precautions 
must be taken to prevent 
and control the spread 
among animals and people 
of infectious disease, 
pathogens and parasites. 
 
 
Sick or injured animals 
must receive prompt 
attention from a 
veterinarian and the advice 
of that veterinarian must be 
followed 
 
Where necessary, animals 
must receive preventative 
treatment by an 
appropriately competent 
person. 
 
The licence holder must 
register with a veterinarian 
with an appropriate level of 
experience in the health and 
welfare requirements of 
any animals specified in the 
licence and the contact 
details of that veterinarian 
must be readily available to 
all staff on the premises 
used for the licensable 
activity. 
 
Medicines other than 
prescribed medicines must 
be stored, used and 
disposed of in accordance 
with the instructions of the 
manufacturer or 
veterinarian. 
 
No person may euthanase 
an animal except a 
veterinarian or a person 
who has been authorised by 
a veterinarian as competent 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 114



 

22 

 

accessible on site. 

 

A suitable range of muzzles 

of varying sizes and a 

suitable dog catching device 

must be kept on site. 

for such purpose 
. 
All animals must be 
checked at least once daily 
or more regularly as 
necessary to check for any 
signs of pain, suffering, 
injury, disease or abnormal 
behaviour. Vulnerable 
animals must be checked 
more frequently. Any signs 
of pain, suffering, injury, 
disease or abnormal 
behaviour must be recorded 
and the advice and further 
advice (if necessary) of a 
veterinarian  must be 
sought and followed 
 
All dogs must be screened 
before being admitted to the 
premises to ensure that they 
are not afraid, anxious or 
stressed in the presence of 
other dogs or people and do 
not pose a danger to other 
dogs or staff. 
 
Any equipment used that is 
likely to be in contact with 
the dogs or any toys 
provided must not pose a 
risk of pain, suffering, 
disease or distress to the 
dog and must be correctly 
used. 
 
A register must be kept of 
all the dogs at the premises 
which must include—(a) 
the dates of each dog's 
arrival and departure; (b) 
each dog's name, age, sex, 
neuter status, microchip 
number and a description of 
it or its breed; (c) the 
number of any dogs from 
the same household; (d) a 
record of which dogs (if 
any) are from the same 
household; (e) the name, 
postal address, telephone 

This is a general stipulation 

and is enhanced by the 

stipulation that dogs must be 

supervised whilst in day care 

at all times (see below).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proposed licensee has full 

understanding of 

behavioural screening and 

documentation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Relevant registration system 

in place. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 115



 

23 

 

number and email address 
of the owner of each dog 
and emergency contact 
details; (f) in relation to 
each dog, the name, postal 
address, telephone number 
and email address of a local 
contact in an emergency; 
(g) the name and contact 
details of the dog's normal 
veterinarian and details of 
any insurance relating to 
the dog; (h) details of each 
dog's relevant medical and 
behavioural history, 
including details of any 
treatment administered 
against parasites and 
restrictions on exercise; (i) 
details of the dog's diet and 
related requirements: (j) 
consent forms; (k) a record 
of the date or dates of each 
dog's most recent 
vaccination, worming and 
flea treatments; (l) details 
of any medical treatment 
each dog is receiving 
 
The dogs must be 
supervised at all times. 
 
A preventative healthcare 
plan agreed with the 
veterinarian with whom the 
licence holder has 
registered under paragraph 
9(8) of Schedule 2 must be 
implemented.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Registration in place and 

agreement of the provision 

of veterinary healthcare.  

 

 

3.0.23 It is highly apparent that the level of requirement under the DEFRA legislation as oppose 

to that required under the MTCBC  Model conditions is massively increased and this 

reflects the move away from merely inspecting to ensure physical security and biosecurity 

of the premises to recognising the need to ensure the welfare of the animals that are kept 

at the premises is also met.  

 

3.0.24 Mr Jessop expressed concerns that the doggy day care shared a common entrance way with 

the grooming and hydrotherapy facilities at the location. I am instructed that is not the case 

and that the day care has a completely separated entrance and exit from the grooming and 

Page 116



 

24 

 

hydrotherapy facilities and hence there is no biosecurity risk in respect of accessing the 

range of facilities available on site.  

 

 

 

 

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Isolation  

 

Isolation facilities must be 

provided. 

In existing facilities these 

isolation facilities must be in 

compliance with the other 

boarding requirements but 

must be separate and 

physically isolated from the 

main kennels. This must be 

a minimum 5m (15ft.). (See 

also temperature control.) 

 

Adequate facilities to 

prevent the spread of 

infectious disease between 

the isolation kennel and 

other kennels, must be 

provided. 

 

Hands must be washed after 

leaving the isolation 

facilities before visiting the 

other kennels. 

 

 

All people responsible for 

the care of the animals must 

be made fully aware of these 

procedures. 

 

Appropriate isolation, in 

separate self-contained 

facilities, must be available 

for the care of sick, injured 

or potentially infectious 

animals. 

 

Dogs which need to be 

isolated from other dogs 

must be provided with 

alternative forms of mental 

stimulation. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Provided.  

 

 

 

 

 

Isolation area has a vast 

range of toys and 

stimulation 

 

3.0.25 Isolation is the area which has the greatest discrepancy between the MTCBC  model 

conditions and the DEFRA criteria. This reflects the difference between a boarding 

kennel situation and a Doggy Day care operation where the fact that the dog is presented 

at the start of each day and is therefore assessed as fit to enter the day care that day makes 

it much less likely that a dog is going to develop ill health through the duration of the stay 

in comparison to a boarding establishment where the dog is dropped off and then three 

days into the stay starts showing signs of ill health.  

 

3.0.26 In reality if a dog becomes unwell in day care then immediate attempts are going to be 

made to return the dog to its owner so as to allow the owner to seek veterinary care for 

the dog and the dog will not be permitted re-entry to the day care until a veterinary 

surgeon has confirmed that it is fit to be allowed re-entry. Therefore, the requirement for 

Page 117



 

25 

 

isolation facilities although needed are much less likely to be utilised in day care over a 

traditional boarding kennels.  

 

3.0.27 I note that Mr Jessop having inspected the isolation facilities in February was content that 

the proximity of the facilities was compliant as long as a proper detailed and robust barrier 

nursing protocol was put in place and signed off by the registered veterinary surgeon.  

 

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Register 

 

Must be kept of all dogs 

boarded. The information 

kept must include the 

following:  date of arrival 

name of dog, 

 any identification system 

such as microchip, number 

or tattoo    

description, breed, age and 

gender of dog    

name, address and telephone 

number of owner or keeper   

name, 

 address and telephone 

number of contact person 

whilst boarded, 

 name, address and 

telephone number of dog's 

veterinary surgeon    

anticipated and actual date 

of departure   

 health, welfare and 

nutrition requirements. 

 

The register must be kept 

readily available for a 

minimum of 24 months and 

kept in such a manner as to 

allow an authorised officer 

easy access to such 

information. 

 

Where records are 

computerised, a back-up 

copy must be kept. The 

Records 

 

The licence holder must 

ensure that at any time all 

the records that the licence 

holder is required to keep as 

a condition of the licence are 

available for inspection by 

an inspector in a visible and 

legible form or, where any 

such records are stored in 

electronic form, in a form 

from which they can readily 

be produced in a visible and 

legible form. 

 

The licence holder must 

keep all such records for at 

least three years beginning 

with the date on which the 

record was created 

 

A register must be kept of 

all the dogs at the premises 

which must include— (a) 

the dates of each dog's 

arrival and departure; (b) 

each dog's name, age, sex, 

neuter status, microchip 

number and a description of 

it or its breed; (c) the 

number of any dogs from 

the same household; (d) a 

record of which dogs (if 

any) are from the same 

household; (e) the name, 

postal address, telephone 

 

 

Although currently N/A 

following a conversation 

regarding this condition; 

The proposed license holder 

is fully aware of the 

obligations surrounding 

correct and legitimate record 

keeping in conjunction with 

the license requirements. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Relevant registration system 

in place. 

Page 118



 

26 

 

register must also be 

available to key members of 

staff of the establishment at 

all times. 

number and email address of 

the owner of each dog and 

emergency contact details; 

(f) in relation to each dog, 

the name, postal address, 

telephone number and email 

address of a local contact in 

an emergency; (g) the name 

and contact details of the 

dog's normal veterinarian 

and details of any insurance 

relating to the dog; (h) 

details of each dog's relevant 

medical and behavioural 

history, including details of 

any treatment administered 

against parasites and 

restrictions on exercise; (i) 

details of the dog's diet and 

related requirements: (j) 

consent forms; (k) a record 

of the date or dates of each 

dog's most recent 

vaccination, worming and 

flea treatments; (l) details of 

any medical treatment each 

dog is receiving 

 

 

 

 

3.0.28 The basis of the two sections within the different legislation are effectively identical and 

Mr Bones is compliant with both or has systems in place to ensure compliance with both 

where they are not already being used in other parts of his business.  

 

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Identification of kennels  

 

Each kennel must be clearly 

marked (e.g. numbered), and 

a system in place which 

ensures that relevant 

information about the dog in 

that kennel is readily 

available. 

No equivalent requirement  

Page 119



 

27 

 

  

 

 

3.0.29 This condition is not applicable to a Doggy Day care business as the dogs are not kept in 

individual kennels as would occur in a Boarding Establishment hence there is no 

opportunity or need to label and identify individual kennels and this reflects the 

inappropriateness of trying to licence a Doggy Day care using the Boarding Establishment 

Model Conditions.  

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Supervision  

 

A fit and proper person must 

always be present to 

exercise supervision and 

deal with emergencies 

whenever dogs are boarded 

at the premises. 

Dogs must be visited at 

regular intervals, as 

necessary for their health, 

safety and welfare. 

 

 

Sufficient numbers of 

people who are competent 

for the purpose must be 

available to provide a level 

of care that ensures that the 

welfare needs of all the 

animals are met. 

 

The licence holder or a 

designated manager and any 

staff employed to care for 

the animals must have 

competence to identify the 

normal behaviour of the 

species for which they are 

caring and to recognise signs 

of and take appropriate 

measures to mitigate or 

prevent, pain, suffering, 

injury, disease or abnormal 

behaviour. 

 

The dogs must be supervised 

at all times. 

 

 

3.0.30 This is another very significant difference between the requirements imposed on a Doggy 

Day care facility and that imposed on a Boarding Kennels in that the licensed kennels must 

visit at sufficiently regular intervals yet the Doggy Day care must ensure that the dogs are 

constantly supervised.  

 

 

 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  

Fire Precautions  Emergencies   

Page 120



 

28 

 

 

Appropriate steps must be 

taken for the protection of 

the do in case of fire or other 

emergencies. 

 

A proper emergency 

evacuation plan and fire 

warning procedure must be 

drawn up and posted on the 

premises. This must include 

instructions to where dogs 

are to be evacuated in the 

event of a fire or other 

emergency. 

 

Fire fighting equipment 

must be provided in 

accordance with advice 

given by the Fire Prevention 

Officer. 

 

All electrical installations 

and appliances must be 

maintained in a safe 

condition. There must be a 

residual current circuit 

breaker system on each 

block of kennels. 

 

Heating appliances must not 

be sited in a location or 

manner where they may 

present a risk of fire, or risk 

to dogs. 

 

Precautions must be taken to 

prevent any accumulation 

which may present a risk of 

fire. 

 

There must be adequate 

means of raising an alarm in 

the event of fire or other 

emergency. 

 

 A written emergency plan, 

acceptable to the local 

authority, must be in place, 

known and available to all 

the people on the premises 

used for the licensable 

activity, and followed where 

necessary to ensure 

appropriate steps are taken 

to protect al' the people and 

animals on the premises in 

case of fire or in case of 

breakdowns for essential 

heating, ventilation and 

aeration or filtration systems 

or other emergencies. 

 

The plan must include 

details of the emergency 

measures to be taken for the 

extrication of the animals 

should the premises become 

uninhabitable and an 

emergency telephone list 

that includes the fire service 

and police. 

 

External doors and gates 

must be lockable. 

 

A designated key holder 

with access to all animal 

areas must at all times be 

within reasonable travel 

distance of the premises and 

available to attend in an 

emergency 

 

Documents and policies 

readily available when 

requested. 

 

Page 121



 

29 

 

 

3.0.31 These two sets of requirements are fundamentally identical, and Mr Bones was found to 

be compliant with these at inspection.   

 

3.0.32 As can be seen when the inspection criteria are compared that they are in effect very similar 

and where there are differences, they are invariably caused by the difference between the 

business models.  

 

3.0.33 As it is apparent that Mr Bones was compliant with almost all criteria in the most recent 

inspection and that the reported non-compliances raised by Mr Jessop are either  

incorrectly raised when considered against the actual criteria within the MTCBC model 

conditions including the request for Mr Bones to resize all his pens unnecessarily at 

considerable financial cost to Mr Bones and his business or have now been resolved at or 

following the second inspection. It would therefore be my expert recommendation that Mr 

Bones should be granted a licence at the earliest possible opportunity even though the 

licence will have to be granted as a Boarding Licence and that the licence should have as 

additional conditions the relevant conditions taken from the DEFRA schedule relating to 

Doggy day care provision making clear where those conditions are in contradiction to the 

model conditions for boarding kennels that the additional conditions override the 

conditions contained with the model conditions or printed within the body of the licence.  

 

 

 

 

4.0 Professional Opinions and Conclusions 
 

4.0.1 As it is apparent that Mr Bones was compliant with almost all criteria in the most recent 

inspection and that the reported non-compliances raised by Mr Jessop are either  

incorrectly raised when considered against the actual criteria within the MTCBC model 

conditions including the request for Mr Bones to resize all his pens unnecessarily at 

considerable financial cost to Mr Bones and his business or have now been resolved at or 

following the second inspection. It would therefore be my expert recommendation that Mr 

Bones should be granted a licence at the earliest possible opportunity even though the 

licence will have to be granted as a Boarding Licence and that the licence should have as 

additional conditions the relevant conditions taken from the DEFRA schedule relating to 

Doggy day care provision making clear where those conditions are in contradiction to the 

model conditions for boarding kennels that the additional conditions override the 

conditions contained with the model conditions or printed within the body of the licence.  

 

4.0.2 Taking into consideration the size of the premises, the facilities available including the 

number of pens available for dogs to be allowed some time to rest it is my expert opinion 

that the facility can be licensed for 18 dogs subject to the conditions on the licence as set 

out above.  

 

 

Page 122



 

30 

 

 

SIGNED   Date 23rd November 2020  

Page 123



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

VETERINARY REPORT 
An independent expert veterinary report regarding a license application for Doggy 

Day Care by Dogsden Daycare Ltd. 

 
  

NOVEMBER 23, 2020 
DAVID MARTIN BVSC MRCVS 

Brownlow Vet Group, Ellesmere Business Park, Ellesmere, Shropshire SY12 0EW 

Page 125

hughea1_22
Text Box
APPENDIX Q



 

1 
 

 

EXPERT WITNESS REPORT  
 

 
 

Contents 
1.0  Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 2 

1.2 My Instructions in this Case .......................................................................................... 2 

1.3 Summary of the Case .................................................................................................... 2 

1.4 Summary of My Conclusions in this Case ................................................................. 3 

2.0  Chronology of the Case. ................................................................................................... 3 

3.0  Veterinary Interpretation of the Facts of the Case. ................................................... 5 

4.0 Professional Opinions and Conclusions .................................................................... 29 

 

  

Page 126



 

2 
 

 

1.0  Introduction 
 
1.1 The Writer 
 
1.1.1 I am David Martin. I am a qualified Veterinary Surgeon. I graduated from the University 

of Liverpool as a Bachelor of Veterinary Science with honours and I have held membership 
of the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons since that time. On qualification I was 
employed as an associate of the Brownlow Veterinary Group and since January 2004 I have 
been a partner. In 2013 the practice converted to a Limited Company and I became a 
Director of the practice. In 2016 the practice was sold to Independent Vet Care and I 
became a Clinical Director of the practice. In 2018 I was asked to support other practices 
within Independent Vet Care with respect to Animal Welfare.  

 
1.1.2 The Brownlow Veterinary Group provides veterinary services to the full range of pets, farm 

animals and equines through three centres.  
 
1.1.3 I regularly undertake expert witness instructions in all of the major domestic and 

agricultural animals both for prosecution and defence in the fields of animal welfare and 
veterinary science.  

 
 
 
 
1.2 My Instructions in this Case  
 
1.2.1 I am instructed to consider the papers supplied to me including the veterinary reports of 

inspections conducted at the property and to prepare a report as to whether the facilities 
provided by Dogsden Day Care Ltd are suitable to be granted a licence for that purpose.  

 

1.3 Summary of the Case 
 
1.3.1 Mr Julian Bones trading as Dogsden Daycare Ltd has previously applied for a licence to 

run his business in Merthyr Tydfil which has so far been rejected based on a veterinary 
recommendation by Mr Mike Jessop.  

 
1.3.2 A further veterinary report is now available following a second independent veterinary 

inspection and I have been instructed to review both reports as well as the model conditions 
for licensing issued by Methyr Tydfil Council and to provide an expert opinion as to 
whether Mr Bones’ business is suitable for licensing.  

 
 

Page 127



 

3 
 

  

1.4 Summary of My Conclusions in this Case  
 
1.4.1 It is my expert opinion that the model conditions issued by Merthyr Tydfil Council do not 

specifically address the business model that is now common in the UK and which Mr Bones 
seeks to operate namely that of providing day care to clients dogs with the only licence 
category available for Mr Bones to apply for being that of a full Boarding Kennels Licence. 
This is now uncommon with most Councils in the UK now providing a specific licence for 
this type of business based on criteria established and published by DEFRA. 

  
 
1.5 Sources of information used in the formation of this report.  
 
1.5.1 A timeline of events prepared by Mr Julian Bones   
 
1.5.2 An inspection report completed by Mr Mike Jessop Veterinary Surgeon on the 1st of March 
 2020.   
 
1.5.3 An inspection report completed by Mr Vlad Rimbu on the 13th of October 2020  
 
1.5.4 A copy of the Standard Conditions for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council in respect 

of the Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963  
 
1.5.5 A copy of the licensing conditions and guidance for Day care of dogs in respect of 

Monmouthshire County Council.  
 
1.5.6 Licence Conditions for Commercial Day Care / Creche Facilities for Dogs from the Shared 

Regulatory Authority (Bridgend, Cardiff and Vale of Glamorgan).  
 
1.5.7 Day care dog boarding kennels licence condition for the City and Council of Swansea.  
 
 
 

2.0  Chronology of the Case. 
 
2.0.1 Mr Julian Bones made an application to be licensed as a Doggy Daycare business on the 

8th of January having had correspondence with the Council Officers who had drawn to his 
attention that although there were specific regulations and licensing pertaining to Doggy 
Day Care in England that there were not similar regulations in Wales and hence Mr Bones 
would have to apply for a Boarding Licence and conform with the model conditions for 
that licence.  

 
 
2.0.2 As part of that application the Council instructed a veterinary surgeon Mr Mike Jessop to 

Commented [MJ1]: Whislt correct, DM fails to recognise 
that Wales has a different regulatory regime and doggy day 
care is not a novel business model in Merthyr Tydfil, 
conditions do exist and businesses need to comply with the 
local regulations PLUS, as keepers of animals must comply 
with the 2006 Animal Welfare Act. 

Page 128



 

4 
 

attend Dogsden Daycare and conduct an inspection which was performed on the 14th of 
January when the site was still having extensive work conducted and hence it was not 
possible to conduct the inspection properly. At that time Mr Jessop informed Mr Bones 
that the size of the enclosures were too small to achieve compliance and that as the isolation 
room was in the same room as the other dogs that this would again rule out compliance so 
the inspection was stopped with advice being given that the isolation unit must be separated 
and 5m away from the main pens/enclosures.  

  
2.0.3 On the 15th of January a meeting was held with Mr Jones at which it was suggested that he 

could apply for a licence permitting less dogs to be housed and then expand it over time if 
that was successful. Discussions continued with Mr Jones through January and February 
2020 and a second inspection was arranged for the 24th of February 2020 by Mr Mike 
Jessop   

 
2.0.4 At that time Mr Jones had applied for a licence for 5 dogs and the pens that were present 

conformed in size to the required pen sizes for use by dogs housed for boarding as per the 
Council model conditions. Mr Jessop however raised concerns in respect of the covering 
of the doors around the hinge area as to whether it would permit the ingress of water into 
the underlying wood. There were also concerns with regard to the sealing that had been 
applied to the doors as to whether it was suitably robust.  

 
2.0.4 Mr Jessop also expressed concerns with regard to the height of the fencing around the 

outdoor exercise area and whether the proposed isolation area was adequately constructed 
to permit cleansing and disinfection. I note that the sizing of the isolation area was accepted 
on the grounds that it would not hold residents for longer than 24 hours as per 4.1.4 of the 
model conditions. He also noted that there was no hot and cold water next to the isolation 
facility.  

 
2.0.5 The rest of Mr Jessop’s report is made up of observations as oppose to specific criticisms, 

but he advised refusal of the request to licence the premises due to the reported significant 
non-compliances. The Council licensing committee then met on the 14th of October 2020 
to consider the application by Mr Bones. It appears there were considerable delays due to 
Covid restrictions and much correspondence exchanged during that time with regard to 
those delays which does not benefit this report to rehearse  

 
2.0.6  Following some further works being conducted Mr Jones requested and commissioned a 

further inspection of the business by Mr Vlad Rimbu who reported on the 13th of October 
2020. He conducted his inspection against the criteria advised by DEFRA specifically for 
Doggy Daycare as set out in The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities involving 
Animals) Regulations 2018 which apply in England as oppose to the model conditions 
provided by Merthyr Tydfil County Council which are set out in the Animal Boarding 
Establishments Act 1963.  

 
2.0.7 Mr Rimbu found that the business was suitable for licensing provided some minor changes 

were successfully completed prior to the licence being granted and he recommended that 
the business should be licensed for between 8-13 animals at any one time.  

Commented [MJ2]: This assumption is incorrect and there 
were far more non-compliance issues at that time than simply 
a lack of isolation and small kennels. 

Commented [MJ3]: These were not minor non-
compliances 

Page 129



 

5 
 

 
 
 

 
 
3.0  Veterinary Interpretation of the Facts of the Case. 
 

 
3.0.1 Having considered both the reports of Mr Jessop and Mr Rimbu and compared the contents 

of both it is apparent that they have conducted their inspections using different criteria. Mr 
Jessop has inspected using as a basis for his inspection the Merthyr Tydfil Borough Council 
Model Conditions based on the Boarding of Animals Act 1963 but in some areas of his 
assessment has gone far beyond the requirements set out in the Model Conditions published 
by the Council.  

 
3.0.2 Mr Rimbu has conducted his inspection based on the DEFRA guidance published in respect 

of The Animal Welfare (Licensing of Activities involving Animals) (England) Regulations 
2018. These regulations are not in force in Wales and have not been adopted by the Welsh 
Government as this is an area of devolved responsibility.  

 
3.0.3 The Council when considering licensing Mr Bones will need to consider the results of both 

inspections and whilst there may be a view that the second inspection report can be ignored 
as it was based on the wrong inspection criteria in actual fact there are considerable 
similarities between the two and that areas of discrepancy can be divided broadly into two 
categories.  

 
3.0.4 The first discrepancies are explained by the scope and purpose of the inspections having  

altered in recent years where as previously the main purpose of the inspection has to be to 
ensure that biosecurity is fully maintained at all times in inspected and licensed premises 
housing animals with little regard to the impact that has had on the animals housed within 
them. For instance dogs were not routinely permitted to have access to grass as it was 
deemed not possible to properly cleanse and disinfect it and hence dogs were only kept on 
hard surfaces primarily concrete which could be easily and effectively disinfected. The new 
approach is to consider and protect the welfare of the dog particularly its behavioural needs 
and whilst there remains a focus on biosecurity there is also now an equal focus on the 
needs of the dog. Unfortunately, the MTCBC model conditions are based on the old style 
of inspection whereas the English approach is based on the new style of welfare based 
inspection.  

 
3.0.5 The second major difference between the two sets of inspection criteria is that the Boarding 

of Dogs licence is designed to be applied for by businesses that are running traditional 
boarding kennels whereas the English Regulations are divided into a set of general 
regulations applicable to all animal related licensable activities and then individual sections 
specifically applicable to the business type being licensed and there is a different set of 
criteria for a boarding establishment as to the criteria for a Doggy day care facility.  

Commented [MJ4]: This is incorrect and fails here to 
acknowledge the animal welfare act even though DM later 
advises that the AWA should be followed. 

Commented [MJ5]: Correct and therefore the inspection 
was non-applicable to Dogsden. I note that DM has failed to 
notice that the inspection by Mr Rimbu was also deficient to 
the conditions laid out for England. 

Commented [MJ6]: This is incorrect and highlights a 
degree of superiority by DM that he has powers to instruct a 
Local Authority in another Country. MTCBC have every 
right to ignore the inappropriate inspection report of Mr. 
Rimbu. It is based on the wrong criteria and is deficient in its 
application of the English criteria 

Commented [MJ7]: This is incorrect and yet again DM has 
failed to realise that Wales has a different licence regime to 
England. He fails also to note that England only adopted their 
new conditions in 2018 and only started inspecting to those 
conditions in 2019 and have had to revise their conditions in 
light of first year inspections. To accuse wales of having “old 
style” inspection criteria is irrelevant to this discussion and 
continues the impression that his (and England’s) standards 
are somehow superior. 
It is evident later in his report that DM does not have access 
to the latest DEFRA guidance and is basing his criticism on 
the now outdated early versions of the DEFRA guidance. It is 
apparent that he is using old-style DEFRA guidance. 
Dogsden must comply with MTCBC Conditions plus the 
AWA. It is not the remit of this discussion to compare and 
contrast regulations of different countries. 

Commented [MJ8]: They may well be differently written 
and applied to variations on boarding types but in Wales, 
there is only one Act and compliance is required. MTCBC are 
perfectly capable of adapting the conditions to the various 
business models such as traditional commercial boarding, 
home boarding and day-care boarding. They have been doing 
so successfully for many years. 

Page 130



 

6 
 

 
3.0.6 It may be that the readers of this report have not had experience of doggy day care and the 

best analogy that they will have knowledge and experience of is to compare the doggy day 
care model with that of a children’s creche or nursery where parents/owners are able to 
safely leave their child/dog for the day whilst they are at work knowing that the child/dog 
will be cared for, kept safe, entertained and given opportunities for social interaction with 
members of their peer group for the duration of the day as well as the adult staff caring for 
the child/dog.  

 
3.0.7 Therefore to assist the Council in considering the position of both of these inspections I 

have set out in detail below each condition within the Model Conditions of the Council and 
put beside it the equivalent condition contained within the English Regulations for 
comparison. As the reader will determine many of the conditions are all but identical in 
their scope and requirement but that there are some obvious significant discrepancies and 
these fall into two major categories.  

 
MTCBC  Conditions DEFRA Conditions Compliance 
A copy of the licence and 
its conditions must be 
suitably displayed to the 
public in a prominent 
position in, on or about the 
boarding establishment. 

There must be appropriate 
insurance for public 
liability at the animal 
boarding establishment. 
The current Insurance 
Certificate for Public 
Liability will be made 
available at the premises 
for inspection by an 
authorised officer or 
appointed council 
veterinary practitioner. 

 

A copy of the license 
must be clearly and 
prominently displayed on 
any premises used for the 
licensed activity. 

The name of the licence 
holder followed by the 
number of the licence 
holder's licence must be 
clearly and prominently 
displayed on any website 
used in respect of the 
licensable activity 

Although currently N/A 
following a conversation 
regarding this condition; 
The proposed license holder 
is fully aware of the 
obligations surrounding 
correct display of license 
documents keeping in 
conjunction with the license 
requirements. 

 
 
3.0.8 As can be seen the requirements for the display of the licence are not applicable until such 

time that the licence is granted but Mr Bones is fully aware of his duties and the 
requirements of this section. It is notable that Mr Bones would be under no duty to display 
a copy of his licence number on any website under the Councils model conditions no doubt 
due to the fact they were written prior to the internet being in such wide spread usage.  

 
 

Commented [MJ9]: Taken with the comments in 3.0.6 it 
implies that his “readers” are MTCBC Licencing officers and 
committee. Such highhandedness is uncalled for in an Expert 
report. 

Commented [MJ10]: DM continues his position of 
superior expertise. It is not his role to assist MTCBC. He has 
not been appointed as an inspector. 

Commented [MJ11]: This is reporting the obvious 

Page 131



 

7 
 

MTCBC  conditions DEFRA conditions  Compliance  
GENERAL 

The establishment must, 
at all times, be laid out and 
operated in accordance 
with an approved plan, to 
be attached to the licence. 
Before carrying out any 
alterations, plans must be 
submitted to and approved 
by the licensing office of 
the local authority, 

Where wood has been 
used in existing 
construction it must be 
smooth and treated to 
render it impervious. 
Wood, floors, partitions, 
doorframes or doors in the 
dog kennelling area. 
There must be no 
projections liable to cause 
injury.  

 

Fencing materials must be 
secure and safe. 

Sleeping areas of kennels 
must be so insulated as to 
prevent extremes of 
temperature. 

The construction must be 
such that security of the 
dog is ensured. 

All exterior wood must be 
properly treated against 
wood rot. Only products 
which are not toxic to 
dogs may be used. 

All internal surfaces used 
in the construction of 
walls, floors, partitions, 
doors and door frames to 

SUITABLE 
ENVIRONMENT 

 
All areas, equipment and 
appliances to which the 
animals have access must 
present minimal risks of 
injury, illness and escape. 
They must be constructed jn 
materials that are robust, 
safe and durable, in good 
repair and well maintained. 
 
Animals must be kept at all 
times in an environment 
suitable to their species and 
condition (including health 
status and age) with respect 
to— (a) their behavioural 
needs, (b) its situation, 
space, air quality, 
cleanliness and temperature, 
(c) the water quality (where 
relevant), (d) noise levels, 
(e) light levels, (f) 
ventilation. 
 
Staff must ensure that the 
animals are kept clean and 
comfortable 
 
Where appropriate for the 
species, a toileting area and 
opportunities for toileting 
must be provided. 
 
The animals must be 
transported and handled in a 
manner (including for 
example in relation to 
housing, temperature, 
ventilation and frequency) 
that protects them from pain, 
suffering, injury and disease  
 

 
 
Advised the proposed 
licensee to fit a durable and 
wipeable surface over the 
interior of the internal 
kennel door to provide 
protection against wear and 
tear from 
scratching/chewing.  
 
Advised proposed licensee 
to fill any indentations on 
the internal floors to provide 
smooth surfaces. 
 
Advised the proposed 
licensee to mount all electric 
heaters onto a higher area 
(wall) to prevent direct 
contact with animals.  
 
Advised the proposed 
licensee to dismantle current 
'small enclosures' (to the left 
of the entrance and to 
rebuild larger enclosures 
suitable for small breeds 

Page 132



 

8 
 

be durable, smooth and 
impervious. There must 
be no projections or rough 
edges liable to cause 
injury. 

 

All the animals must be 
easily accessible to staff and 
for inspection. There must 
be sufficient light for the 
staff to work effectively and 
observe the animals. 
 
All resources must be 
provided in such a way (for 
example, as regards 
frequency, location, access 
points) that minimises 
competitive behaviour or the 
dominance of individual 
animals. 
 
The animals must not be left 
unattended in any situation 
or for any period likely to 
cause them distress. 

WALLS 
 
Walls with which dogs 
may come into contact 
must be of smooth 
impervious materials, 
capable of being easily 
cleansed. Where concrete 
or other building blocks or 
bricks are used in such 
walls, they must be sealed 
so as to be smooth and 
impervious, and resealed as 
necessary. 

Junctions between vertical 
and horizontal sections 
should be coved. If 
impractical in existing 
premises, all joints must be 
sealed. 

Partition walls between 
kennels must be of solid 
construction to a minimum 
height of 1.2m (4ft). 

In new construction, in 

  

Page 133



 

9 
 

exercise runs the lower 
section of partitions in 
adjoining runs must be of 
solid construction. 

FLOORS  
 
Floors of all buildings, 
individual exercise areas, 
and kennels, must be of 
smooth, impervious 
materials, capable of being 
easily cleansed and in new 
kennels, this must 
incorporate a damp proof 
membrane. 
 
All floors of kennels and 
individual exercise areas 
must be constructed and 
maintained in such a 
condition as to prevent 
ponding of liquids. 
 
In new construction floors 
must be laid to a minimum 
fall of 1 in leading to a 
shallow drainage channel or 
effectively covered deep 
drainage channel. 
 
Communal exercise areas 
must be suitably drained but 
need not comply with 
conditions set out at point 1 
and 2 of the floor section.  
CEILINGS  
 
Ceilings must be capable of 
being easily cleansed and 
disinfected. 

  

DOORS  
 
Kennel doors must be strong 
enough to resist impact and 
scratching and must be fitted 
to be capable of being 

  

Page 134



 

10 
 

effectively secured. 
 
 Where metal bars and 
frames are used, this must be 
of suitable gauge 
(approximately IO-14) with 
spacing adequate to prevent 
dogs escaping or becoming 
entrapped. Where metal 
edging is used, this must not 
present a risk of injury to the 
dog. 
 
Door openings must be 
constructed such that the 
passage of water/waste is 
not impeded, or allowed to 
gather due to inaccessibility. 
 
WINDOWS 
 
All windows which pose a 
security risk must be escape 
proof at all times. 
 

  

DRAINAGE  
 

The establishment must be 
connected to mains drainage 
or an approved, localised 
sewage disposal system. 

  

LIGHTING  
 
During daylight hours light 
must be provided to exercise 
and sleeping areas so that all 
parts are clearly visible. 
Where practicable this must 
be natural light. 

Adequate supplementary 
lighting must be provided 
throughout the 
establishment. 

  

Page 135



 

11 
 

VENTILATION  
 
Ventilation must be provided 
to all interior areas without 
the creation of excessive, 
localised draughts in the 
bedding area. 

  

MAINTENANCE  
 
Maintenance and repair of 
the whole establishment 
must be carried out 
regularly. 

 

  

 
3.0.9 It is immediately obvious that the model conditions focus in great depths on the 

construction methods and materials required within the boarding kennels. Whilst 
undoubtedly this was an innovative and effective way of improving the standards of 
boarding establishments in 1963 with the implementation of the Animal Welfare Act 2006 
in both England and Wales and the creation of the duty of care offence under Section 9 
requiring reasonable steps to be taken to provide a suitable environment for the dogs kept 
at the establishment the potential to simplify the inspection regime whilst maintaining the 
same high standards as previously individually directed became available to licensing 
bodies. For this reason the modern inspection standards adopted by most Councils in Wales 
no longer focus in great detail on the methods of construction but instead focus on the 
welfare and needs of the dogs particularly their behavioural needs whilst within the kennels 
and this is clearly demonstrated within the points for inspection identified within the 
DEFRA regulations which whilst requiring a properly constructed and safe environment 
also deal with the behavioural needs of the dogs and there interactions with and within the 
environment in which they are housed.  

 
MTCBC  Conditions  DEFRA conditions  Compliance  
NUMBER OF ANIMALS 
PERMITTED  
 
The maximum number of 
dogs to be kept at any one 
time is x (TO BE 
DETERMINED BY THE 
LOCAL AUTHORITY). 
 
Each dog must be provided 
with a separate kennel 
except that dogs from the 
same household may share a 

USE, NUMBER AND 
TYPE OF ANIMALS  
 
No animals or types of 
animal other than those 
animals and types of animal 
specified in the licence may 
be used in relation to the 
relevant licensable activity. 
 
The number of animals kept 
for the activity at any time 
must not exceed the 

 
 
 
Although currently N/A 
following a conversation 
regarding this condition; 
The proposed license holder 
is fully aware of the 
obligations surrounding 
correct and legitimate 
functions in conjunction 
with the license. 

Commented [MJ12]: Which is why Dogsden was similarly 
inspected but when a building is evidently difficult to heat or 
cool and when construction materials are disused wooden 
pallets not designed for commercial construction and 
featherboard, there needs to be a detailed inspection of 
materials. The safety and durability of the materials are 
essential requirements. 

Commented [MJ13]: It seems that DM is conveniently 
ignoring the detailed guidance attached to the English 
inspection requirements. There is plenty of detail about mesh 
sizes, timber requirements, gaps and apertures, paths and 
gardens, drainage etc etc 

Page 136



 

12 
 

kennel of adequate size with 
the written consent of the 
dogs' owner. 
 
Holding kennels may be 
provided for temporarily 
kennelling a dog for not 
more than 24 hours. 
 
Holding kennels, if 
provided, must comply with 
conditions as required for 
main kennels. Holding 
kennels must be a minimum 
area of 2.3 sq.m (25 sq.ft.) 
 
No animals other than dogs 
are to be boarded within the 
licensed facilities without 
the written approval of the 
local authority. 
 
Where stray dogs are 
accepted by the kennels they 
must be kept in a separate 
area away from boarded 
dogs. 

maximum that is reasonable 
taking into account the 
facilities and staffing on any 
premises used for the 
licensable activity. 

 
3.0.10 The differences between these two sections of the inspection requirements are stark and 

this is due to the clear difference between a boarding kennels where dogs are admitted, 
housed and cared for over a number of days and nights continuously. They are housed 
individually or in family groups and all of their needs are met with the exception of exercise 
within that single kennel unit. Doggy day care works in a completely different manner in 
that the aim is to keep all the dogs in a single pack effectively with access to communal 
space and resources to allow the dogs to interact. Whilst dogs have access to individual 
space when they require it to sleep or to have some quiet time away from the pack this is 
only used for part of the time in which the dog is in day care and at the end of the day the 
dogs all return home to their normal household and there is no over-night stays permitted. 
As a result the environmental requirements particularly in relation to space requirements 
in doggy day care are completely different from that required in boarding kennels as the 
important space provision is the communal areas in which the dog will spend the vast 
majority of their time.  

 
3.0.11 I note that even within the MTCBC  model conditions they refer to the use of holding 

kennels which have a smaller size requirement than the main kennels and that the holding 
kennels can only be used for a maximum of 24 hours. It would therefore seem entirely 

Commented [MJ14]: There is no disagreement with any of 
this. DM has failed to note that there is a space requirement 
for the English regulations at 6sqm per dog as a minimum. 
Likewise, it is perfectly reasonable for MTCBC to ask for 
dogs to have their own space. There is nothing peculiar about 
this in relation to Daycare Boarding and it is in keeping with 
one of the 5 needs as laid out in section 9 (2)(d) of the AWA. 
Dogs must be allowed to be housed with or apart from other 
dogs. 
DM fails to note that the English guidance on this is “The 
ability to separate dogs must be available….” 

Page 137



 

13 
 

permissible for all the “holding kennels” within the doggy day care unit to only need to be 
a maximum of 2.3 sq meters as the business is closed overnight and would not be keeping 
dogs overnight for clients.  

 
3.0.12 However, when using a set kennel size it takes no account of the size of the dog that you 

place in the kennel. So, for instance a Yorkshire Terrier placed in a pen of 2.3sq meters 
will have much more space available to them than a Great Dane placed in the same sized 
pen. Under the legislation as drafted there would be nothing to prevent a Great Dane being 
kept in a pen that was too small for it as long as that pen was more than 2.3sq meters and 
the dog was not kept in there for more than 24 hours. For this reason a much better 
stipulation on sizing of the individual pens would be that they must be sufficiently sized 
for the individual dog who is placed in them to be able to stand, turn around, stretch and 
lie down flat in a natural position, with sufficient space for the door to open fully. This then 
ensures that the pen size is adequate for the needs of the dog no matter what size of dog is 
provided with day care and gives Mr Bones the opportunity to install and provide a range 
of different sized pens to accommodate the range of dog breeds and sizes that he is wishing 
to offer day care to.  

 
 
3.0.13 This could be expressly written into the Conditions of the licence and a requirement for Mr 

Bones to have a procedure in place to deal with any dogs that were not collected at the end 
of the business day. For this reason the ongoing confusion over sizing of the individual 
pens which has been a major point of contention between Mr Bones and the Council 
Officers which appears to result from a misreading of the Council’s own model conditions,  
a failure to understand the details of Mr Bones business model which is now commonplace 
across the UK, along with a rigid determination to make Mr Bones business fit within a 
legislative framework that was written 57 years ago and does not reflect modern day 
methods of keeping dogs would therefore be resolved amicably and in the best interests of 
the dogs. 
 

3.0.14 There has been it seems no consideration of the fact that the provisions made by Mr Bones 
met the spacing requirements of the MTCBC model conditions if the officers took into 
account the business model of Mr Bones. By using the conditions section of the licence the 
Council has the ability to ensure that Mr Bones is unable to amend his business model 
without seeking approval from the Council for such an amendment namely that Mr Bones 
would not be able to start providing overnight care without applying for an amendment of 
his licence at which point the requirement for increased pen sizes would apply and require 
Mr Bones to modify his premises. However, the advice given to Mr Bones by Council 
Officers that his pens were too small back in January 2020 was clearly incorrect under the 
terms of the Council’s own model conditions. 
 

3.0.15 In terms of the number of individual pens that Mr Bones should be required to have due to 
the model of doggy day care he does not require one pen per dog kept in day care as the 
methodology of the model means that a single pen can be used to house more than one dog 
in a day as they are not going to be in continuous use provided that a scrupulous disinfection 
routine exists for cleaning and disinfecting a pen between dogs.  

Commented [MJ15]: DM has read this incorrectly. The 
Conditions state the holding kennels must be a minimum of 
2.3sqm. DM has changed this to maximum and ignored the 
fact that under AWA, the ability to lie, stretch and turn 
without touching the sides will be the minimum. DM fails to 
note that the English regulation require: The sleeping/rest 
area must provide the dog with at least twice the area required 
for the dog to lie flat.  

Commented [MJ16]: That is obvious and the very reason 
why there needs to be assessment of the predicted size of 
dogs to be boarded and why all the size requirements are 
quoted as minimum. 

Commented [MJ17]: No one has any problem with that 
suggestion other than the minimum sizes should be 
considered. In January Mr Bones had kennels at and under 
1sqm. I hope DM is not suggesting that was an acceptable 
size? 

Commented [MJ18]: There is no confusion for MTCBC. 
They have conditions and expect any licencee to comply. 
There has been no additional requirement placed on Mr. 
Bones. DM fails to note that Mr. Rimbu was concerned about 
proposed kennel sizes. At the inspection of 24th February 
2020, the inspected kennels were compliant with the 
conditions. 

Commented [MJ19]: Based on what evidence! 

Commented [MJ20]: This is patronising and inaccurate 
and not worthy of an expert report 

Commented [MJ21]: Of course it does. That opportunity 
has been offered and given. 
Mr Bones has instead chosen to spend money on an 
inspection that has applied the wrong criteria. A Solicitor wo 
has protracted the process and an Expert Report that is 
inaccurate and fails to understand Welsh regulation. 
Those are expenses that could have quickly and easily 
ensured compliance with the MTCBC Conditions. 

Commented [MJ22]: I fail to understand where DM finds 
this evidence. The pens in January were under and around 
1sqm. They were resized to compliance. Unfortunately, there 
were too many non-compliances at the inspection of 24th 
February to allow a licence. 

Commented [MJ23]: DM is again muddling the MTCBC 
with the DEFRA conditions. Under the terms of the MTCBC 
conditions there must be a pen per dog to allow segregated 
sleeping if required. 
It is arguable if the DEFRA requirements stipulate this 
requirement.  
It is not for this appeal process to rewrite the MTCBC 
Conditions. They are the standard to which Day Boarding of 
dogs in the Borough must comply. 

Page 138



 

14 
 

 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Unit Size, Layout and 
Exercise Facilities 
 
For new kennels each kennel 
must be provided with a 
sleeping area of at least 1.9 
sq.m (20 sq-ft.). 
 
Suitable bedding equipment 
must be provided which 
allows the dogto be 
comfortable and which is 
capable of being easily and 
adequately cleaned and 
sanitised. Such equipment 
must be sited out of 
draughts. All bedding 
material must be maintained 
in a clean, parasite free and 
dry condition 
 
For new kennels each kennel 
must be provided with an 
exercise area of at least 2.46 
sq.m (26 sq.ft) (for dogs up 
to 24 inches high at the 
shoulder) or 36 sq.ft. for 
larger dogs, which is 
separate from the bedding 
area and exclusive to that 
kennel, for free use by the 
dog at all times except at 
night. 
 
Kennels must have a 
minimum height of 1.8m 
(6ft) to facilitate adequate 
access by kennel staff for 
cleaning. 
 
Kennels and exercise areas 
must open onto secure 
corridors or other secure 
areas so that dogs are not 

SUITABLE 
ENVIRONMENT  
 
 
Each dog must be provided 
with— (a) a clean, 
comfortable and warm area 
where it can rest and sleep, 
and (b) another secure area 
in which water is provided 
and in which there is shelter. 
 
Each dog must have access 
to areas where it can— (a) 
interact safely with other 
dogs, toys and people, and 
(b) urinate and defecate. 
 
There must be an area where 
any dog can avoid seeing 
other dogs and people if it so 
chooses. 

 
 
 
During our visit on cold 
days, in which the facilities 
are not operating and no 
heating facilities on. Internal 
temperature was 13.2 
degrees celsius. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Advised a 'window' type 
area to be installed into 
internal enclosures to allow 
visual stimulation and the 
option to not see other 
animals. 

Page 139



 

15 
 

able to escape from the 
premises. 
 
Exercise areas must not be 
used as bedding areas. 

 
 
3.0.16 This section again highlights the significant difference between the current approach to 

inspecting Day care facilities and the inspection of boarding kennels due to the major 
differences in the models of the two business types. This is most apparent in the ability of 
dogs to interact with other dogs out of their family group. Such interaction is not 
permissible in a boarding kennel situation  but it is the key selling point for the day care 
model in that dogs are not kept penned in kennels all day but are allowed freedom to 
exercise, play and interact with other well socialised dogs and hence the layout and design 
of the two facilities is completely different.  

 
3.0.17 I also note with Mr Jessop’s inspection report that he states that the use of non-visual 

containment will not fulfil the needs of the dogs under Section 9 of the Animal Welfare 
Act the need for the dog to be housed with, or apart from other dogs and that he states that 
the dog needs to be able to choose whether or not to see other boarded dogs. Mr Jessop 
seems to be recognising the need to be compliant with Section 9 of the Animal Welfare 
Act but it is not referred to at all within the Merthyr Tydfil model conditions no doubt 
because they were written many years prior to the AWA being placed on the statute book. 
However Mr Jessop in making this comment also demonstrates that he has failed to 
understand the business model of Doggy Day care provision and that the only reason that 
the dogs would be housed within a pen would be to give them an opportunity for a rest or 
to sleep and that the dogs are not permanently housed within the pens. Therefore there is 
no need for the pens to offer a choice to the dogs as to whether they can see other dogs or 
not as these pens are specifically designed for the dogs to be away from other dogs and to 
meet their need to be able to spend time away from other dogs.  

 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA Conditions  Compliance  
Training  
 
A written training policy 
must be provided. 
Systematic training of staff 
must be demonstrated to 
have been carried out. 
 
Supervision 
 
A fit and proper person must 
always be present to 
exercise supervision and 
deal with emergencies 

Staffing 
 
 Sufficient numbers of 
people who are competent 
for the purpose must be 
available to provide a level 
of care that ensures that the 
welfare needs of alt the 
animals are met. 
 
The licence holder or a 
designated manager and any 
staff employed to care for 
the animals must have 

 
 
The proposed licensee has 
undertaken relevant training 
courses to conjunction with 
the requirements of the 
license. The proposed 
licensee has also displayed 
an up to date policy and 
training procedures 
document for al' staff 
members 

Commented [MJ24]: I don’t believe that there is 
disagreement on this point.  

Commented [MJ25]: I note DM’s criticism of my 
concerns. He fails to note that Mr. Rimbu raised this same 
point in his inspection report. Whilst dogs may need 
confinement for segregation it should not be such total 
isolating confinement and I don’t believe that DM would 
condone incarcerating a dog in a box devoid of any visual 
enrichment. 

Page 140



 

16 
 

whenever dogs are boarded 
at the premises. 
 
Dogs must be visited at 
regular intervals, as 
necessary for their health, 
safety and welfare. 

competence to identify the 
normal behaviour of the 
species for which they are 
caring and to recognise signs 
of and take appropriate 
measures to mitigate or 
prevent, pain, suffering, 
injury, disease or abnormal 
behaviour. 
 
The licence holder must 
provide and ensure the 
implementation of a written 
training policy for all staff 

  
 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance 
Temperature in Kennels  
 
Heating facilities must be 
available in the KENNEL 
and used according to the 
requirements of the 
individual dog. 
 
There must be some part of 
the dogs sleeping area where 
the dog is able to enjoy a 
temperature of at least 10 
degrees Celsius (50'F) 
 
In isolation kennels, there 
should be a means of 
maintaining the temperature 
at a level suitable for the 
conditions of the dog and 
dependent on veterinary 
advice. 

 
 
Already dealt with at 
previous section.  
 

 

 
3.0.18 As can be seen the DEFRA guidance does not specify minimum and maximum 

temperatures but a minimum temperature is contained within the MTCBC  model 
conditions. I note from Mr Jessop’s inspection that he imposes a greater requirement than 
that imposed by the MTCBC  model conditions as Mr Jessop seems to be stating a 
requirement for all internal areas to have a temperature of greater than 10 degrees Celsius 
yet the Model Conditions clearly state that some part of the sleeping area must be at least 
10 degrees Celsius. Mr Jessop also introduces a maximum temperature of 26 degrees 

Commented [MJ26]: DM might be using an out of date 
DEFRA guidance because the current version (I appreciate 
that there have been several update versions) clearly stated 
that dogs MUST be between 10 and 26 degrees Celsius. This 
is the accepted temperature range across most canine 
regulation and would be the standard used for consideration 
of action under the AWA. 

Commented [MJ27]: I don’t! DM again appears to have 
misread my report. At section 1.7.2 I said that there needs to 
be evidence that the facility can maintain a minimum 
temperature of 10 and a maximum of 26.  

Commented [MJ28]: I refute the fact that I have 
introduced new conditions. If the dogs were held at 
temperatures above 26 there would be a risk of unnecessary 
suffering as defined in section 9 of the AWA. 

Page 141



 

17 
 

Celsius and this is not a requirement or stipulation within the MTCBC  model conditions. 
Mr Jessop also then goes onto  speculates with no evidence to support his speculation that 
it would be challenging for Mr Bones to maintain the establishment below Mr Jessops own 
imposed maximum temperature.  

 
3.0.19 Mr Jessop also adds a requirement that it is necessary to record maximum and minimum 

temperatures during the daytime within the establishment. This is not a requirement under 
the 1963 Act and nor is it required in the MTCBC  model conditions. It would therefore 
seem that Mr Jessop is imposing a higher standard than that set down by the Council when 
considering whether a licence should be granted particularly as there is no maximum 
temperature set down there can be no need to record the daily maximum temperature within 
the establishment.  

 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Cleanliness 
 
All kennels, corridors, 
common areas, kitchens etc. 
must be kept clean and free 
from accumulations of dirt 
and dust and must be kept in 
such a manner as to be 
conducive to maintenance of 
disease control and dog 
comfort. 
 
Each occupied kennel must 
be cleansed daily. All 
excreta and soiled material 
must be removed from all 
areas used by dogs at least 
daily and more often if 
necessary. 
 
All bedding areas must be 
kept clean and dry. 
 
Each kennel must be 
thoroughly cleansed and 
disinfected and dried upon 
vacation. All fittings and 
bedding must also 
thoroughly cleansed and 
disinfected at that time. 
 
Facilities must be provided 

Suitable Environment  
 
Animals must be kept at all 
times in an environment 
suitable to their species and 
condition (including health 
status and age) with respect 
to— (a) their behavioural 
needs, (b) its situation, 
space, air quality, 
cleanliness and temperature, 
(c) the water quality (where 
relevant), (d) noise levels, 
(e) light levels, (f) 
ventilation. 
 
Staff must ensure that the 
animals are kept clean and 
comfortable 
 
Where appropriate for the 
species, a toileting area and 
opportunities for toileting 
must be provided. 
 
Written procedures must— 
(a) be in place and 
implemented covering— (i) 
feeding regimes, (ii) 
cleaning regimes, 16 (iii) 
transportation, (iv) the 
prevention of, and control of 
the spread of, disease, (v) 
monitoring and ensuring the 

 
 
Policy and procedures 
documents readily available. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Commented [MJ29]: There is no speculation involved. 
The onus is on the keeper of the dogs to ensure compliance 
with a safe and comfortable environment. The lack of 
evidence of an insulated building. The lack of evidence of 
adequate heating or cooling systems means that Mr. Bones 
should supply evidence that he can keep dogs between 10 and 
26 Celsius. This is no more that the oft cited English 
Regulations ask for. It is surprising that DM has not quoted 
section 5.2 of the DEFRA guidance that stated – Dogs MUST 
be monitored to check of they are too hot or too cold. The 
temperatures used by DEFRA are 10 and 26   

Commented [MJ30]: DM is happy to ignore the English 
guidance when previously it has been lauded as the better 
welfare consideration. 
I agree that MTCBC Conditions only consider minimum 
temperatures. A facility can only prove compliance if it 
monitors. It is not unreasonable for a caring and 
compassionate boarding facility to want to ensure that the 
dogs under its care are held at a comfortable temperature. I do 
not believe that DM would condone keeping dogs outside the 
Internationally recognised guidelines. 

Page 142



 

18 
 

for the proper reception, 
storage and disposal of all 
waste. Particular care should 
be taken to segregate clinical 
waste arising from the 
treatment and handling of 
dogs with infectious 
diseases. The final disposal 
route for all such waste must 
be incineration. 
 
Measures must be taken to 
minimise the risks from 
rodents, insects and other 
pests within the 
establishment. 

health and welfare of all the 
animals, (vi) the death or 
escape of an animal 
(including the storage of 
carcasses); (b) be in place 
covering the care of the 
animals following the 
suspension or revocation of 
the licence or during and 
following an emergency. 
 
 All people responsible for 
the care of the animals must 
be made fully aware of these 
procedures. 
 
All excreta and soiled 
bedding for disposal must be 
stored and disposed of in a 
hygienic manner and in 
accordance with any 
relevant legislation. 
 
Cleaning products must be 
suitable, safe, and effective 
against pathogens that pose 
a risk to the animals. They 
must be used, stored, and 
disposed of in accordance 
with the manufacturer's 
instructions and used in a 
way which prevents distress 
or suffering of the animals. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Advised of COSHH 
Cupboard. 

 
3.0.20 The reader should be aware that in complying this table the author has taken paragraphs 

from a number of sections within the DEFRA materials as there is no specific section 
dealing with this rather it is an integral part of the whole document. I note that Mr Jessops 
quotes the section regarding the safety of cleaning products from the DEFRA code virtually 
verbatim in his inspection report but this is not a requirement under the Model Conditions 
although clearly common sense states that only a product that is safe for animals would be 
used to clean and disinfect an establishment such as this one.   

 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Food and Water Supplies  
 
All dogs must be adequately 
supplied with suitable food. 
Wholesome water must be 
available at all times and 
changed daily. 

Suitable Diet  
 
The animals must be 
provided with a suitable diet 
in terms of quality, quantity 
and frequency. Any new 
feeds must be introduced 

 
 
Although currently N/A due 
to business closure. The 
proposed licensee is fully 
aware of the current 
requirements proposed and 

Commented [MJ31]: This is a longwinded way of 
agreeing with my concerns. Inappropriate use of disinfectant 
could lead to either section 9 or section 4 issues under the 
AWA. 

Page 143



 

19 
 

 
Eating and drinking vessels 
must be capable of being 
easily cleansed and 
disinfected to prevent cross 
contamination. They must 
be maintained in a clean 
condition. 
 
Eating vessels must be 
cleansed after each meal. 
 
Drinking vessels must be 
cleansed at least once a day. 
 

gradually to allow the 
animals to adjust to them. 
 
Feed and (where 
appropriate) water intake 
must be monitored, and any 
problems recorded and 
addressed. 
 
Feed and drinking water 
provided to the animals must 
be unspoilt and free from 
contamination. 
 
Feed and drinking 
receptacles must be capable 
of being cleaned and 
disinfected, or disposable. 
 
Constant access to fresh, 
clean drinking water must be 
provided in a suitable 
receptacle for the species 
that require it. 
 
Any dog that requires 
specific feed due to a 
medical condition must be 
fed in isolation 
 

has displayed knowledge, 
facilities and equipment to 
uphold the requirements of 
the license. 

 
 
3.0.21 The comparative sections within the MTCBC  model conditions and the DEFRA 

conditions are very similar in many ways but the focus of the MTCBC  conditions is 
clearly on biosecurity with repeated reference to the cleansing and disinfection of the 
containers used to provide the feed and water to the dogs but no reference to ensuring that 
the dogs actually consuming sufficient food and water or monitoring to ensure that they do 
so. This reflects the change from a focus purely on biosecurity and cleanliness to one that 
whilst acknowledging the importance of those areas also focuses on the welfare and 
behaviour of the dog itself.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Commented [MJ32]: This appears to simply be a section 
to try and denigrate the MTCBC conditions when compared 
to the DEFRA conditions. 

Page 144



 

20 
 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Kitchen Facilities  
 
Exclusive facilities, 
hygienically constructed and 
maintained, must be 
provided for the storage and 
preparation of food for the 
dogs.  
 
Where fresh and cooked 
meats are stored, 
refrigeration facilities must 
be provided, and potential 
food contamination must be 
avoided. 
 
A sink with hot and cold 
water must be provided for 
the washing of food 
equipment and eating and 
drinking vessels. A separate 
wash-hand basin with hot 
and cold water must also be 
provided for staff use. 
Containers must be provided 
for the storage of foods and 
shall be so constructed and 
kept in such good order, 
repair and condition as to be 
proof against insects and 
other pests. 

Suitable Diet  
 
Where feed is prepared at 
the premises, there must be 
hygienic facilities for its 
preparation including a 
working surface, hot and 
cold running water and 
storage 
 
 

 

 
 
3.0.22 It is interesting that the Model Conditions based on legislation that is significantly old has 

more rigorous requirements for the provision of separate hand washing facilities from the 
facilities used to wash the bowls and equipment used for preparation of the feed for the 
dogs. This is likely to reflect the changing methods of feeding dogs although with the recent 
rise in the feeding of raw diets there would need to be specific conditions inserted in the 
licence to either explicitly ban the feeding of raw feed within the establishment or to require 
specific SOP’s to be in place for the feeding of this feed source to prevent potential 
contamination.  

 
 
 
 

Commented [MJ33]: Existing environmental and Public 
Health requirements as well as employment regulations 
would be more than sufficient to ensure that Dogsden has safe 
and compliant hand hygiene facilities. It does not need to be 
specified in conditions. DM fails to note that these would be 
expected above and beyond the licence conditions. 

Page 145



 

21 
 

MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Disease Control and 
Vaccination  
 
Adequate precautions must 
be taken to prevent and 
control the spread of 
infectious and contagious 
disease and parasites 
amongst the dogs, staff and 
visitors. 
 
Proof must be provided that 
dogs boarded or resident 
have current vaccinations 
against Canine Distemper, 
Infectious Canine Hepatitis 
(Canine adenovirus), 
Leptospirosis (L.canicola 
and L.icterohaemorrhagiae) 
and Canine Parvovirus and 
other relevant diseases. The 
course of vaccination must 
have been completed at least 
four weeks before the first 
date of boarding or in 
accordance with 
manufacturer's instructions. 
A record that this proof has 
been supplied must be kept 
on site throughout the period 
that the dog is boarded. 
 
Advice from a veterinary 
surgeon must be sought in 
case of signs of disease, 
injury or illness. Where any 
dog is sick or injured any 
instructions for its treatment 
which have been given by a 
veterinary surgeon must be 
strictly followed. 
 
A well stocked first-aid kit 
suitable for use on dogs 
must be available and 

 
 
 
All reasonable precautions 
must be taken to prevent 
and control the spread 
among animals and people 
of infectious disease, 
pathogens and parasites. 
 
 
Sick or injured animals 
must receive prompt 
attention from a 
veterinarian and the advice 
of that veterinarian must be 
followed 
 
Where necessary, animals 
must receive preventative 
treatment by an 
appropriately competent 
person. 
 
The licence holder must 
register with a veterinarian 
with an appropriate level of 
experience in the health and 
welfare requirements of 
any animals specified in the 
licence and the contact 
details of that veterinarian 
must be readily available to 
all staff on the premises 
used for the licensable 
activity. 
 
Medicines other than 
prescribed medicines must 
be stored, used and 
disposed of in accordance 
with the instructions of the 
manufacturer or 
veterinarian. 
 
No person may euthanase 
an animal except a 
veterinarian or a person 
who has been authorised by 
a veterinarian as competent 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 146



 

22 
 

accessible on site. 
 
A suitable range of muzzles 
of varying sizes and a 
suitable dog catching device 
must be kept on site. 

for such purpose 
. 
All animals must be 
checked at least once daily 
or more regularly as 
necessary to check for any 
signs of pain, suffering, 
injury, disease or abnormal 
behaviour. Vulnerable 
animals must be checked 
more frequently. Any signs 
of pain, suffering, injury, 
disease or abnormal 
behaviour must be recorded 
and the advice and further 
advice (if necessary) of a 
veterinarian  must be 
sought and followed 
 
All dogs must be screened 
before being admitted to the 
premises to ensure that they 
are not afraid, anxious or 
stressed in the presence of 
other dogs or people and do 
not pose a danger to other 
dogs or staff. 
 
Any equipment used that is 
likely to be in contact with 
the dogs or any toys 
provided must not pose a 
risk of pain, suffering, 
disease or distress to the 
dog and must be correctly 
used. 
 
A register must be kept of 
all the dogs at the premises 
which must include—(a) 
the dates of each dog's 
arrival and departure; (b) 
each dog's name, age, sex, 
neuter status, microchip 
number and a description of 
it or its breed; (c) the 
number of any dogs from 
the same household; (d) a 
record of which dogs (if 
any) are from the same 
household; (e) the name, 
postal address, telephone 

This is a general stipulation 
and is enhanced by the 
stipulation that dogs must be 
supervised whilst in day care 
at all times (see below).  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Proposed licensee has full 
understanding of 
behavioural screening and 
documentation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Relevant registration system 
in place. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 147



 

23 
 

number and email address 
of the owner of each dog 
and emergency contact 
details; (f) in relation to 
each dog, the name, postal 
address, telephone number 
and email address of a local 
contact in an emergency; 
(g) the name and contact 
details of the dog's normal 
veterinarian and details of 
any insurance relating to 
the dog; (h) details of each 
dog's relevant medical and 
behavioural history, 
including details of any 
treatment administered 
against parasites and 
restrictions on exercise; (i) 
details of the dog's diet and 
related requirements: (j) 
consent forms; (k) a record 
of the date or dates of each 
dog's most recent 
vaccination, worming and 
flea treatments; (l) details 
of any medical treatment 
each dog is receiving 
 
The dogs must be 
supervised at all times. 
 
A preventative healthcare 
plan agreed with the 
veterinarian with whom the 
licence holder has 
registered under paragraph 
9(8) of Schedule 2 must be 
implemented.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Registration in place and 
agreement of the provision 
of veterinary healthcare.  

 
 
3.0.23 It is highly apparent that the level of requirement under the DEFRA legislation as oppose 

to that required under the MTCBC  Model conditions is massively increased and this 
reflects the move away from merely inspecting to ensure physical security and biosecurity 
of the premises to recognising the need to ensure the welfare of the animals that are kept 
at the premises is also met.  

 
3.0.24 Mr Jessop expressed concerns that the doggy day care shared a common entrance way with 

the grooming and hydrotherapy facilities at the location. I am instructed that is not the case 
and that the day care has a completely separated entrance and exit from the grooming and 

Commented [MJ34]: The welfare of the animals is 
protected in Wales by the AWA. Whilst England has 
incorporated many AWA requirements into licence 
conditions, there is still animal welfare protection in Wales… 

Commented [MJ35]: The most up to date floorplan still 
has a communal entrance. The only other entrance available 
when I inspected, we access to the Isolation area. 
I note that DM does not disagree that there is a biosecurity 
risk if there is a communal entrance. 

Page 148



 

24 
 

hydrotherapy facilities and hence there is no biosecurity risk in respect of accessing the 
range of facilities available on site.  

 
 
 
 
 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Isolation  
 
Isolation facilities must be 
provided. 
In existing facilities these 
isolation facilities must be in 
compliance with the other 
boarding requirements but 
must be separate and 
physically isolated from the 
main kennels. This must be 
a minimum 5m (15ft.). (See 
also temperature control.) 
 
Adequate facilities to 
prevent the spread of 
infectious disease between 
the isolation kennel and 
other kennels, must be 
provided. 
 
Hands must be washed after 
leaving the isolation 
facilities before visiting the 
other kennels. 

 
 
All people responsible for 
the care of the animals must 
be made fully aware of these 
procedures. 
 
Appropriate isolation, in 
separate self-contained 
facilities, must be available 
for the care of sick, injured 
or potentially infectious 
animals. 
 
Dogs which need to be 
isolated from other dogs 
must be provided with 
alternative forms of mental 
stimulation. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Provided.  
 
 
 
 
 
Isolation area has a vast 
range of toys and 
stimulation 

 
3.0.25 Isolation is the area which has the greatest discrepancy between the MTCBC  model 

conditions and the DEFRA criteria. This reflects the difference between a boarding 
kennel situation and a Doggy Day care operation where the fact that the dog is presented 
at the start of each day and is therefore assessed as fit to enter the day care that day makes 
it much less likely that a dog is going to develop ill health through the duration of the stay 
in comparison to a boarding establishment where the dog is dropped off and then three 
days into the stay starts showing signs of ill health.  

 
3.0.26 In reality if a dog becomes unwell in day care then immediate attempts are going to be 

made to return the dog to its owner so as to allow the owner to seek veterinary care for 
the dog and the dog will not be permitted re-entry to the day care until a veterinary 
surgeon has confirmed that it is fit to be allowed re-entry. Therefore, the requirement for 

Commented [MJ36]: DM is again wrong. He appears to 
have mis-read the DEFRA guidance. Section 9.3 - 
Appropriate isolation, in separate self-contained facilities, 
must be available for the care of sick, injured or potentially 
infectious animals.  

Commented [MJ37]: There is no difference. 

Page 149



 

25 
 

isolation facilities although needed are much less likely to be utilised in day care over a 
traditional boarding kennels.  

 
3.0.27 I note that Mr Jessop having inspected the isolation facilities in February was content that 

the proximity of the facilities was compliant as long as a proper detailed and robust barrier 
nursing protocol was put in place and signed off by the registered veterinary surgeon.  

 
 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Register 
 
Must be kept of all dogs 
boarded. The information 
kept must include the 
following:  date of arrival 
name of dog, 
 any identification system 
such as microchip, number 
or tattoo    
description, breed, age and 
gender of dog    
name, address and telephone 
number of owner or keeper   
name, 
 address and telephone 
number of contact person 
whilst boarded, 
 name, address and 
telephone number of dog's 
veterinary surgeon    
anticipated and actual date 
of departure   
 health, welfare and 
nutrition requirements. 
 
The register must be kept 
readily available for a 
minimum of 24 months and 
kept in such a manner as to 
allow an authorised officer 
easy access to such 
information. 
 
Where records are 
computerised, a back-up 
copy must be kept. The 

Records 
 
The licence holder must 
ensure that at any time all 
the records that the licence 
holder is required to keep as 
a condition of the licence are 
available for inspection by 
an inspector in a visible and 
legible form or, where any 
such records are stored in 
electronic form, in a form 
from which they can readily 
be produced in a visible and 
legible form. 
 
The licence holder must 
keep all such records for at 
least three years beginning 
with the date on which the 
record was created 
 
A register must be kept of 
all the dogs at the premises 
which must include— (a) 
the dates of each dog's 
arrival and departure; (b) 
each dog's name, age, sex, 
neuter status, microchip 
number and a description of 
it or its breed; (c) the 
number of any dogs from 
the same household; (d) a 
record of which dogs (if 
any) are from the same 
household; (e) the name, 
postal address, telephone 

 
 
Although currently N/A 
following a conversation 
regarding this condition; 
The proposed license holder 
is fully aware of the 
obligations surrounding 
correct and legitimate record 
keeping in conjunction with 
the license requirements. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Relevant registration system 
in place. 

Commented [MJ38]: It may be less likely to be used but is 
still a requirement. 

Commented [MJ39]: This highlights the ability to be 
flexible on application of the conditions. 
What DM has chosen to ignore are the problems of 
construction and other compliance issues associated with the 
isolation area 

Page 150



 

26 
 

register must also be 
available to key members of 
staff of the establishment at 
all times. 

number and email address of 
the owner of each dog and 
emergency contact details; 
(f) in relation to each dog, 
the name, postal address, 
telephone number and email 
address of a local contact in 
an emergency; (g) the name 
and contact details of the 
dog's normal veterinarian 
and details of any insurance 
relating to the dog; (h) 
details of each dog's relevant 
medical and behavioural 
history, including details of 
any treatment administered 
against parasites and 
restrictions on exercise; (i) 
details of the dog's diet and 
related requirements: (j) 
consent forms; (k) a record 
of the date or dates of each 
dog's most recent 
vaccination, worming and 
flea treatments; (l) details of 
any medical treatment each 
dog is receiving 

 
 
 
 
3.0.28 The basis of the two sections within the different legislation are effectively identical and 

Mr Bones is compliant with both or has systems in place to ensure compliance with both 
where they are not already being used in other parts of his business.  

 
 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Identification of kennels  
 
Each kennel must be clearly 
marked (e.g. numbered), and 
a system in place which 
ensures that relevant 
information about the dog in 
that kennel is readily 
available. 

No equivalent requirement  

Page 151



 

27 
 

  
 

 
3.0.29 This condition is not applicable to a Doggy Day care business as the dogs are not kept in 

individual kennels as would occur in a Boarding Establishment hence there is no 
opportunity or need to label and identify individual kennels and this reflects the 
inappropriateness of trying to licence a Doggy Day care using the Boarding Establishment 
Model Conditions.  

 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Supervision  
 
A fit and proper person must 
always be present to 
exercise supervision and 
deal with emergencies 
whenever dogs are boarded 
at the premises. 
Dogs must be visited at 
regular intervals, as 
necessary for their health, 
safety and welfare. 

 
 
Sufficient numbers of 
people who are competent 
for the purpose must be 
available to provide a level 
of care that ensures that the 
welfare needs of all the 
animals are met. 
 
The licence holder or a 
designated manager and any 
staff employed to care for 
the animals must have 
competence to identify the 
normal behaviour of the 
species for which they are 
caring and to recognise signs 
of and take appropriate 
measures to mitigate or 
prevent, pain, suffering, 
injury, disease or abnormal 
behaviour. 
 
The dogs must be supervised 
at all times. 

 

 
3.0.30 This is another very significant difference between the requirements imposed on a Doggy 

Day care facility and that imposed on a Boarding Kennels in that the licensed kennels must 
visit at sufficiently regular intervals yet the Doggy Day care must ensure that the dogs are 
constantly supervised.  

 
 
 
MTCBC  Model Conditions  DEFRA  Compliance  
Fire Precautions  Emergencies   

Commented [MJ40]: I agree that it is not relevant to the 
daycare environment. It is perfectly reasonable to overlook 
such conditions when inspecting for licence.  

Page 152



 

28 
 

 
Appropriate steps must be 
taken for the protection of 
the do in case of fire or other 
emergencies. 
 
A proper emergency 
evacuation plan and fire 
warning procedure must be 
drawn up and posted on the 
premises. This must include 
instructions to where dogs 
are to be evacuated in the 
event of a fire or other 
emergency. 
 
Fire fighting equipment 
must be provided in 
accordance with advice 
given by the Fire Prevention 
Officer. 
 
All electrical installations 
and appliances must be 
maintained in a safe 
condition. There must be a 
residual current circuit 
breaker system on each 
block of kennels. 
 
Heating appliances must not 
be sited in a location or 
manner where they may 
present a risk of fire, or risk 
to dogs. 
 
Precautions must be taken to 
prevent any accumulation 
which may present a risk of 
fire. 
 
There must be adequate 
means of raising an alarm in 
the event of fire or other 
emergency. 

 
 A written emergency plan, 
acceptable to the local 
authority, must be in place, 
known and available to all 
the people on the premises 
used for the licensable 
activity, and followed where 
necessary to ensure 
appropriate steps are taken 
to protect al' the people and 
animals on the premises in 
case of fire or in case of 
breakdowns for essential 
heating, ventilation and 
aeration or filtration systems 
or other emergencies. 
 
The plan must include 
details of the emergency 
measures to be taken for the 
extrication of the animals 
should the premises become 
uninhabitable and an 
emergency telephone list 
that includes the fire service 
and police. 
 
External doors and gates 
must be lockable. 
 
A designated key holder 
with access to all animal 
areas must at all times be 
within reasonable travel 
distance of the premises and 
available to attend in an 
emergency 

 
Documents and policies 
readily available when 
requested. 

 

Page 153



 

29 
 

 
3.0.31 These two sets of requirements are fundamentally identical, and Mr Bones was found to 

be compliant with these at inspection.   
 
3.0.32 As can be seen when the inspection criteria are compared that they are in effect very similar 

and where there are differences, they are invariably caused by the difference between the 
business models.  

 
3.0.33 As it is apparent that Mr Bones was compliant with almost all criteria in the most recent 

inspection and that the reported non-compliances raised by Mr Jessop are either  
incorrectly raised when considered against the actual criteria within the MTCBC model 
conditions including the request for Mr Bones to resize all his pens unnecessarily at 
considerable financial cost to Mr Bones and his business or have now been resolved at or 
following the second inspection. It would therefore be my expert recommendation that Mr 
Bones should be granted a licence at the earliest possible opportunity even though the 
licence will have to be granted as a Boarding Licence and that the licence should have as 
additional conditions the relevant conditions taken from the DEFRA schedule relating to 
Doggy day care provision making clear where those conditions are in contradiction to the 
model conditions for boarding kennels that the additional conditions override the 
conditions contained with the model conditions or printed within the body of the licence.  

 
 
 
 

4.0 Professional Opinions and Conclusions 
 
4.0.1 As it is apparent that Mr Bones was compliant with almost all criteria in the most recent 

inspection and that the reported non-compliances raised by Mr Jessop are either  
incorrectly raised when considered against the actual criteria within the MTCBC model 
conditions including the request for Mr Bones to resize all his pens unnecessarily at 
considerable financial cost to Mr Bones and his business or have now been resolved at or 
following the second inspection. It would therefore be my expert recommendation that Mr 
Bones should be granted a licence at the earliest possible opportunity even though the 
licence will have to be granted as a Boarding Licence and that the licence should have as 
additional conditions the relevant conditions taken from the DEFRA schedule relating to 
Doggy day care provision making clear where those conditions are in contradiction to the 
model conditions for boarding kennels that the additional conditions override the 
conditions contained with the model conditions or printed within the body of the licence.  

 
4.0.2 Taking into consideration the size of the premises, the facilities available including the 

number of pens available for dogs to be allowed some time to rest it is my expert opinion 
that the facility can be licensed for 18 dogs subject to the conditions on the licence as set 
out above.  

 
 

Commented [MJ41]: DM failed to note section 1.5.4 of 
my report that stated the electrical installation certificate was 
not present. It may have been submitted to MTCBC since my 
inspection.  

Commented [MJ42]: It was inspected to the wrong 
criteria. 
The inspection was not fully carried out to the inspection 
criteria of the DEFRA guidance 
 

Commented [MJ43]: DM is incorrect - I did not state that 
resizing was required. See my report 1.3 

Commented [MJ44]: DM is entitled to suggest that in his 
opinion a licence should be granted but he needs to be 
authorised as an inspector of MTCBC for that action to be 
carried out on his recommendation. 
I am gravely concerned that he believes he can make that 
assertion when he has never visited the premises. 
I am gravely concerned that DM feels he has the authority to 
rewrite Welsh regulation incorporating English criteria when 
the Welsh Government has not authorised that significant 
change. 
I am confused that I have been criticised for over interpreting 
existing Conditions and yet DM wants to completely re-write 
the conditions making them far more onerous than the 
existing conditions. 

Commented [MJ45]: He wasn’t. there were 5 non-
compliances and many missed inspection points. 

Commented [MJ46]: Unfortunately, it is DM who is 
incorrect due to a misunderstanding of the Wales Regulatory 
framework. 

Commented [MJ47]: It seems to me that the greatest 
financial cost has been an unnecessary inspection carried out 
to the wrong criteria by V Rimbu, protracted legal argument 
and an Expert Report that fails to offer a balanced and 
accurate opinion. 

Commented [MJ48]: How has that happened? 
MTCBC were looking at 5 dogs and trying to ensure 
compliance. 
V Rimbu suggested 8 (5 large and 3 small) or 13 (10 Medium 
and 3 small). 
DM has made no attempt to justify 18 dogs and makes no 
reference to their size. 

Page 154



 

30 
 

 

SIGNED   Date 23rd November 2020  

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Animal Boarding Licence
	Appendix A
	Appendix A-1
	Appendix A-2
	Appendix A-3
	Appendix A-4
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H
	Appendix I
	Appendix J
	Appendix K
	Appendix L
	Appendix M
	Appendix N
	Appendix O
	Appendix P
	Appendix Q




